Public Document Pack

AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:
Anglia Room, The
Conference Suite,
Elizabeth House, Dereham

Contact:
Julie Britton
Direct Dial: 01362 656343
e-mail:
julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk
Date:

Tuesday, 14 January 2020

Dear Sir/Madam,
Members of the Council are hereby summoned to a Meeting of the District Council which
will be held at 10.00 am on Thursday, 23rd January, 2020 in the Anglia Room, The
Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
Yours faithfully

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

The Democratic Services Officer to call the roll of Members
Members of the Council requiring further information, or with specific
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least
two working days before the meeting. If the information requested is
available, this will be provided, and reported to Council.

THIS MEETING WILL BE RECORDED BY THE COUNCIL
Mobile phones and other equipment may also be used to audio record, film, tweet or
blog from this meeting by an individual Council Member or a member of the public.
No part of the meeting room is exempt from public filming etc unless the meeting
resolves to go into private session. However, the use of images or recordings arising
from this is not under the Council’s control.

Council
23 January 2020
Page(s)
herewith

1.

APOLOGIES
To receive apologies for absence.

2.

MINUTES
To confirm the following Minutes:

a)

28 November 2019

6 - 16

Unconfirmed Minutes of the meeting held on 28 November 2019.

b)

6 December 2019

17 - 18

Unconfirmed Minutes of the Special meeting held on 6 December 2019.
3.

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire consideration of
the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a disclosable pecuniary
interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011. Members are also
required to withdraw from the meeting room as stated in the Standing Orders of
this Council.

4.

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

5.

LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

19 - 20

To receive a verbal update from Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen, Leader of the
Council.
6.

QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6

7.

QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7

8.

CABINET MINUTES
To confirm the following Minutes:

a)

6 December 2019

21 - 27

Confirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 6 December 2019.

b)

13 January 2020

28 - 31

Unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 13 January 2020.
9.

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION

a)

6 December 2019

32 - 34

Confirmed Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission meeting held on
6 December 2019.

b)

19 December 2019
Unconfirmed Minutes of the Overview & Scrutiny Commission meeting held

35 - 39

Council
23 January 2020
Page(s)
herewith

on 19 December 2019.
10.

PLANNING COMMITTEE

40 - 44

Confirmed minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 16 December
2019.
11.

LICENSING COMMITTEE

45 - 47

Unconfirmed Minutes of the Licensing Committee held on 13 November 2019.
12.

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY

48 - 52

Unconfirmed Minutes of the Committee of the Licensing Authority meeting held on
13 November 2019.
13.

POLLING DISTRICTS, POLLING PLACES & POLLING STATIONS REVIEW
(AGENDA ITEM 13)

53 - 67

Report of Maxine O' Mahony, Executive Director for Strategy and Governance &
Returning Officer.
14.

REVIEW OF THE LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME (LCTRS) FOR
2020-21

68 - 72

Report of Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance & Growth and
Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation.
15.

ANGLIA REVENUES PARTNERSHIP JOINT COMMITTEE AGREEMENT
RECONSTITUTION
Report of Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance & Growth and
Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation.

16.

NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS
To receive nominations for any changes to Committee and other seats from
political groups.

17.

AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION

18.

ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special circumstances,
which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is of the opinion that
the items(s) should be considered as a matter of urgency.
For Information
CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' SURGERY
At the end of the Council meeting, Chairmen of Committees and Executive
Members will be available to members who wish to put forward specific questions,
for example on ward issues.

73 - 129

Council
23 January 2020
Page(s)
herewith

MEMBERS ARE ASKED TO NOTE THAT THERE WILL BE 2 PRESENTATIONS
TAKING PLACE IMMEDIATELY FOLLOWING THE MEETING
1)

Anglia Revenues & Benefits Partnership presentation - Adrian Mills (Strategic
Manager (Billing & Benefits) ARP;

2)

Engagement with Elected Members interactive presentation – Cllr Paul
Hewett, Executive Member for Contracts & Assets and Craig Fowler
(Commercial Manager).

Agenda Item 2a

Public Document Pack
BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
COUNCIL

Held on Thursday, 28 November 2019 at 11.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
PRESENT
Mrs L.S. Turner (Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame (Vice-Chairman)
Mr T. J. Ashby
Mr S Askew
Mr R. Atterwill
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr T. Birt
Councillor C. Bowes
Mr M. P. Brindle
Miss H. Bushell
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr E. Colman
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mr J.P. Cowen
Mrs H, Crane
Mrs V. Dale
Mrs S. Dowling
Mr R.W. Duffield
Mr P.J. Duigan
In Attendance
Anna Graves
Maxine O'Mahony

-

Rory Ringer
Simon Wood
Andrew D'Arcy
Julie Britton

-

Mr F. Eagle
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mr C. Harvey
Mrs J. James
Mr T. J. Jermy
Cllr T. Kiddell
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr I. Martin
Mr K. Martin
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr P. Morton
Mr M. J. Nairn
Mr D. R. R. Oliver
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Miss T. Taylor
Mr S. Terry
Mrs A. M. Webb
Mr D. Wickerson
Mr P. S. Wilkinson
Chief Executive
Executive Director of Strategy &
Governance (Monitoring Officer)
Democratic Services Manager
Director of Planning & Building Control
Planning Policy Manager
Democratic Services Officer
Action
By

124/19 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 1)
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Borrett, Carter, Marion
Chapman-Allen, Grey, Hewett, Kybird, Nunn, Robinson and Wilkin.
125/19 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2)
The Minutes of the meeting held on 31 October 2019 were confirmed as a correct
record and signed by the Chairman.
126/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 3)
The Monitoring Officer, Maxine O’Mahony read aloud the following statement:
Anyone living and/or working in the Breckland area was likely to be affected by the
emerging Local Plan to some degree. Unless Members had a direct pecuniary
interest in the decision, they could participate in it so long as they could determine
1

6

Council
28 November 2019
Action
By

the matter on its merits, with an open mind and without bias.
Some Members may have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI). For example,
where any land owned by a Member their partner/spouse or a relative or an employer
stood to benefit from an allocation in the emerging Local Plan.
In these
circumstances Members would be required to declare an interest and leave the
meeting.
However, if so many DPIs were declared as to impede the business of the meeting
and to potentially affect the vote, the Council could approve a dispensation that
would allow Members with a DPI to participate in the item and to vote on the same. If
this did happen, there would be a short break in proceedings to enable those
Members to sign a request to the Monitoring Officer for the grant of the dispensation
– it would then be for the Council to determine whether or not to grant the same.
Councillor Bowes, Councillor Colman, Councillor Cowen, Councillor Crane,
Councillor Eagle and Councillor Oliver declared an interest in agenda item 10 and
would leave the room whilst this item was being discussed.
127/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4)
The Chairman had been very proud to represent Breckland Council at a number of
events particularly, the enthronement of the new Bishop that took place in Norwich
Cathedral and the opening of The Nook, the new Children’s Hospice in Norfolk that
had replaced the Hospice in Quidenham. The Chairman had attended this secure
event on 15 November 2019 in the presence of HRH the Duchess of Cambridge and
was pleased to announce that the County of Norfolk had raised £10m in 5 years
towards this very important facility.
The Chairman also congratulated Thetford Town Council who had been awarded the
Local Council Award ‘Gold’ standard as part of their quality assurance. The note
from the Inspector was read aloud. This was a national recognition and Thetford was
the only Town/Parish in Breckland and one of two in Norfolk who had received such
an accolade. Members applauded the Town Council on this excellent achievement.
128/19 LEADER'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 5)
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen
congratulations to Thetford Town Council for their recent award.

relayed

his

The following announcements were made:


Serco Respect Campaign
Serco had recently launched their respect charter. This charter was
supported, not just by Breckland Council but also Norfolk Constabulary in
which there was a zero tolerance policy towards any violence aggression and
any abuse directed against Serco employees who were delivering front line
services for residents in Breckland. Many messages of support for the crews
for their valued hard work had already been received.



Fly-tipping
This had been a concern for all Members, residents and businesses in
Breckland but since May 2019 the Council had been taking an extremely
2

7

Council
28 November 2019
Action
By

proactive approach in relation to fly-tipping and inappropriate disposal of
household waste. As a result, for the period to date Breckland was now the
top authority in Norfolk for fly tipping enforcement with 13 fixed penalty
notices issued for various offences.


Swanton Morley Neighbourhood Plan
The Leader congratulated Swanton Morley Parish Council on the completion
of their Neighbourhood Plan and he hoped that Cabinet would endorse the
Plan at its forthcoming meeting.



Breckland Training Services
The East of England LGA had supported Breckland Training Services with the
Local Authority Challenge EAST event held on 30 October 2019 which, the
Leader was pleased to announce, Breckland Council had won for the first
time in 8 years.



Breckland Lottery
In its second year of iteration, ‘Our Breckland Lottery’ was a scheme that
supported all good causes in Breckland. For every £1 lottery ticket bought,
60p went straight back to good causes. £56,000 had been raised thus far
from the Breckland allocation and most recently £4,000 had been awarded to
Beeston Plough Share, Garboldisham Fox, Dunham Parish Council and
Swaffham Town Football Club.



Silver Social Project
The recent event held in October 2019 had seen the highest amount of
attendees across the whole of the Silver Social campaign. He was pleased to
announce that the spring programme included a set of workshops supported
by Kate Dimbleby.

The Leader of the Labour Group, Councillor Jermy was delighted with the Council’s
progress in relation to fly-tipping and he asked for the Group’s thanks to be passed
onto the Officers involved. He asked the Leader if the fines from fly-tipping would be
allocated towards education; one of the recommendations from the former Fly-tipping
Task & Finish Group, and whether there was an update on this matter moving
forward.
In relation to the education piece, the Leader advised that the conversation was still
on-going and he would inform Members accordingly once completed.
Councillor Atterwill, a Ward Member for Swanton Morley Parish and Chairman of the
Parish Council, thanked the Leader for his kind comments on their Neighbourhood
Plan. He asked if the Council had any plans to carry out any additional promotional
work on Neighbourhood Plans in the District as he did not believe that Breckland did
enough to promote such work in its communities and felt that further engagement
was required.
In response, the Leader was aware that Councillor Atterwill had offered to be the
Neighbourhood Plan champion for Breckland Council to visit and talk to parishes and
towns across the District. He mentioned the Town & Parish Council Forum that had
been arranged in early 2020 and felt that this would be an ideal opportunity for
3

8

Council
28 November 2019
Action
By

Councillor Atterwill to highlight Neighbourhood Plans and act as an ambassador of
how the process worked and how it would be of a benefit to communities.
Councillor Gilbert mentioned the Watton Neighbourhood Plan and how the Town
Council had formed various Groups to investigate different issues such as drainage
and asked the Leader if he could encourage others to do the same as local
knowledge he felt was key. The Leader said that he would be happy to encourage
this process.
129/19 QUESTIONS ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 6 (AGENDA ITEM 6)
None received.
130/19 QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER NO 7 (AGENDA
ITEM 7)
As it was National Tree Week, Councillor Dowling directed her question to Councillor
Alison Webb, the Executive Member for Housing, Health & Environment. Councillor
Dowling explained that doubling tree cover across the UK could draw down 50m
tonnes of carbon dioxide and asked what the Council was doing to double its tree
cover on council land and also asked for assurance that tree planting would form part
of the Council’s Climate Change Strategy. In response, Councillor Webb stated that
she would be looking into this matter and would provide an update in due course.
Councillor Stuart Terry asked the Leader if Breckland Council would honour the
school children for their ‘A Kind of Magic Flute’ performance at the Royal Albert Hall.
Year six pupils from Drake Primary School, Church of England Primary School and
Admirals Academy in Thetford had performed at the world famous venue as part of
the Music for Youth proms.
The Leader felt that it must have been awe aspiring for the children to perform at the
Royal Albert Hall and he would definitely discuss this with the Chairman and come up
with some ideas.
The Leader of the Labour Group, Councillor Terry Jermy wanted to know what had
been achieved with the money spent on BreckWorld. The Leader pointed out that it
was difficult to tell as yet but Breckworld was now available on all platforms including
android, and he would be attending a meeting with the Director of Norfolk Zoology
very soon to discuss the impact from the October half term and the summer season
and how BreckWorld had contributed and until then he was unsure of the benefit.
He believed; however, that the monies allocated from the New Homes bonus towards
BreckWorld was money well spent.
Councillor James wanted to convey her thanks to the Facilities Team for the
refurbishment of School Lane car park in Thetford. A letter of gratitude from
residents who had recently moved to the area was read aloud. The Leader endorsed
the aforementioned comments, Breckland Council spent a great deal of money on its
car parks and he was pleased that the residents and the communities were satisfied
with the work that had taken place.
Councillor Harvey mentioned the 38 street lights in Thetford that had previously been
reported and had not as, far as he was aware, been fixed. He asked the Leader if he
would commit to looking into this matter to get them repaired sooner rather than later.
The Leader stated that half the street lights belonged to Norfolk County Council. He
was aware that these street lights had been reported but he would raise the matter
4

9

Council
28 November 2019
Action
By

again with Councillor Hewett, the Executive Member for Contracts & Assets and
ensure that these were dealt with accordingly.
Councillor Clarke directed his question to the Leader. He asked if ShopAppy had
experienced significant activity with the run up to Christmas. Members were
informed that the Twelve Elves of Christmas had recently been launched, it was on
the website and had been linked to the shops that had signed up to the App.
Coverage of the App was included in the recent Transforming Breckland magazine.
He would check with the Team to make sure that there was no outages on the
ShopAppy site and he would gladly write back to all Members on the current position.
Following on from Councillor Dowling’s question regarding trees, Councillor
Wickerson had received several emails from residents of Swaffham regarding
National Tree Week and the Council having previously declared a Climate Change
Emergency. He wanted assurance that this matter would appear on the agenda as
originally planned for January 2020 so Members could start to address this very
important issue.
The Leader quoted Policy ENV 02 from the emerging Local Plan that incorporated
biodiversity protection and enhancement to the environment. Adopting the Local
Plan was a real opportunity for Members and Officers to move forward and address
these issues. Free trees were available through The Woodland Trust and in relation
to Council owned land these matters would all be taken into account via the
emerging Local Plan.
Councillor Brindle mentioned an urgent housing matter and directed his question to
Councillor Webb. Councillor Webb was unable to respond as she was unaware of
this particular case and asked Councillor Brindle to contact her directly and she
would investigate and respond accordingly.
Councillor Wilkinson announced that Iceni Partnership had taken delivery of a
number of free trees.
131/19 CABINET MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 8)
RESOLVED that the unconfirmed Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 4
November 2019 be adopted.
132/19 PLANNING COMMITTEE (AGENDA ITEM 9)
RESOLVED that the now confirmed Minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held
on 28 October 2019 be adopted.
133/19 ADOPTION OF THE BRECKLAND LOCAL PLAN (AGENDA ITEM 10)
The Executive Member for Planning, Councillor Gordon Bambridge was pleased to
present the final Breckland Local Plan for adoption.
The Local Plan would provide a framework for development in the District to ensure
that Breckland’s growth was sustainable and met the needs of the existing and future
populations.
The Plan provides for over 16,000 new homes and 64 hectares of employment land
to meet identified local needs and sets out a raft of planning policies on important
topics such as affordable housing, green infrastructure, biodiversity, the protection of
5

10

Council
28 November 2019
Action
By

important environmental areas such as the Brecks. As well as Breckland’s valued
heritage assets, renewable energy, the protection and enhancement of the town
centres and design that, taken collectively, would be used to shape the type of
growth in the district over the forthcoming years.
Preparation of the Local Plan began in 2014 and had been moulded to take account
of a range of different views, including those from Members, the parish councils, local
communities as well as those with development interests and organisations and
agencies with an interest in the District including, by way of example, Natural
England, Highways England and the Environment Agency.
Throughout its preparation the Plan had been subject to extensive public
consultation. These included the issues and options consultation in late 2014, the
preferred directions consultation in early 2016, the proposed sites and settlement
boundary consultation later in 2016 and the pre-submission draft in late 2017.
The Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State for Communities and Local
Government in November 2017 for independent examination. The examination
process primarily consisted of the consideration of written submissions in response to
a series of questions published by the Inspector. These were directed solely at the
Council and helped to inform the matters and issues for more detailed consideration
at the Examination.
As part of the examination process, the Council specifically requested that the
Inspector recommended any main modifications (MMs) necessary to enable the Plan
to be found sound and capable of adoption. The Council drafted the Main
Modifications and, through an iterative process, agreed these for consultation with
the Inspector. Consultation on these was undertaken in 2018 and 2019.
The examination process was formally completed when the Inspector produced his
final report in October 2019. The Inspectors Report concluded that the Local Plan
met the criteria for soundness in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and
that it was capable of adoption, subject to the acceptance of the Inspector’s Main
Modifications (the modifications had been included in Appendix 2 to the report).
In accordance with prevailing legislation, there were two options available to Council
regarding a decision on the Local Plan at this point; these were:
a) to adopt the Local Plan with the Inspector’s recommended main modifications
or
b) not to adopt the Local Plan.
The Executive Member for Planning advised that there would be an opportunity for
Members to influence the content of the review of the Local Plan in early 2020. This
could conclude greater emphasis on climate change issues as well as further
consideration of the roles of the towns and the rural areas. It was; however,
important to consider the Plan as a whole and if adopted, planning applications would
be considered against all the policies set out in the Local Plan as well as other
considerations including Neighbourhood Plans and the national planning policy. The
Local Plan was the starting point for such deliberations. Without a Local Plan the
value and effectiveness of other local planning documents including neighbourhood
plans would be potentially weakened as the Plan was the document that set the
overarching framework for these plans and other locally prepared documents.
Without an up to date Plan all future planning applications would be considered
under the NPPF and in particular paragraph 11. This provides a “tilted balance” in
6

11

Council
28 November 2019
Action
By

favour of granting planning permission, unless the proposal caused significant and
demonstrable harm. This could represent an opportunity for developers and
landowners who were considering a speculative application.
The Executive Member for Planning supported the Officer’s recommendation and felt
that the adoption of the Local Plan was the most appropriate course of action.
Following an announcement by the Chairman in respect of procedures, the Leader of
the Labour Group, Councillor Jermy believed that the Council’s Constitution allowed
all Members 3 minutes to make comments on the report and not just ask questions.
The Chairman confirmed that this was indeed correct.
Councillor Birt had been engaged with the Local Plan for many years and over that
time had become disillusioned with the way that the policies had developed. He had
made many detailed responses and had attended a great deal of consultations over
that period. He provided Members with a number of examples such as the housing
allocation which had ‘flip flopped’ over recent months. Thetford had originally
thousands of houses allocated to it and then in one revision, no houses at all. This,
he knew, was due to the lack of electricity which had since been sorted and the vast
quantity of allocations in Thetford had returned. He was concerned that if such
matters could change as quickly as that, how the Plan could be classed as credible
over the long term. He also noted how woolly the wording had become and how
uncertain the outcomes were as a result of the amendments pushed through by the
Inspector. In his opinion, it seemed that, despite the Plan, that there was an
acceptance that there was going to be some out of Plan development that would be
approved. He felt that many vital elements were missing from the Plan such as the
net gain in biodiversity, climate change litigation and the better standards for housing
that would be built in the District and more importantly infrastructure improvements.
At the recent Member Briefing, no one had claimed, that this was a good Plan
particularly in respect of the Inspectors many major modifications and felt that there
was more ‘red pen’ in the Plan than anything else. He had noted comments from
other Members that having at least some Plan was better than having no Plan at all
and he accepted that in certain precise areas that was the case but it appeared not to
be the case for the villages that he represented. He felt that the Council would be
better off just using the NPPF and robustly applying those sustainability requirements
that were detailed within it. He could not support the adoption of the Plan on the
basis that there could be something better in the future in the forthcoming review. In
his opinion, the Council should start again and produce a proper and decent Plan
that the Council could take forward to 2036.
The Executive Member for Planning felt that quite a number of those statements
made by Councillor Birt were not quite correct as most Plans have a large number of
major modifications and have immediate reviews. All Plans would have some
allowance within them for outside of district boundary development. The Plan had
made allowance for climate change, better housing standards and infrastructure.
On behalf of the Labour Group, Councillor Clarke welcomed the fact that whatever
the individual views, the Plan would be adopted. A huge amount of evidence had
gone into the Plan over the years and had already mentioned to the Executive
Member and the Director of Planning the need for adhering to the new National
Design Guidance that had recently been issued. The Labour Group would
endeavour to play their part in terms of the forthcoming review but all had regretted
the reduction in the percentage of affordable housing.
The Executive Member for Planning addressed the principle of the affordable
7

12

Council
28 November 2019
Action
By

housing reduction and pointed out that this matter had been discussed by the Council
on many occasions and several Members at the time felt that a 40% target was too
high and was not often met. Breckland was not alone, as a number of Planning
Authorities in Norfolk had not achieved their affordable housing targets. In response
to the many other questions and concerns raised by Councillor Birt, these would be
addressed outside of the meeting by himself and the Director of Planning & Building
Control.
Councillor Ian Martin, on behalf of Mattishall and Yaxham Wards passed on their
congratulations to Swanton Morley on achieving their Neighbourhood Plan. On the
subject of the Local Plan he had listened to the points made that this Plan was not
necessarily the best and he agreed that it was far from perfect in many respects. But
having been through a number of years without any sight of a five year housing land
supply and communities in Breckland had been exposed to the NPPF and had
suffered as a consequence. For all these reasons, it was sensible for the Council to
adopt its Local Plan which would be followed by an almost immediate review where
there would be opportunities to make changes and address the flaws that Members
were possibly already aware of. This was not a question but an appreciation that the
Council had something it could use if Members were minded to adopt the Breckland
Local Plan and he thanked all staff involved.
Councillor Jermy asked what data had been used to assess the affordable housing
need as he had noticed a couple of interesting sections in the report where it
mentioned the current estimates of need for affordable housing and quoted: “in
central Norfolk the quarterly number of households accepted as being homeless and
in priority need had seen a downward trend over the period 2001 to 2011”. Another
section stated that, and again he quoted: “there had been a downward trend in
households living in temporary accommodation”. Councillor Jermy then drew
Members’ attention to the budget papers for the forthcoming Cabinet meeting and the
budget pressures in relation to this financial year in respect of housing and
homelessness. Looking at the budget for next year, the need for affordable housing
had changed and his concern was that the data was woefully out of date in assessing
such a need and the Local Plan was not anywhere near close enough in terms of
addressing some of those long standing issues that currently exist. Another point he
wished to raise was in relation to what assurances could be given that this Plan
would actually be adhered too given the effort that had gone into it as he had
concerns that if it started to be picked apart over the next few years it was not, in his
opinion, going to be worth the paper it had been written on. He asked the Executive
Member for Planning for assurance that once this Local Plan had been adopted that
it would be adhered to and followed.
In response, the Executive Member for Planning said that he would get back to
Councillor Jermy on a number of those issues as he did not have the information to
hand. In terms of the Plan being adhered to, if it was adopted, it became the
Council’s policy; however, national policies were subject to change and the number
of houses allocated as affordable could be discussed in future. He assured Members
that the Council was always looking at alternative ways to provide affordable housing
in the District and discussions were ongoing.
The Leader, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen reminded Members that Breckland
Council was the first authority in Norfolk to have a Local Plan; however, the
opportunity now sat with every Member of this Council and the communities to build
on the successes and the foibles of the Plan. He felt that it was important for
Members not to berate the Local plan but build on the successes and ensure that it
was fit for purpose. Officers and Members should be commended on what had been
8

13

Council
28 November 2019
Action
By

achieved to date as the Local Plan was the foundation that the Council could build
upon. The re-draft and refresh could start almost immediately and he implored all in
attendance to support the adoption of the Local Plan.
Councillor Jermy appreciated the aforementioned comments but asked the Officers if
the data used for the affordable housing need was 10 years old. Simon Wood, the
Director of Planning & Building Control advised Members that the data for the
affordable housing stemmed from the Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market
Assessment. The Inspector had used that data as the base to identify the affordable
housing need. As part of this exercise, the Inspector would have also seen viability
work to be sure that the level of affordable housing the Council was asking for was
achievable and could be met through the planning process and through planning
applications. It was noted that it was 2017 data that had been used.
As a Member of the Planning Committee, Councillor Brame, the Vice-Chairman of
the Council thanked Councillor Bambridge and his Team for all the hard work and
effort that had gone in to producing this Plan. This work had started well before he
became a Member of the Council and he had sat in many planning meetings with the
developers who all have different reasons for wanting either to build outside the
settlement boundary or to reduce the level of affordable housing knowing full well that
Breckland Council had nothing concrete to base their decisions on.
Councillor Atterwill was disappointed in the end result of the Local Plan but he would
support it. Additional, extensive work would definitely be required during the review
period until 2022. He asked the Executive Member for Planning if there would be
another call for sites and, how the Council was going to implement these policies.
Would the Council be taking a rigid view in making people adhere to these policies
and refusing those applications that did not conform to the Plan? He felt that a
separate meeting should be arranged between Planning Committee Members and
Planning Officers to discuss how these policies were going to be implemented and
how the planning meetings should be conducted going forward.
In response to the question about whether there would be a call for sites, the
Executive Member for Planning advised that if a full review of the Plan was taken
then to the best of his knowledge there would have to be a further call for sites. The
period of the Plan would have to be extended beyond 2036 to 2041 and more
housing would be required. The Council now had a robust planning policy that the
Planning Committee and Officers could use and apply. An increase in
Neighbourhood Plans would also have benefit.
Councillor Morton pointed out that the inspector’s modifications called for the
insertion of climate change into strategic objectives and asked how the Council would
ensure hat this happened in terms of new builds. In response, Members were
informed that it was possible to bring policies forward before the Plan came to an
end.
Councillor Atterwill asked the Executive Member for Planning if he would commit to
holding a separate briefing session for the Planning Committee Members. The
Leader commended the suggestion and in the absence of the Chairman of the
Planning Committee asked the Vice-Chairman and Officers to get some dates in the
diary in early 2020.
A recorded vote was proposed and seconded.
Councillors Bowes, Colman, Cowen, Crane, Eagle and Oliver left the room whilst this
9

14

Council
28 November 2019
Action
By

item was discussed (see Minute No. 126/19 above).
FOR
Mr Ashby
Mr Askew
Mr Atterwill
Mr Bambridge
Mr Borrett (apols)
Mr Brame
Miss Bushell
Mr Carter (apols)
Cllr M Chapman-Allen (apols)
Mr S Chapman-Allen
Mr Claussen
Mrs Dale
Mr Duffield
Mr Duigan
Mr Gilbert
Mrs Grey (apols)
Mr Hewett (apols)
Mrs James
Cllr Kiddell
Mr Kiddle-Morris
Mr Kybird (apols)
Mr I Martin
Mr K Martin
Mrs Monument
Mr Morton
Mr Nairn
Mr Nunn (apols)
Mr Robinson (apols)
Mr Sherwood
Mrs Suggitt
Miss Taylor
Mrs Turner
Mrs Webb
Mr Wickerson
Mr Wilkin (apols)
Mr Wilkinson

AGAINST

ABSTENTIONS

Mr Birt
Mr Brindle

Mr Clarke
Mrs Dowling

Mr Harvey
Mr Jermy

Mr Terry

Members voted 27 x 7 in favour of the recommendations.
abstentions.

There were no

RESOLVED that:
1. the Breckland Local Plan, which incorporates the Inspector’s Main
Modifications and the Council’s Minor Modifications, be adopted as part of the
Council’s Development Plan to be used in the determination of planning
applications;
2. those policies contained in the 1999 Local Plan, the Core Strategy and
Development Control Policies Document (2009), the Site Specific Policies and
Proposals Development Plan Document (2012) and the Thetford Area Action
Plan (2012) that are not being retained, as set out in the Local Plan: Strategy
10

15

Council
28 November 2019
Action
By

and Sites, be withdrawn;
3. updates to the Breckland District Policies Map be adopted in line with the
Breckland Local Plan: Appendix 5 to this report.
134/19 FIVE YEAR HOUSING LAND SUPPLY (TO NOTE) (AGENDA ITEM 11)
Members noted the report.
135/19 NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEE AND OTHER SEATS (AGENDA ITEM 12)


Outside Body Appointments
RESOLVED that:
Cllr Alison Webb to be appointed as a Member of the Health & Wellbeing
Board
Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen to be appointed as the substitute Member of the
Health & Wellbeing Board



Restorative Approaches Strategic Board (RASB)
the RASB be removed as one of the Council’s Outside Body organisations.



Local Plan Working Group
RESOLVED that:
The following Members be appointed to the Local Plan Working Group:
Councillor Gordon Bambridge (Chairman)
Councillor Hilary Bushell
Councillor Jane James
Councillor Ian Martin
Councillor Mark Kiddle-Morris

136/19 AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION (AGENDA ITEM 13)
None.
137/19 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT
(AGENDA ITEM 14)
None.
The meeting closed at 12.20 pm

CHAIRMAN

11

16

Public Document Pack

Agenda Item 2b

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
COUNCIL
Held on Friday, 6 December 2019 at 2.00 pm in the
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
PRESENT
Mrs L.S. Turner (Chairman)
Mr R. Atterwill
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr T. Birt
Councillor C. Bowes
Miss H. Bushell
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
Mr P.D. Claussen
Mrs H, Crane
Mrs V. Dale
Mr P.J. Duigan
Mr F. Eagle
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mr C. Harvey
Mr P.J. Hewett

Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr K. Martin
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr P. Morton
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr D. R. R. Oliver
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Miss T. Taylor
Mrs A. M. Webb
Mr D. Wickerson
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves
Maxine O'Mahony

-

Riana Rudland
Mark Stinson

-

Rob Walker
Julie Britton

-

Chief Executive
Executive Director of Strategy & Governance
(Monitoring Officer)
Breckland Place Manager
Executive Manager Governance (Deputy
Monitoring Officer)
Executive Director Place
Democratic Services Officer
Action
By

138/19 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 1)
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Askew, Borrett, Carter, Marion ChapmanAllen, Colman, Cowen, Dowling, Duffield, Grey, James, Kiddell, Ian Martin, Nairn and Terry.

139/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 2)
None declared.

140/19 WASTE AND RELATED SERVICES CONTRACT (AGENDA ITEM 3)
Prior to the exclusion of press and public, Councillor Birt raised the point that he was not
convinced that Appendix B, the financial report, should be discussed in private session as he felt
that it contradicted the transparency code. He quoted the relevant regulations.
Mark Stinson, the Executive Manager for Governance stated that to discuss the appendix in
open session could potentially identify the 2 bidders and put the Council at risk for breach of
confidence and procurement rules. The grounds for releasing this information at a later date
would be investigated.
Paul Hewett, the Executive Member for Contracts & Assets was pleased to introduce the report
as he felt that it would have significant benefits for the Council and residents over the next 9
years.
Rob Walker, the Executive Director for Place reminded Members that the first four
recommendations had been agreed at the earlier Cabinet meeting. Council Members were now
being asked to consider and approve the remaining two recommendations.
1

17

Council
6 December 2019
Action By

The Executive Member for Contracts & Assets added his thanks to the Executive Director of
Place for his due diligence and to the Breckland Place Manager and her colleagues who had
been exemplary.
Members echoed the above comments.
Following a proposal which was seconded, the Waste and related Services Contract was
discussed in private session.
RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and the
public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that it
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of Schedule
12A to the Act.
It was proposed and seconded that a recorded vote be taken.
MEMBER
Mr Askew
Mr Atterwill
Mr Bambridge
Mr Birt

FOR
APOLS
X
X
X

Mr Borrett
Cllr Bowes
Miss Bushell
Mr Carter

APOLS
X
X
APOLS

Cllr M ChapmanAllen
Mr
Sam
Chapman-Allen
Mr Claussen
Mr Colman
Mr Cowen
Mrs Crane
Mrs Dale
Mrs Dowling
Mr Duffield
Mr Duigan
Mr Eagle
Mr Gilbert

X
APOLS
APOLS
X
X
X

Mrs Grey
Mr Harvey
Mr Hewett

APOLS
X
X

AGAINST

FOR
APOLS
X
APOLS
X

APOLS

MEMBER
Mrs James
Mr Jermy
Cllr Kiddell
Mr KiddleMorris
Mr Kybird
Mr I Martin
Mr K Martin
Mrs
Monument
Mr Morton

X

Mr Nairn

APOLS

X
APOLS
APOLS
X

Mr Nunn
Mr Oliver
Mr Robinson
Mr
Sherwood
Mrs Suggitt
Miss Taylor
Mr Terry
Mrs Turner
Mrs Webb
Mr
Wickerson
Mr Wilkinson

X
X
X
X

AGAINST

X
APOLS
X
X
X

X
X
APOLS
X
X
X
x

Following a unanimous vote in favour of the recommendations, it was:
RESOLVED that:
1) up to £5,000,000 approved capital budget be released for the purchase of vehicles and
equipment; and
2) the budget implications as set out in Appendix B be noted, and any necessary adjustments
be made to the Council budget, including those derived from the Cabinet decision at
recommendation 3 contained within the Cabinet report.

The meeting closed at 2.15 pm

CHAIRMAN
2

18

Engagement List – Chairman
28 November 2019 – 23 January 2020

Date
02 December
16 December
21 December
25 December

19

03 January
09 January

Event

Host
40th

Priscilla Bacon Lodge,
Anniversary Service
and Reception
Norwich Cathedral
Lord and Lady Dannatt visit
Breckland office

Trustees and CEO Priscilla Bacon Norfolk Hospice Care,
Mark Nicholas MBE

50th anniversary of Archdeacon’s ordination
Shipdham
Christmas Day Visit
Watton Police Station
Funeral for Julian King
Funeral for Watton Veteran

Archdeacon

BDC Leader, Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen

Watton Police
St Nicholas Church, Dereham
Watton
Attended with Cllr Tina Kiddell

Agenda Item 4

Engagement List – Vice-Chairman
28 November 2019 – 23 January 2020

Date

Event

Host

03 December

Christmas Carol Concert
St Mary’s Church, Diss
Stars of Norfolk and Waveney Awards
OPEN, Norwich
Friendly Yuletide Invasion
The Galaxy Club Ballroom, RAF Mildenhall

Mayor of Diss, Cllr Sonia Browne

05 December
06 December

Maxine O’ Mahony
Colonel & Mrs Troy Pananon
100th Air Refuelling Wing,
Colonel & Mrs William Marshall
Commander 48th Fighter Wing,
Colonel & Mrs William Freeman
Commander 352d Special Operations Wing
The Governors and Head teacher of Wymondham College

20

08 December

Service of Nine Lessons and Carols
Wymondham College

09 December

Civic Carol Service
Great Yarmouth Minster

Mayor of Gt Yarmouth, Cllr Michael Jeal

15 December

Civic Carol Service
The Parish Church of St Peter & St Paul
Lord and Lady Dannatt visit
Breckland office

Mayor of Wisbech, Cllr Michael Hill

16 December

BDC Leader, Cllr Sam Chapman-Allen

Public Document Pack

Agenda Item 8a

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
CABINET
Held on Friday, 6 December 2019 at 12.00 pm in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
(Chairman)
Mr P.D. Claussen (ViceChairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.J. Hewett
Also Present
Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr K. Martin
Mr D. Wickerson
Mr T. Birt
Miss H. Bushell
Mrs H, Crane
Mrs V. Dale
Mr R.W. Duffield
Mr F. Eagle

Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs A. M. Webb

Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr P. Morton
Mr J.W. Nunn
Mr D. R. R. Oliver
Mrs L.S. Turner
Mr R. Atterwill

In Attendance
Maxine O'Mahony

-

Christine Marshall

-

Riana Rudland
Mark Stinson

-

Rob Walker
Andrew D'Arcy
Julie Britton

-

Executive Director of Strategy & Governance
(Monitoring Officer)
Executive Director Commercialisation (S151
Officer)
Breckland Place Manager
Executive Manager Governance (Deputy
Monitoring Officer)
Executive Director Place
Planning Policy Manager
Democratic Services Officer
Action By

98/19 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)
The minutes of the meeting held on 28 November 2019 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
99/19 APOLOGIES (AGENDA ITEM 2)
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Phil Cowen, the
Executive Member for Finance & Growth.
100/19 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 3)
None.
1

21

Cabinet
6 December 2019
Action By

101/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS (AGENDA ITEM 4)
None declared.
102/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING (AGENDA ITEM
5)
Councillors Atterwill, Birt, Bushell, Crane, Dale, Duffield, Eagle, Jermy,
Kiddle-Morris, Kybird, K Martin, Monument, Morton, Nunn, Oliver, Turner and
Wickerson.
103/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) (AGENDA ITEM 6)
None.
104/19 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING
ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7)
None.
105/19 DRAFT BUDGET SETTING, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL
STRATEGY (AGENDA ITEM 8)
The Executive Director for Commercialisation & S151 Officer provided
Members with a detailed overview of the report.
This draft budget
accommodated the latest known position; however, there remained estimates
where final figures were not yet known, such as the Government Settlement
that would not be announced until January 2020.
Referring to section 1.6 of the report, Members were informed that the Fair
Funding Review and 75% Business Rates Retention scheme would see
unprecedented levels of change for Local Government from 1 April 2021 but
there was currently little information in order to aid budget estimates.
In terms of revenue, the budget approved by Full Council in February 2019
provided a balanced budget over the medium term, supported by the
Transformation programme. Since this time, additional cost pressures and
approved growth had been identified, along with additional income and
service budgets that have been refreshed to produce this draft budget.
Details were the provided on the draft Capital Programme which included a
budget for the purchase of waste contract vehicles and equipment of £5m
that would be repaid through revenue over 8 years.
It was noted that the draft budget would be available on the website for
customers to view and provide feedback through to 31 December 2019. The
final budget would then be presented to Cabinet and Full Council in February
2020.
A question was then asked about the amount each Council would receive for
a Band D property. Members were informed that the Parish precepts were
still awaited and an analysis would be provided after the meeting.
Councillor Hewett, the Executive Member for Contracts & Assets had
2

22

Cabinet
6 December 2019
Action By

observed that even in these uncertain times the Council’s medium term
outlook was very positive.
Reasons
To comply with budgetary and policy framework and allow consultation with
Members.
Options
That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft medium term
financial plan and the draft capital strategy be reviewed.
RESOLVED that the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft
medium term financial plan and the draft capital strategy be reviewed, in
preparation for the final budget setting in February 2020.
106/19 QUARTER 2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2019-20 (AGENDA
ITEM 9)
The Executive Director for Commercialisation & S151 Officer presented the
report.
The report provided information on the forecast full year financial position of
the Council as at 30 September 2019.
The full year out-turn based on current projections and assumptions was
forecasted above budget spend of £777k (5.8%) at the year end.
There were many smaller variances this quarter and these had been
highlighted in the appendix attached to the report. The higher value
variances had been identified at section 1.2 of the report which included
Housing Benefit Subsidy costs £288K above budget due to the significant
increase in demand for temporary accommodation.
The capital forecast out-turn was also highlighted (section 1.3 of the report)
Councillor Bambridge, the Executive Member for Planning referred to the
Housing Service budget which he felt was very difficult to predict. The
Housing Service had seen a significant increase in demand but the Council
was taking steps to provide its own housing to relieve homelessness which in
turn would relieve the burden.
Reasons for Recommendation
To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of
the Council, enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.
Options
1. That the report and appendix be noted and that Cabinet Recommend
to Full Council that funding of up to £500,000 be released from the
Revenues and Benefits Reserve to cover the expected above budget
spend in the Housing Service for this financial year.
3

23

Cabinet
6 December 2019
Action By

2. That the report and appendix be noted, but no funding is released to
cover the expected above budget spend (this would result in the
General Fund balance falling below the minimum required balance of
£2.5m).
3. Do nothing.
RESOLVED that the report and appendix be noted.
RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that funding of up to £500,000 be
released from the Revenues and Benefits Reserve to cover the expected
above budget spend in the Housing Service for this financial year.
107/19 SWANTON MORLEY NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN - MAKING (ADOPTION)
OF THE SWANTON MORLEY NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN (AGENDA ITEM
10)
The Leader, Councillor Sam Chapman-Allen was pleased that both Ward
Representatives for Swanton Morley were in attendance.
Councillor Bambridge, the Executive Member for Planning had great pleasure
in presenting the Swanton Morley Neighbourhood Plan and thanked the
Parish Council and all Officers involved in its preparation.
On behalf of the Parish Council, Councillor Atterwill, also thanked the Officers
who had assisted in the production of the Plan.
Members echoed the aforementioned comments and congratulated Swanton
Morley Parish Council for a great achievement.
Reasons:
It was recommended that Members endorse Option 1 as there was a positive
vote in favour of making the Swanton Morley Neighbourhood Plan through a
Referendum and there was considered to be compliance, rather than being
incompatibility, with European obligations and Human Rights conventions.
Options:
1) Council agrees to “make” the Swanton Morley Neighbourhood Plan
and is “made” as part of the statutory Development Plan for Breckland
Council, as required by paragraph (4)(a) of section 38A of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as “…more than half of
those voting to have voted in favour of the plan …”, and to undertake
the required publication, advise the Parish Council and other
prescribed persons and subsequently update the district policies map.
2) Council does not make the Swanton Morley Neighbourhood Plan
where “…it considers that the Plan would breach, or would otherwise
be incompatible with any EU obligation or any of the Convention
Rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998).”
RESOLVED that:
1) the Swanton Morley Neighbourhood Plan, as written at the time of the
4

24

Cabinet
6 December 2019
Action By

referendum, is “made” as part of the statutory Development Plan for
Breckland Council, as required by paragraph (4)(a) of Section 38A of
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Option 1);
2) the decision be published as required by paragraph (9) of Section 38A
of the 2004 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act;
3) Swanton Morley Parish Council and any other prescribed persons be
advised about this, to meet the requirements of paragraph (10) of
Section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that the Breckland District Policies map
be amended to meet the requirements of paragraph 9 of the Town and
Country (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.
108/19 NEXT MEETING (AGENDA ITEM 11)
The arrangements for the next meeting on 13 January 2020 at 9.30am in the
Norfolk room were noted.
109/19 WASTE AND RELATED SERVICES CONTRACT (AGENDA ITEM 12)
Councillor Paul Hewett, the Executive Member for Contracts & Assets was
pleased to present this significant contract to the Cabinet. If Members were
minded to approve the recommendations, the contract would generate
excellent benefits for all Councils.
Rob Walker, the Executive Director for Place echoed the aforementioned
comments.
It was noted that, if approved, the second recommendation would be
amended to include the Executive Member for Finance & Growth.
The Executive Director of Place thanked Riana Rudland, the Breckland Place
Manager, Sarah Simpson, the Contract and Compliance Team Leader and
the Officers involved at the two partner authorities for all their hard work.
The inter-authority agreement had been circulated to Members for
information. After a short presentation it was
RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt
information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the
Act.
After the press and public had been excluded from the meeting, Members
were provided with a detailed overview of the whole process and it was
recommended that the contract be awarded to Bidder B, subject to formal
contract and satisfactory conclusion of the statutory stand still period.
Reasons
1.

Bidder B offers the most economically and advantageous tender.
5

25

Cabinet
6 December 2019
Action By

2.

Award of this contract will ensure the Council continues to meet its
statutory duty.

3.

Award of this contract allows for compliance with the IAA.

4.

Breckland’s current contract expires in April 2021, and therefore
procurement needs to be completed ahead of this date to allow for
mobilisation.

5.

Award of this contract provides for delivery of all core waste and
related services at the same or enhanced levels as currently provided.

6.

Award of this contract allows the 3 Authorities to benefit from
efficiencies of scale working with other Councils.

7.

Details regarding the outcome of the assessment of the bids was set
out in confidential Appendix A to the report to Cabinet.

Options
1.

Approve the recommendation to award the contract for the provision
of waste and related services to Bidder B as the most economically
advantageous bid, subject to formal contract and satisfactory
conclusion of the statutory standstill time.

2.

Approve the recommendation to award the contract for the provision
of waste and related services to Bidder B as the most economically
advantageous bid and implement costed food waste option.

3.

Approve the recommendation to award the contract for the provision
of waste and related services to Bidder B as the most economically
advantageous bid and do not implement the costed food waste option.

4.

Do nothing – this option would result in a breach of the IAA.
Furthermore, it would result in BDC having to commence its own
procurement for a new service provider, before the current contract
expires.

RESOLVED that:
1) the most economically advantageous tender for the contract for the
provision of waste and related services submitted by Bidder B is
accepted, subject to formal contract and satisfactory conclusion of the
statutory standstill time and that the Director of Place is authorised to
complete and enter into the Contract;
2) delegated authority be granted to the Director of Place in consultation
with Executive Member for Contracts & Assets and the Executive
Member for Finance & Growth, to determine when and whether to
implement provisional items (clinical waste collection and garden
waste for disposal);
3) implementation of a food waste collection is not approved from the
service commencement date, but the option to implement this in the
future following periodic reviews be retained; and
6

26

Cabinet
6 December 2019
Action By

4) the recruitment of a 2 year fixed term Trade Waste Officer funded
from income derived from the delivery of the commercial waste
service be supported.
RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that:
5) up to £5,000,000 approved capital budget be released for the
purchase of vehicles and equipment; and
6) the Council notes the budget implications as set out in Appendix B of
the report, and the necessary adjustments be made to the Council
budget, including those derived from the Cabinet decision at
recommendation 3 above.
The meeting closed at 12.55 pm

CHAIRMAN

7

27

Agenda Item 8b

Public Document Pack
BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
CABINET

Held on Monday, 13 January 2020 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
PRESENT
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen
(Chairman)
Mr P.D. Claussen (ViceChairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr J.P. Cowen

Mr P.J. Hewett
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr I. Sherwood
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mrs V. Dale

Mr P. Morton

In Attendance
Anna Graves
Maxine O'Mahony

-

Rob Walker
Ross Bangs

-

Alison Chubbock

-

Adrian Mills
Teresa Smith

-

Chief Executive
Executive Director of Strategy & Governance
(Monitoring Officer)
Executive Director Place
Corporate Innovation, Change & Performance
Manager (shared)
Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151 Officer)
(BDC)
Strategic Manager (Billing & Benefits) ARP
Democratic Services Team Leader
Action By

1/20

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2019 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

2/20

APOLOGIES
None.

3/20

URGENT BUSINESS
None.

4/20

DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
None.

5/20

NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
Councillors Dale and Morton.
1

28

Cabinet
13 January 2020
Action By

6/20

CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)
None.

7/20

BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING ITEM)
Nothing to report.

8/20

CHARGES FOR PRE-APPLICATION PLANNING ENQUIRIES
The Executive Member for Planning presented the report which sought
Members approval to introduce a paid pre-application planning service with
effect from 1 April 2020.
The Director for Planning and Building Control added that the introduction of
the service would follow national best practice and would be in line with
recommendations from Planning Advisory Service.
Reasons for Recommendations
To enable the pre-application service to be introduced.
Options
That the introduction of a paid pre-application planning service be phased in
from 1st April 2020.
RESOLVED that the introduction of a paid pre-application planning service
and the inclusion of the fees within the Council’s Fees and Charges Schedule
for commencement from 1 April 2020 be approved.

9/20

EASEMENT VALUATION AT STANFIELD HOUSE, SWAFFHAM
The Executive Member for Contracts and Assets asked Members
consideration for granting an easement relating to Council owned land at
Lynn Road, Swaffham.
He informed Members that Officers were still in negotiation with the applicant
to ensure that best value could be achieved and therefore recommended an
alteration to Recommendation 2 listed in the report to read:
Due to the potential for inconvenience to be caused to the residents
and visitors for the alternative route of the easement specifically those
accessing Highfield Avenue during highway works, Cabinet concludes
that the applicant’s preferred route cable has significant merit. On this
basis Cabinet accepts the applicant’s offer subject to officers seeking
to improve the terms, where possible.
Reasons for Recommendations
Granting the easement supports the application for the provision of new
dwellings. The applicant’s preferred route has merits to avoid unnecessary
inconvenience to local residents.
Options
1. Agree to grant an easement at a fee of £12,000.
2. Refuse to grant an easement at the reduced fee of £12,000 and
maintain the requirement for a fee of £24,000.
2

29

Cabinet
13 January 2020
Action By

RESOLVED that:
1. Subject to the usual advertising requirements, an easement be
granted in over the Council’s land at Lynn Road, Swaffham in favour
of the applicant.
2. Due to the potential for inconvenience to be caused to the residents
and visitors for the alternative route of the easement specifically those
accessing Highfield Avenue during highway works, Cabinet conclude
that the applicant’s preferred route cable had significant merit. On
that basis Cabinet accept the applicant’s offer subject to Officers
seeking to improve the terms, where possible.
3. That authority to finalise the terms and conditions of the easement
and to complete the same be delegated to Executive Director
Commercialisation in consultation with the Executive Member for
Contracts and Assets.
10/20 QUARTER 2 2019-20 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT
The Deputy Leader informed Members that the report had been discussed at
the meeting of Overview and Scrutiny and as a result of issues raised
regarding the Contact Centre targets, meetings had been arranged between
the Portfolio Holders to gain a deeper understanding.
The Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager informed Members that
the report continually reviewed what had happened, however the team were
looking at ways the information could have the ability to influence and change
performance going forward.
The Executive Member for Finance and Growth was keen to see the facts on
Economic and Growth within the performance report that that through
encouraging enterprise within the District underpinned the key strategies that
the Council were striving to achieve.
Members noted the content of the report.
11/20 REVIEW OF THE LOCAL COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME (LCTRS)
FOR 2020-21
The Executive Member for Finance and Growth explained that by retaining
the Local Council Tax reduction scheme and introducing a tolerance rule
would ensure that residents were not being disadvantaged.
The Strategic Manager (Billing & Benefits) for ARP added that the initiative
would continue to support customers. He added that the initiative was being
implemented across all Anglia Revenue Partnerships as well as Norwich City
Council.
Reasons for Recommendations
As required, the Council has completed its annual review of the LCTRS
scheme it operates and has identified improvements that will both help
claimants and the Council reduce the amount of administration and improve
clarity within the current scheme.
3

30

Cabinet
13 January 2020
Action By

Options

1) That the Council retain the 8.5% benefit scheme (i.e. the
maximum benefit to working age claimants is 91.5%) and that
the Council introduces a tolerance rule to the treatment of
Universal Credit income in the Local Council Tax Reduction
Scheme.
2) Do not make the proposed changes to the LCTRS scheme.
RESOLVED to RECOMMEND to full Council:

1) to retain the 8.5% benefit scheme (i.e. the maximum benefit to
working age claimants is 91.5%) and
2) to introduce a tolerance rule to the treatment of Universal Credit income in
the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme.
12/20 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP
RESOLVED to RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that:

1) The revised Anglia Revenues Partnership Agreement be
approved;
2) Subject to the approval from each Partner Authority, the revised
agreement be signed and sealed by each partner authority.
The minutes of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership meeting held
on 17 December 2019 were noted.
13/20 NEXT MEETING
The arrangements for the next meeting on Monday 3 February at 10.00am in
Dereham Meeting Point, 4 St Withburga Lane, Dereham were noted.
There would be an opportunity for members of the public to ask questions of
Cabinet members from 9.30am to 10.00am.

The meeting closed at 10.00 am

CHAIRMAN

4

31

Agenda Item 9a
BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION
Held on Friday, 6 December 2019 at 9.30 am in the
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham
PRESENT
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Chairman)
Mrs L.S. Turner (ViceChairman)
Mr T. Birt
Miss H. Bushell
Mr F. Eagle

Mr T. J. Jermy
Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr D. Wickerson
Mrs H, Crane (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr P. Morton
In Attendance
Ruth Tudge

-

Democratic Services Officer
Action By

88/19 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 26 September 2019 were confirmed
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
89/19 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES
Apologies were received from Councillors Nairn, I Martin and Colman.
Councillor Crane attended as substitute for Councillor Colman.
90/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)
None.
Councillor Birt expressed his concerns over the late receipt of the report
for the Waste and Related Services Contract and supporting
documents. He said there had been insufficient time to review the
documents and he had requested but had not yet received the Inter
Authority Agreement which he felt would have been useful to have prior
to the meeting. He stated it was incredibly difficult to scrutinise a report
properly without sufficient evidence and time.
The Executive Manager Governance, Mark Stinson explained the Inter
Authority Agreement was an agreement that tied three authorities
together, Breckland, King’s Lynn and North Norfolk. Subject to a
suitable tender being received, all three authorities had agreed at an
early point to enter into an agreement to enable the process to continue
and stated any relevant information had been referenced within the
report. The Communities and Environmental Service Manager, Steve
James, would ensure the Agreement was sent to Members for their
information prior to the Full Council meeting that was being held later.
1

32

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
6 December 2019
Action By

The Chairman re-iterated that Scrutiny Members should have access to
all necessary documentation to enable the Commission to reach an
informed conclusion.
The Executive Director Place, Rob Walker, said he would be happy to
answer any questions in the closed session about the details,
procurement process and compliant figure situation.
91/19 URGENT BUSINESS
None.
92/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
None.
93/19 NEXT MEETING
The arrangements for the next meeting on 19 December 2019 at
10:00am in the Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham
were noted.
94/19 WASTE AND RELATED SERVICES CONTRACT
The Executive Member for Contracts & Assets, Councillor Paul Hewett
explained Breckland had a good Contract with Serco but now asking the
Commission to approve what he believed was a better cross authority
contract where three authorities would work together.
The Executive Director Place, was then introduced to present the report
who thanked Officers for their commitment to the project and hard work
over the last 2 years, particularly the Place Manager Riana Rudland and
the Contract and Compliance Team Leader, Sarah Simpson, along with
the Officers involved at the two partner authorities.
Members were provided with a detailed overview of the whole process.
The process began in September 2017 when Breckland agreed to
procure a waste and related services contract jointly with North Norfolk
District Council and The Borough of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. An
inter authority agreement was signed by the three councils in January
2019 committing the Councils to the procurement process.
Two strong bidders came forward who were well recognised for
providing robust work in this field and after three rounds of negotiations
final tenders were received on 15 November 2019. Evaluation of the
bids had been completed and it was recommended that Bidder B be
awarded the contract.
RESOLVED to recommend to Cabinet that:
1) the most economically advantageous tender for the contract for
the provision of waste and related services submitted by Bidder
B is accepted, subject to formal contract and satisfactory
conclusion of the statutory standstill time and that the Director of
Place is authorised to complete and enter into the Contract;

33 2

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
6 December 2019
Action By

2) delegated authority be granted to the Director of Place in
consultation with Executive Member for Contracts & Assets and
the Executive Member for Finance & Growth, to determine
when and whether to implement provisional items (clinical waste
collection and garden waste for disposal);
3) implementation of a food waste collection is not approved from
the service commencement date, but the option to implement
this in the future following periodic reviews be retained; and
4) the recruitment of a 2 year fixed term Trade Waste Officer
funded from income derived from the delivery of the commercial
waste service be supported.
RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that:
5) up to £5,000,000 approved capital budget be released for the
purchase of vehicles and equipment; and
6) the Council notes the budget implications as set out in Appendix
B of the report, and the necessary adjustments be made to the
Council budget, including those derived from the Cabinet
decision at recommendation 3 above.
95/19 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC
RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act
1972 the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the
disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 3 and 4 of
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.
96/19 WASTE AND RELATED SERVICES CONTRACT APPENDICES A &
B
Noted.

The meeting closed at 11.09 am

CHAIRMAN

3

34

Agenda Item 9b
BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMISSION
Held on Thursday, 19 December 2019 at 10.00 am in the
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham
PRESENT
Mr D. R. R. Oliver (Chairman)
Mrs L.S. Turner (ViceChairman)
Mr T. Birt
Miss H. Bushell
Mr F. Eagle
Mr T. J. Jermy

Mr M. Kiddle-Morris
Mr R.G. Kybird
Mr I. Martin
Mr D. Wickerson
Mrs H, Crane (Substitute Member)

Also Present
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Mr P. Morton

Mr P.D. Claussen

In Attendance
Ross Bangs

-

Alison Chubbock

-

Christine Marshall

-

Ryan Pack
Ruth Tudge

-

Corporate Innovation, Change &
Performance Manager (shared)
Chief Accountant (Deputy Section 151
Officer) (BDC)
Executive Director Commercialisation
(S151 Officer)
Graduate Trainee
Democratic Services Officer
Action By

97/19 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 6 December 2019 were confirmed
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.
98/19 APOLOGIES AND SUBSTITUTES
An apology was received from Councillor Mike Nairn. Councillor Helen
Crane was in attendance as his substitute.
99/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY)
None.
100/19 URGENT BUSINESS
None.
101/19 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
None.
102/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
None.

35 1

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 December 2019
Action By

103/19 QUARTER 2 2019-20 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT
The Executive Member for Governance, Councillor Paul Claussen,
introduced the report highlighting for Members’ information main areas
of concern, predominantly the Contact Centre. He explained a new
Customer Experience Manager had recently been employed to
understand issues faced and plan a way forward. On the whole the
Performance Report was doing well although he felt there was still work
to be done on the presentation, profiling and statistics and invited the
Chairman to meet with him in the New Year to have some time to
discuss the report and look at possible improvement on ways of
measuring and presenting the figures.
Councillor Martin voiced concerns over the Contact Centre report, the
target and figures revealed that something was going wrong rapidly and
indicated an urgent need to improve. Members agreed the report clearly
showed issues, and were confused with wait times and abandoned rate
figures and thought communication could be improved to educate the
public as it was felt customers were unsure which avenue of
communication to use and who to contact to get issues resolved.
The Corporate Improvement Performance Manager, Ross Bangs,
agreed this was the fourth quarter that the Contact Centre figures
showed a need to improve stating the Corporate Improvement Team
had been commissioned to carry out a deep dive analysis of the team
and would to bring the results back to the Scrutiny Commission.
Councillor Turner suggested over the Breckland area, demographics of
the population had evolved, the living age had increased, and there had
been an increase of dementia, disabilities and mental health issues, and
as part of the deep dive suggested this be taken into account with the
resources available.
The Chairman proposed, if, after the proposed work the next quarter
report was still in the red it may be something the Scrutiny Commission
should look into further.
Members referred to the Environmental and Community figures, fly
tipping improved but recycling was low at 13 percent. Councillor KiddleMorris also queried the number of fly tip incidents in the last 4 quarters,
statistics were showing a reduction but no clear reason why. The
Corporate Improvement Performance Manager would analyse the
information and provide a breakdown and include this in the next report.
Housing and Homelessness figures also revealed issues, the figures
showed over 20% homeless for reasons unidentified. Councillor
Wickerson also voiced his concerns over homelessness which was a
major topic Nationwide with budget spent on hotels and bed and
breakfast. Now with dedicated officer resource allocated to getting
empty properties back in use Members asked if this analysis could be
included, with a breakdown, in the next report.
Councillor Martin also noted that staff turnover appeared low yet it was
projected to rise with no clear indicator as to why.
Streetlights were also an issue with repairs not being carried out to a
2

36

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 December 2019
Action By

satisfactory timescale and felt this could be a failure in contract
obligation. Customers were unclear where to report issues to. Councillor
Jermy asked if streetlight repairs could be included in the quarterly
report to monitor the contract. The Chairman suggested where
Breckland had large contracts with any service providers it would be
useful to track if there were breaches.
Councillor Kybird queried the percentage derived from the economic
and growth indicators was confusing and some of the percentage
calculations were inconsistent. The Corporate Improvement
Performance Manager would investigate this.
The Chairman asked for a percentage yield on commercial properties,
based on the fair value of the property holdings that Breckland rent out,
to be included on the next report which would show if the tax payer was
getting value for money out of the commercial property portfolio.
Councillor Kybird asked if energy performance statistics could also be
included. The Corporate Improvement Performance Manger agreed to
produce the figures as a one off for the Commission.
Councillor Birt queried website visitors, Facebook and Twitter, how it
was measured and whether it was an accurate and current method. The
Corporate Improvement Performance Manager would take this back to
the digital team who had the expertise.
Councillor Birt voiced concerns over the statistics on missed bins and
how this was measured as it wasn’t clear. The Corporate Improvement
Performance Manager would re-clarify with the service for a full
breakdown.
With Freedom of Information statistics Councillor Birt suggested it might
be better to have a response time histogram to see whether there was
any clustering and make it clear early on if there were any timing issues.
Councillor Claussen responded to say they were currently looking in to
the Freedom of Information requests to see where they came from, and
what was being asked for to see if there was any pattern on the
requests. The Chairman added that it was unacceptable for the figure to
be below 100 percent unless advised of an extension and the reason
why.
The Corporate Improvement Performance Manager thanked Members
for their comments stating it was an ever evolving document and
important it works and was happy to work with Members to improve it as
much as possible to show the exact figures needed in order that the
Commission could scrutinise in the right areas.
Councillor Turner suggested once members had viewed the quarterly
report, if they had any queries they should email the Corporate
Improvement Performance Manager with any issues prior to the
meeting so that the team could investigate and come to the meeting
with the information which could produce better debate.
The Chairman asked if anyone had any constructive ideas regarding the
formatting or presentation of the report, they email him direct and he
would liaise with the Corporate Improvement Performance Manager and
look at appropriate changes together.

37 3

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 December 2019
Action By

104/19 DRAFT BUDGET SETTING, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL
STRATEGY
The Executive Director Commercialisation, Christine Marshall,
introduced the report explaining key areas stating Breckland Council
were in a period of unprecedented change and that the level of
estimates and assumptions made far exceeded those done previously
for a variety of reasons. The Executive Director Commercialisation
went on to say the budget had been based on some fairly major
assumptions, if the assumptions changed the position could improve or
worsen so a mid-case position had been taken in terms of how the
budget had been set using the best modelling available. What the
budget did show was that Breckland Council was currently asset rich
however the revenue position was much tighter.
Members of the Commission had previously been invited, to a briefing
on the draft budget by the Executive Member for Finance and Growth
which had enabled an in depth explanation and discussion prior to this
report.
Members had further questions on the methodology surrounding the
estimates and assumptions along with environmental, carbon and social
implications, how these were measured and the understanding of
recognising what the implications might be along with how forward
predictions were made and identifying risks involved.
In summary Members were appreciative of the hard work that had been
put into the draft budget, understanding pressures, particularly around
homelessness, pensions and business rates and felt at this time, with
current pressures, it was a prudent report.
The Executive Director Commercialisation went on to explain the
recommendations of the report, with the next steps being out to
consultation and the report would be taken through due process in
February which would be Cabinet and then Full Council.
105/19 OUTSIDE BODY FEEDBACK (STANDING ITEM)
Councillor Kybird informed Members he had received the Norfolk Health
Overview Scrutiny Committee briefing on current issues within the NHS
which he would forward on to Members in due course.
106/19 SCRUTINY CALL-INS (STANDING ITEM)
None.
107/19 COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (STANDING ITEM)
None.
108/19 WORK PROGRAMME
Councillor Clarke highlighted the Flagship Plus item was no longer on
the work programme, and asked for it to be re-instated as it may bring in
other areas of issue such as empty properties and homeless issues.
4

38

Overview and Scrutiny Commission
19 December 2019
Action By

Councillor Turner agreed stating that due to work undertaken with
Flagship this topic should be included and suggested all Housing
Associations within the Breckland district be invited to present to the
Commission.
Councillor Birt proposed that the IT infrastructure should be considered
by the Commission following on from the recent IT failure. It had
significant impact for Officers, Members and residents, to look at the
robustness of the equipment, and the contingency procedures in place.
Councillor Birt also suggested the quality of the data that was being
produced and usability for residents should be considered.
The Chairman agreed that for 2020 IT was an important issue that the
Commission should scrutinise and proposed to add IT Resilience and
Security to the Work Programme and following on from that the broader
points on usability and customer interactions in a subsequent calendar
year.
Councillor Kiddle-Morris mentioned in paragraph 3.2 of the Quarterly
Report, an area requiring improvement, was on the number of empty
properties brought back into use, now with dedicated officer resource
allocated to tackle legalities and the problems surrounding this. He
asked if a report could be brought to the Commission in 6 months’ time
to gauge how this work was progressing and see if this was a valuable
resource, suggesting this be added to the Work Programme.
Councillor Kiddle-Morris also asked if Development in Rural areas could
be re-instated to the Work Programme. The Chairman explained it had
been moved to a future item whilst other work, involving the Local Plan
was being carried out. It was agreed it should be added to a future
meeting as there were rural areas to be looked at that were not involved
in the Local Plan.
109/19 NEXT MEETING
The arrangements for the next meeting on 6th February 2020 at
10:00am in the Anglia Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham
were noted.

The meeting closed at 11.25 am

CHAIRMAN

39 5

Agenda Item 10
BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
PLANNING COMMITTEE
Held on Monday, 16 December 2019 at 9.30 am in
Anglia Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
PRESENT
Mr N.C. Wilkin (Chairman)
Mr P. S. Wilkinson (ViceChairman)
Mr R. Atterwill
Councillor C. Bowes
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
Mr H. E. J. Clarke
Also Present
Mr D. Wickerson (Substitute
Member)
Mr P.D. Claussen (Ward
Representative)
In Attendance
Michael Horn
Rebecca Collins
Chris Hobson
Caroline Harris
Julie Britton

Mrs H, Crane
Mr K.S. Gilbert
Mr K. Martin
Mrs S. E. Suggitt
Miss H. Bushell (Substitute Member)
Mrs V. Dale (Substitute Member)

Mr I. Martin (Ward Representative)
Mr P.J. Hewett (Ward Representative)

Solicitor to the Council
Head of Major Projects
Principal Development Management Planner
Technical Support Officer
Democratic Services Officer
Action By

127/19 MINUTES (AGENDA ITEM 1)
The Minutes of the meeting held on 25 November 2019 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
128/19 APOLOGIES & SUBSTITUTES (AGENDA ITEM 2)
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Brame and Duigan. The
substitutes in attendance were Councillors Bushell and Dale.
129/19 DECLARATION OF INTEREST AND OF REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED
(AGENDA ITEM 3)
Councillor Crane declared a personal and prejudicial interest in agenda item 9(d)
and left the room whilst this item was being discussed.
130/19 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (AGENDA ITEM 4)
It was noted that the site visit previously arranged for Thursday, 19 December
2019 had been postponed and re-arranged to take place on Thursday, 9 January
2020 at midday.
131/19 REQUESTS TO DEFER APPLICATIONS INCLUDED IN THIS AGENDA
(AGENDA ITEM 5)
None.

40

Planning Committee
16 December 2019
Action By

132/19 URGENT BUSINESS (AGENDA ITEM 6)
None.
133/19 LOCAL PLAN UPDATE (STANDING ITEM) (AGENDA ITEM 7)
A Local Plan training session for all Members had been arranged to take place
following the Planning Committee meeting at 1pm in the Anglia Room.
134/19 DEFERRED APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 8)
a)

Great Hockham: Land North of Wretham Road: Reference: 3PL/2019/0474/F
Erection of eighteen residential units with associated highway and landscape
works.
This application had been deferred at the Planning Committee meeting on the
28th October 2019 due to the recent receipt and publication of the Inspectors
Report in relation to the Breckland Local Plan. Breckland Council had since
adopted the Local Plan at its Full Council meeting on 28th November 2019;
therefore, the policies contained within the emerging Local Plan had to be given
full weight and the Council could also demonstrate a five year housing land
supply.
Additionally, since the 28th October, the applicants had also submitted revised
plans showing minor amendments to the scheme
Consideration was given to the application presented by Chris Hobson, Principal
Development Manager.
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in
light of prevailing policies and guidance and any new material planning
considerations since the earlier resolution to grant planning permission.
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:
Applicant(s):

Ed Mumford-Smith and Andrew
Savage (Broadland Development
Services)

Applicant’s Agent:

Jake Lambert (Bidwells)

Gt Hockham Parish Council:

Cllr Aaron Lambert (in support)

Objector:

Andrew Lloyd

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval subject to:
1. the updated conditions as listed in the report;
2. a S106 Agreement to secure the affordable dwellings;
3. 1.8 metre closed board fencing wooden fencing be installed on the
eastern boundary in place of the 1.2 m chain link fencing; and
4. Delegated authority be granted to the Executive Director of Place to

41

Planning Committee
16 December 2019
Action By

refuse the application if the S106 Agreement had not been
completed within 3 months from the date of this Planning
Committee meeting, the 16 December 2019.
135/19 SCHEDULE OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS (AGENDA ITEM 9)
The Schedule of Planning Applications was determined as follows:
a)

Holme Hale: Hannover Farm, Hale Road Reference: 3OB/2019/0030/OB
Removal of Section 106 obligation attached to planning permission reference
3PL/1999/0665/D restricting the occupation of the dwelling to someone employed
in the agricultural business operating on the holding.
Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, Head of
Major Projects.
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in
light of prevailing policies and guidance.
No representations were made in respect of the application.
DECISION: Based on the reasoning provided in the report, Members voted
in favour to remove the planning obligation as recommended.

b)

Mattishall: Land south Dereham Road: Reference: 3OB/2019/0036/OB
To bring the affordable housing in line with the emerging local plan. To bring the
wording in line with current requirements of registered providers.
Consideration was given to the report presented by Chris Hobson, Principal
Development Manager.
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in
light of prevailing policies and guidance and any new material planning
considerations since the earlier resolution to grant planning permission.
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:
Ward Representative:

Councillor Paul Claussen (against
the recommendation)

Ward Representative:

Councillor Ian Martin (against the
recommendation)

Mattishall Parish Council:

Cllr Richard Turner (against the
recommendation)

Objector:

Nicky Grandy (Mattishall
Neighbourhood Plan Working
Group)

DECISION: Members voted 9 x 2 against the recommendation of approval
to modify the planning obligation to reduce the affordable housing
provision from 40% to 25%.

42

Planning Committee
16 December 2019
Action By

REASON(S): the Planning Inspectorate’s decision was that there should be
40% affordable housing on this site. Its Decision Letter gives significant
weight to this fact. The Committee believed that the Inspector could well
have come to a different conclusion at the time of the Appeal if the
affordable housing element had only been 25%.
DECISION: Members voted 9 x 2 to refuse the application.
c)

Shipdham: Land south of Chapel Street: Reference: 3PL/2019/1056/O
Outline permission for the erection of up to 36 dwellings, with all matters except
access reserved.
Consideration was given to the report presented by Rebecca Collins, Head of
Major Projects.
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in
light of prevailing policies and guidance.
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:
Ward Representative:

Councillor Paul Hewett (in support)

Applicant’s Agent:

Sarah Hornbrook (Bidwells)

DECISION: Members voted unanimously for approval as recommended
subject to:
1. the conditions as listed in the report and a Grampian condition for
works to the access on the northern site of Chapel Street; and
2. the signing of a S106 Agreement to secure the following
obligations:
 25% Affordable Housing in accordance with Policy HOU07 of
the Local Plan;
 open space including a LAP and the woodland as shown on
the site layout plan and maintenance contributions in
accordance with ENV04 of the Local plan;
 education contributions for this proposed development for
Thomas Bullock CE Primary Academy school, in
accordance with the County Council standard multiplier
(Table 2);
 1 hydrant per 50 dwellings (to be secured by condition);
 a library contribution of 75 per dwelling;
 contributions towards the maintenance and signage of
Footpath 12; and
 a maintenance/mitigation contribution or commuted sum for
new and existing GI features

43

Planning Committee
16 December 2019
Action By

d)

Shipdham: The Old Waggon And Horses, Chapel Street : Reference:
3PL/2019/1308/VAR
Variation of Condition 2 of 3PL/2016/0655/F - revised access and layout.
Councillor Crane declared a personal and prejudicial interest in this item and left
the room whilst this application was discussed.
Consideration was given to the application presented by Rebecca Collins, Head
of Major Projects.
Members considered the matter and fully explored the details of the application in
light of prevailing policies and guidance.
Representations were made in respect of the application in accordance with the
Council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:
Ward Representative:

Councillor Paul Hewett (against the
application)

Applicant’s Agent:

Erica Whettingsteel (EJW Planning)

Objector:

Richard Smith

DECISION: Members voted 8 x 2 against the Officer’s recommendation of
approval.
REASON(S): the application was contrary to Policy EC04 of the Council’s
adopted Local Plan and the permanent loss of a business was not
acceptable.
DECISION: Members voted 8 x 2 to refuse the variation.
136/19 APPLICATIONS DETERMINED BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR OF
PLACE (FOR INFORMATION) (AGENDA ITEM 9)
Noted.
137/19 APPEALS SUMMARY (FOR INFORMATION) (AGENDA ITEM 10)
Noted.
The meeting closed at 11.10 am

CHAIRMAN

44

Public Document Pack

Agenda Item 11

BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the
LICENSING COMMITTEE
Held on Wednesday, 13 November 2019 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
PRESENT
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr T. R. Carter

Cllr T. Kiddell
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr P. Morton
Miss T. Taylor

In Attendance
Donna Hall
Heather Lawson
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy

-

Ruth Tudge

-

Licensing & Business Support Manager
Licensing Team Leader (Shared)
Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring
Officer BDC)
Democratic Services Officer
Action By

8/19 MINUTES
The Minutes of the meeting held on 27 March 2019 were agreed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
9/19 APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowes, Dowling and
Dale.
10/19URGENT BUSINESS
None.
11/19DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
None.
12/19NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
None.
13/19DRAFT TAXI LICENSING POLICY
The Licensing Team Leader, Heather Lawson, presented the report to the
Members emphasising it was a draft document and outlined the specific
changes to the previous Policy.

1

45

Licensing Committee
13 November 2019
Action By

The main topics that triggered discussion were:








Changes to the sections regarding types of vehicles, age limits,
emission standards and electric vehicles
Wheelchair access and disability adaptations to vehicles to support
this
CCTV within vehicles, conditions and standards
Pushchairs, babies and children and the legal requirements
Tinted Windows
E-hailing
English tests and qualifications and the requirement to be able to
read and write in English

There followed an in depth discussion on all of the above with particular
attention to the Wheelchair access information. The draft Policy suggested
that all Hackney Carriages taxis should eventually be adapted for
wheelchair access and Members required further clarity on this point.
There were marked differences between different types of wheelchairs,
access and public requirements. Some disabilities required the customer to
remain in the wheelchair at all times so would need the room to manoeuvre
and access for the wheelchair, with a ramp to enter the vehicle and
security fixings inside the cab itself. Whilst other customers may need the
wheelchair for assistance with walking but could get in and out of the
wheelchair and into the cab by themselves and under those circumstances
the wheelchair could be folded and put into the boot.
It also raised the question of training to ensure the drivers were competent
in the securing of the wheelchair within the vehicle, and the cost of the
training would more than likely be borne by the driver which would be an
additional cost. Some drivers were self-employed which would possibly
price them out of the market. Members discussed the possibility of having
a small percentage of vehicles with wheelchair access rather than a whole
fleet. The cost implications for drivers to adapt cars for wheelchair access
and, in addition, meet the requirements for emission standards was felt
possibly too much for taxi drivers to pay with insufficient time to achieve
the standards which may be required.
The Chairman suggested if it was a percentage of drivers that were
wheelchair accessible and trained, it could be published on the Breckland
Council website and in the Breckland Magazine so customers were aware
how to contact the drivers. It was also felt consultation with the relevant
disabled access groups and users should be carried out to find the
possible requirements at this time in such a rural area compared to large
cities and towns, along with consultations with the trade.
The Licensing Business and Support Manager, Donna Hall asked the
Committee to make a decision on what they thought the requirements
should be regarding wheelchair access, whether it should be all taxis or a
percentage. Members agreed it should be a percentage of Hackney
Carriages should be wheelchair accessible but this needs further
consideration and Members also asked for clarity on the different types of
wheelchair access before the policy went out to consultation.
Members also felt that E-hailing needed more research and clarity in the
content of the Policy. It was felt that E-hailing is in the very early stages
2

46

Licensing Committee
13 November 2019
Action By

and if Breckland approach this right it could be a pioneering Council in the
adoption of E-hailing.
It was agreed there should be an introduction of an English test to ensure
drivers could not only communicate with passengers but for a basic health
and safety issue should there be any accidents or health emergencies.
Members felt that further consideration be given to the draft policy before it
was sent out for consultation, with particular attention to the points raised
above.
RESOLVED that:
The Licensing Committee recommend amendments to the draft policy and
return to a future meeting before it is published for consultation.
14/19NEXT MEETING
The arrangements for the next meeting on Wednesday, 8 January 2020
were duly noted.
N.B. Subsequent to the meeting, the above meeting date was postponed
and will now take place at 10am, Tuesday 28 January 2020, in the Norfolk
Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, Dereham, NR19 1EE.
The meeting closed at 13:10.

CHAIRMAN

3

47

Agenda Item 12

Public Document Pack
BRECKLAND COUNCIL
At a Meeting of the

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY
Held on Wednesday, 13 November 2019 at 10.00 am in
Norfolk Room, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham
PRESENT
Councillor M. Chapman-Allen
(Chairman)
Mr K. Martin (Vice-Chairman)
Mr R. F. W. Brame
Mr M. P. Brindle
Mr T. R. Carter

Cllr T. Kiddell
Mrs L.H. Monument
Mr P. Morton
Miss T. Taylor

Also Present
Mrs A. M. Webb

Mrs J. James

In Attendance
Donna Hall
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy

-

Heather Lawson
Stephen James

-

Ruth Tudge

-

Licensing & Business Support Manager
Legal Services Manager (Deputy Monitoring
Officer BDC)
Licensing Team Leader (Shared)
Communities & Environmental Services
Manager
Democratic Services Officer
ACTION

8/19

MINUTES
The Minutes of the meeting held on 27 March 2019 were agreed
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

9/19

APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowes and
Dowling and Dale.

10/19 URGENT BUSINESS
None.
11/19 DECLARATION OF INTEREST
None.
12/19 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING
Councillor Alison Webb and Councillor Jane James.

1

48

Committee of the Licensing Authority
13 November 2019
Action By

13/19 UPDATE ON COMMITTEE TRAINING
The Licensing and Business Support Manager, Donna Hall
confirmed there would be training for Committee Members in early
2020. The training would be delivered by the Environmental
Health Consultancy, an in house training consultancy provider.
This will be the APLH Personal Licence Course which is a
statutory requirement for Personal Licence Holders. Dates would
be circulated in the near future.
14/19 FEEDBACK AND DISCUSSION ON RECENT PANEL
MEETINGS (IF ANY)
The Chair expressed her gratitude to Members for their
enthusiasm in putting themselves forward to sit on the Licensing
Hearing Panels.
15/19 CUMULATIVE IMPACT POLICY IN THETFORD
The Licensing and Business Support Manager presented the
report and asked Members to consider whether Breckland Council
should adopt the Cumulative Impact Policy (CIP) as part of the
Statutory Licencing Act Policy.
The Licensing and Business Support Manager explained currently
by Law if Breckland Council received an application for a
Premises Licence, unless any objection was received by the
relevant responsible authorities or person, the Licence would be
issued. With the introduction of the CIP there would be a
requirement for any applicant to explain how they would uphold
the Licensing Objectives which were preventing crime and
disorder, public safety, preventing public nuisance and protecting
children from harm. If any objection was received the application
would be heard at a Licensing Panel where the applicant would
have the opportunity to prove they could uphold the objectives and
if the Panel were not satisfied the Panel could agree not to grant
the licence.
The CIP would take each application on a case by case basis and
if the policy was adopted it would mean more scrutiny would be
given to each application and more ownership from the business
that they would agree to trade responsibly.
The CIP would be predominantly for new businesses and
variations to existing Licences and if agreed would require a 12
week consultation period. Comments would be referred back to
committee to be ratified and approved.
The Council had been asked to consider the adoption of the CIP
as a request from the Safer Thetford Action Group (STAG) and
Norfolk Police as they believed it would enable officers to be better
equipped to deal with issues like street drinking.
The STAG Chairman, Mac Macdonald explained street drinking
2

49

Committee of the Licensing Authority
13 November 2019
Action By

had become a real issue with additional consequences of antisocial behaviour. The majority of the issues could be linked to
cheap alcohol sales from off-licences and they hoped to work
closely with Breckland Council and local licensees to tackle the
issues.
Sgt Simon Jones from Norfolk Police was in charge of a small
team to help tackle the issues of street drinking and anti-social
behaviour in the Thetford and Attleborough areas. He confirmed
that street drinking was a real issue within Thetford Town Centre
that had many consequences. Currently Community Protection
Warnings and Criminal Behaviour Orders could be issued. He
went on to advise that they had set up an Operation called
Operation Dismount to deal with the problems and seen a slight
reduction but the problem still continued. One main issue had
been with off-sales premises selling cheap imported single sales
of premium lager of 7% to 9% alcoholic content. Sgt Jones felt
more work was needed with local Councillors, support services,
referrals and at a Government level but felt if the CIP could be
adopted it would be a step in the right direction of tackling some of
the sales issues and going forward in adopting a multifaceted
approach.
The Communities and Environmental Services Manager, Steve
James explained Breckland Council had put in place a Public
Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) in December 2017, which
replaced the Designated Public Places Order – both prohibiting
the consumption of alcohol in a designated area. The Police were
undertaking operations as mentioned and this was within the
designated PSPO area and enforcing against those that breech
the order.
The Communities and Environmental Services Manager stated
Breckland Council were committed to trying to design out places
that those who street drink congregate such as the substantial
work undertaken on Butten Island.
The Communities and Environmental Services Manager added
that he was working with Ipswich Borough Council, and planned to
attend a meeting with them in December where they would be
investigating their methods of trying to tackle street drinking
Ipswich Borough Council had also implemented a voluntary
scheme for off licences to sign up to which means they agreed to
limit the strength of the lager sold, therefore reducing the
availability of high strength, low cost drinks. This was something
Breckland Council are also discussing with Ipswich to understand
if it was something that could be replicated within the Breckland
Area. Ipswich Borough Council had also developed a successful
multi agency approach.
The Communities and Environmental Services Manager went on
to say that Breckland Council were mindful that those individuals
undertaking street drinking were vulnerable people who may have
multiple dependencies and in order to find a long term solution to
3

50

Committee of the Licensing Authority
13 November 2019
Action By

the wider issues needed to be addressed. As a result Breckland
Council were committed to working with Ipswich Borough Council,
who for many years have led on multi-agency meetings that
discussed the places street drinking occurred with a view to
making them less attractive as well as discussing the individuals
involved and offering the appropriate support to encourage
behaviour change or to ensure appropriate enforcement action be
taken.
He explained how it was a hugely complex issue that involved
long term engrained behaviour of a group of individuals that would
require a number of coordinated initiatives to address.
The Licensing Manager and Business Support Manager
explained to the Committee that the CIP would only relate to a
saturation of Licence Premises in one area and the impact that
had on the licensing objectives. Public Health is not currently a
licensing objective. The Licensing Manager said she would be
supportive of a multi-agency approach but the Policy should be
seen as separate.
Councillor Brame felt that as Police had suggested Breckland
consulted on the CIP it would be one approach and maybe a lead
then for Breckland to work together and adopt a multi-agency
approach to tackle other issues.
Councillor Brame proposed the recommendations to implement
the CIP which were seconded by Councillor Kiddell. The Chair put
the options to the Committee.
RESOLVED that:
1) That the Committee of the Licensing Authority consider the
request for a Cumulative Impact Policy under the Licensing
Act 2003, for Thetford be approved.
2) That the Committee of the Licensing Authority decide to
carry out a full public consultation on this, and if so identify
the locality that the Policy will cover and the activities and
premises types it will apply to be approved.
The Committee identified that the Draft Policy would cover the
existing PSPO area in Thetford and would apply to Off Licence
Premises only.
16/19 NEXT MEETING
The arrangements for the next meeting on Wednesday, 8 January
2020 were duly noted.
N.B. Subsequent to the meeting, the above meeting date was
postponed and will now take place at 10am, Tuesday 28 January
2020, in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham, NR19 1EE.
4

51

Committee of the Licensing Authority
13 November 2019
Action By

The meeting closed at 11.20 am

CHAIRMAN

5

52

Agenda Item 13

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Maxine O' Mahony - Executive Director Strategy and Governance and
Returning Officer.

To:

Council – 23rd January 2020

Author:

Rory Ringer – Democratic Services Manager

Subject:

Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2019

Purpose:

To agree the recommendations following the review of Polling Districts and
Polling Places within the Breckland Council area.

Recommendation(s):
1)

To adopt the Polling Districts and Polling Places as listed in Appendix 1 to this report, which
include the following changes: i.

The creation of a new Polling District SA2/1 Parish of Carbrooke (West), allowing for an
additional Polling Station in the West of the Parish on the Carbrooke/Watton border
(Appendix 2) as and when a suitable venue becomes available.

ii.

The creation of a new Polling District TBU3 Parish of Thetford Burrell (West), allowing for
the residents of St Martin’s Way Canon Walk, Jubilee Close and Saxon Bank to vote at the
Meet Up Café, St Martins Way, Thetford. (Appendix 3).

iii.

The creation of a new Polling District TBU4 Parish of Thetford Burrell (East) allowing for the
residents of the St Michaels Road/Nunnery Drive area to vote at St Michaels Close
Community Room, Thetford (Appendix 3).

2)

To note that, by law, the location of Polling Stations is the responsibility of the Returning
Officer and to note the locations determined by the Returning Officer as listed in Appendix 1
to this report, which includes the following changes: i.

To relocate the Polling Station for Polling District DEN1 Parish of Dereham Neatherd (East)
from the Dereham Cricket Club to the Dereham Football Club.

ii.

To relocate the Polling Station for Polling District HE2 Parish of Horningtoft from Horningtoft
Manor Room to Whissonsett Village Hall.

iii.

To relocate the Polling Station for Polling District AL6 Parish of Merton from Mobile Polling
Station- Merton to Thompson Community Centre

iv.

To relocate the Polling Station for Polling Districts HE5 Weasenham All Saints, HE6
Weasenham St Peter and HE7 Wellingham from Mobile Polling Station- Weasenham St
Peter to Rougham Village Hall

v.

The creation of a new Polling Station for Polling District TBU4 Thetford Burrell (East) at St
Michaels Close Community Room, St Michaels Close, Thetford.

53

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Section 16 of the Electoral Administration Act 2006 introduced a requirement for local
authorities to undertake a review of their Parliamentary polling districts and polling places
every 4 years. The last review of the Breckland area was completed in the autumn of
2014. Subsequent amendments to this legislation by the Electoral Registration and
Administration Act 2013 now means that all local authorities must undertake a review
every 5 years, and the current round of reviews must be completed by 31st January 2020.

1.2

A ‘Polling District’ is a geographical area created by the sub-division of a UK
Parliamentary constituency for the purposes of a UK Parliamentary Election, and is the
responsibility of the Council to designate.

1.3

A ‘Polling Place’ is the area in which polling stations will be selected by the (Acting)
Returning Officer and is the responsibility of the Council to designate.

1.4

A ‘Polling Station’ is the area within the Polling Place where voting takes place, and are
the responsibility of the Returning Officer to designate.

1.5

The Breckland review commenced on 1st August with the publication of the Notice of
review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2019. Notices were placed on the Council’s
website and at the Council offices along with press releases inviting electors to submit
comments.

1.6

Guidance produced by the Electoral Commission sets out the process for a review, and
this has been followed.

1.7

As part of the review process (Acting) Returning Officers are required to make
representations to the local authority on the existing polling stations and the polling
stations that would likely be used on the proposed arrangements. These were also
published on 1st August and a consultation on these proposals ran until 11th September
2019.

1.8

In carrying out this review, the Council has sought to ensure that: 



1.9

All the electors in the area have reasonable facilities for voting as are
practicable in the circumstances.
So far as is reasonable and practicable, every polling place is accessible to
electors who have a disability and when considering the designation of a polling
place, must have regard to the accessibility needs of those with a disability.
The polling place is within the area of the polling district, unless circumstances
make it necessary to designate somewhere else.

Interested parties consulted as part of this review were:








Local (Acting) Returning Officers
Members of Parliament
Norfolk County Councillors covering the Breckland area
Breckland District Councillors
Town and Parish Councils via Parish Clerks
Political Parties (who have stood at recent elections)
Disability Access Groups

54

1.10

During the consultation 25 submissions were received, and these are summarised in
Appendix 1, together with the Returning Officers comments.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

To approve the Polling Districts and Polling Places as listed in Appendix 1.

2.2

To approve alternative arrangements.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

To comply with the legislative requirements of the Electoral Administration Act 2006,
Section 16 in implementing the findings of the statutory review and consultation process.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

Compliance with legislative requirements

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other.
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.1.1

As part of the review the Returning Officer has sought to ensure that all the electors in the
area have reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable in the circumstances. Also, to
ensure that so far as is reasonable and practicable, every polling place is accessible to
electors who have a disability and when considering the designation of a polling place, must
have regard to the accessibility needs of those with a disability.

5.2

Financial

5.2.1

No additional financial resources as the number of polling Stations remains unchanged.

5.3

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.3.1

These are set out in the body of the report.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

None

55

Background Papers: -

None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Rory Ringer
01362 656232
rory.ringer@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 3

Consultation Responses and Proposed Polling Districts, Polling
Places and Polling Stations.
Map of Proposed Polling District SA2/1 Carbrooke (West),
Map of Proposed Polling Districts TBU3 Thetford Burrell (West) and
TBU4 Thetford Burrell (East)

56

Parliamentary
Constituency

Mid Norfolk

District
Ward

All Saints &
Wayland

Polling District(s)

AL1 - Parish of Caston

Mid Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

AL4 - Parish of Griston

South West Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

South West Norfolk

Polling Place

Parish of Caston

Polling Station used
at the May 2019
Local Elections

Caston Village Hall, The
Street, Caston

Electorate

Acting Returning Officer's
comments/proposal

Feedback on Polling Stations
during May and December 2019
elections.

Comments received during the Review

Acting Returning Officer's final
proposals

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Residents response: I am writing in response to the recently published review of polling stations in Breckland. I have
been involved with elections since 2004 and have been Presiding Officer of Caston Polling Station (AL1 – Caston &
AL4 – Griston), for the last 8 years. I concur with the Council’s recommendation not to change the location of the
current Polling Station. The evidence for this recommendation are as follows: Electors in both Caston and Griston
are familiar with the current location and any move would undoubtedly confuse the voters. The current location,
Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
(Caston Village Hall) has recently been subject to a significant refurbishment, which make it suitable i.e. disabled
access and better toilets etc.Although Griston is the larger village, in every election I have been involved in, the
percentage turnout for Caston has been significantly higher than Griston.The provision of a physical polling station
provides an important role when compared against postal voting and any future plans to introduce electronic voting.

479

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Caston)as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Residents response: I am writing in response to the recently published review of polling stations in Breckland. I have
been involved with elections since 2004 and have been Presiding Officer of Caston Polling Station (AL1 – Caston &
AL4 – Griston), for the last 8 years. I concur with the Council’s recommendation not to change the location of the
current Polling Station. The evidence for this recommendation are as follows: Electors in both Caston and Griston
are familiar with the current location and any move would undoubtedly confuse the voters. The current location,
Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
(Caston Village Hall) has recently been subject to a significant refurbishment, which make it suitable i.e. disabled
access and better toilets etc.Although Griston is the larger village, in every election I have been involved in, the
percentage turnout for Caston has been significantly higher than Griston.The provision of a physical polling station
provides an important role when compared against postal voting and any future plans to introduce electronic voting.

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

395

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

Caston Village Hall, The
Street, Caston

AL10 - Parish of Stow
Bedon

Parish of Hockham

Great Hockham Village Hall,
Edinburgh Hall, Harling
Road, Gt Hockham

251

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Hockham )as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

All Saints &
Wayland

AL5 - Parish of Hockham

Parish of Hockham

Great Hockham Village Hall,
Edinburgh Hall, Harling
Road, Gt Hockham

475

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

AL11 - Parish of Thompson

Parish of Thompson

Thompson Community
Centre, School Road,
Thompson

282

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

AL12 - Parish of Wretham

Parish of Wretham

Wretham Village Hall,
Church Road, Wretham

269

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

AL2 - Parish of Great
Ellingham

Parish of Great
Ellingham

Great Ellingham Recreation
Centre, Watton Road, Gt
Ellingham

971

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

AL3 - Parish of Little
Ellingham

Parish of Little
Ellingham

Little Ellingham Recreation
Centre, Church Road, Little
Ellingham

185

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

94

This polling station is far from ideal ideal as
it is a portable building, with no disabled
access it is situated within the polling
district. However there is no suitable
alternative venue available in the area, due
to the poor access and lack of amenities ,
the Polling Station will be moved to the
nearest alternatice station in the Parish of
Thompson.

This is a mobile Polling Station (Hired
Caravan) and is far from ideal - there is a
potential to move the Polling Station to
Thompson but this would mean electors
voting outside of their village.

None

Recommend: No Change to Polling Distict but
Polling Station to be relocated to Thompson
Community Centre

365

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Eccles)as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

57

Parish of Caston

South West Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

Parish Of Thompson

Mobile Polling Station,
Merton

South West Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

Parish of Eccles

Garnier Village Hall, Station
Road, Eccles

South West Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

AL13 - Parish of Snetterton

Parish of Eccles

Garnier Village Hall, Station
Road, Eccles

155

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Eccles)as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

Mid Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

AL8 - Parish of Rocklands

Parish of Rocklands

Rocklands Village Hall, The
Street, Rocklands

529

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

All Saints &
Wayland

AL9 - Parish of Shropham

Parish of Shropham

Shropham Village Hall,
Rocklands Road, Shropham

294

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

AL6 - Parish of Merton

AL7 - Parish of Quidenham

Residents response: I have a car so am able to drive to Eccles but without a car it would be impossible as no bus
service. A more suitable building could be used is Snetterton Church of World Horse Welfare building.

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Ashill

AS1 - Parish of Ashill

Parish of Ashill

Ashill Community Centre,
Hale Road, Ashill

1206

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Ashill

AS2 - Parish of Great
Cressingham

Parish of Great
Cressingham

Great Cressingham Village
Hall, Watton Road, Great
Cressingham

215

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

Ashill

AS6 - Parish of South
Pickenham

Parish of Great
Cressingham

Great Cressingham Village
Hall, Watton Road, Great
Cressingham

69

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Great Cressingham)as no suitable facility
within the polling district, but convenient
to voters - Recommend: No Change to
current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

South West Norfolk

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

There was an observation that there was no
reserved parking for Disabled voters and a Parish Council response: The South Pickenham Parish Cllrs unanimously agree that Great Cressingham Hall is a very
Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
gravel pathway/external area - Gravel/Grass reasonable and accessible venue. Great Cressingham village hall is a both practicale and accessible venue.
area)

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

58

South West Norfolk

Ashill

AS3 - Parish of Little
Cressingham

Parish of Great
Cressingham

Great Cressingham Village
Hall, Watton Road, Great
Cressingham

119

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Great Cressingham)as no suitable facility
within the polling district, but convenient
to voters - Little Cressingham Parish
Council have in the past asked for a polling
Station within the village but we have been
unable to find any suitable premises.
Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

South West Norfolk

Ashill

AS4 - Parish of Hilborough

Parish of Hilborough

Hilborough Mills Memorial
Hall, Westgate Street,
Hilborough

165

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

There was an observation that there was no Parish Council response: The Mills Memorial Hill is an ideal venue as the polling station; it is very accessible and
reserved parking for Disabled voters and a central to the village.
gravel pathway/external area - Gravel/Grass
area)

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Ashill

AS5 - Parish of North
Pickenham

Parish of North
Pickenham

St Andrews C of E Primary
Academy, South Pickenham
Road, North Pickenham

414

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

There was an observation that there was no
reserved parking for Disabled voters and a
gravel pathway/external area - Gravel/Grass
area)

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Attleborough
Burgh &
Haverscroft

ATB1 - Parish of
Attleborough, Burgh &
Haverscroft (East)

Town of
Attleborough Connaught
Attleborough (Burgh Hall - Francis Room, Station
& Haverscoft Ward)
Road, Attleborough

2001

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Residents response: The Polling Station is easy to access and the building is suitable for voting purposes.

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Attleborough
Burgh &
Haverscroft

ATB2 - Parish of
Attleborough, Burgh &
Haverscroft (West)

Town of
Attleborough (Burgh
& Haverscoft Ward)

Attleborough Christ
Community Church, The
Lighthouse, 131 Hargham
Road, Attleborough

1929

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Residents response: The Polling Station is easy to access and the building is suitable for voting purposes.

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Attleborough
Burgh &
Haverscroft

ATQ1 - Parish of Besthorpe

Besthorpe

Besthorpe Silver Farm, Silver
Street, Besthorpe

573

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Mid Norfolk

Attleborough
Queens &
Besthorpe

ATQ2 - Parish of
Attleborough, Queens
(East)

Town of
Attleborough
(Queens Ward)

Attleborough Town Hall,
Queens Square,
Attleborough

1430

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Mid Norfolk

Attleborough
Queens &
Besthorpe

ATQ3 Parish of
Attleborough, Queens
(West)

Town of
Attleborough
(Queens Ward)

Attleborough Sports Hall,
Queens Square,
Attleborough

3427

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Bedingfeld

Cockley Cley (Room At The
Twenty Church Wardens),
Swaffham Road, Cockley
Cley

110

It is situated within the Polling District Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

Polling Station is a Public House with no
disabled parking although ample normal
parking , uneven gravel path leading to the
entrance and steps down to the Polling
Station

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Bedingfeld

BE4 - Parish of Foulden

Parish of Foulden

Foulden Village Hall, 33
Vicarage Road, Foulden

337

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Bedingfeld

BE5 - Parish of
Gooderstone

Parish of
Gooderstone

Gooderstone Church of
England Primary Academy,
The Street, Gooderstone

300

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Bedingfeld

BE6 - Parish of Mundford

Parish of Mundford

Mundford Village Hall, St
Leonards Street, Mundford

1175

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Parish of Mundford

Mundford Village Hall, St
Leonards Street, Mundford

41

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Mundford )as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Bedingfeld

BE1 - Parish of Cockley Cley Parish of Cockley Cley

BE2 - Parish of Cranwich

Parish Council response: The South Pickenham Parish Cllrs unanimously agree that Great Cressingham Hall is a very
reasonable and accessible venue. The Cllrs are unanimous in giving this opinion: 'Great Cressingham Village Hall is a
Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
both practical and accessible venue'.

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
There are minor issues with this Polling
until 2023 when the Community Governance
Station no heating, and no kitchen facilities Residents response: I often have a problem getting in to Attleborough because I live of the west side of the A11. It
Review recommendations for the civil parish of
- We are aware of the issues but at present would be easier, greener and more convenient if I could vote at Great Ellingham Recreation Centre, Great Ellingham.
Great Ellingham come into force, which will move
there is no alternative. We combat the issues The journey would be shorter for me.
the residents on the west side of the A11 into the
by supplying bottled Water and Heaters
parish of Gt Ellingham.

South West Norfolk

South West Norfolk

Bedingfeld

Bedingfeld

BE3 - Parish of Didlinghton

BE7 - Parish of Ickburgh

30

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Mundford )as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

199

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Mundford )as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Parish of Mundford

Mundford Village Hall, St
Leonards Street, Mundford

Parish of Mundford

Mundford Village Hall, St
Leonards Street, Mundford

7

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Mundford )as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

201

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

None

Recommend: No Change to Polling District but
Polling Station to be relocated from Dereham
Cricket Club to Dereham Football Club

South West Norfolk

Bedingfeld

FO5 - Parish of Stanford

Parish of Mundford

Mundford Village Hall, St
Leonards Street, Mundford

South West Norfolk

Bedingfeld

BE8 - Parish of Oxborough

Parish of Oxborough

Oxborough Village Hall,
Swaffham Road, Oxborough

59

Mid Norfolk

Dereham
Neatherd

DEN1 - Parish of Dereham
Neatherd (East)

Town of Dereahm
(Neatherd Ward)

Dereham Cricket Club,
Norwich Road, Dereham

3892

Poor access and building is no longer
There are several issues highlighted at this
suitable as a double polling station for
Polling Station - ramp defects, poor lighting ,
3500 plus electors, therfore it is proposed
limited car parking, Issue with utilities in
to move the Polling Station for DEN1 to particular Heating and Hot Water. - Consider
Dereham Football Club, Norwich Road,
moving this polling station to somewhere
Dereham, this will improve the access for
more fit for purpose, possibly a move to
voters.
Dereham Football Club?

Mid Norfolk

Dereham
Neatherd

DEN2 - Parish of Dereham
Neatherd (West)

Town of Dereham
(Neatherd Ward)

Dereham Mid Norfolk
Railway, Station Road,
Dereham

1757

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Dereham
Toftwood

DET1 - Parish of Dereham
Toftwood (East)

Town of Dereham
(Tortwood Ward)

Dereham Scout Haven 2nd
Toftwood Scouts, South
Green, Dereham

697

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Dereham
Toftwood

DET2 - Parish of Dereham
Toftwood (West)

Town of Dereham
(Tortwood Ward)

Toftwood Village Hall, 47
Shipdham Road, Toftwood

3679

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Dereham
Withburga

DEW1 - Parish of Dereham
Withburga (North)

Town of Dereham
(Withburga Ward)

Dereham Church House,
Church Street, Dereham

1933

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Dereham
Withburga

DEW2 - Parish of Dereham
Withburga (South)

Town of Dereham
(Withburga Ward)

Dereham Library, 59 High
Street, Dereham

2513

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

281

Although this polling station is not ideal it
is situated within the polling district, it has
Although not an ideal venue as it is located
a number of issues around poor lighting
on a working farm, the owner has made a
and access. However there is no suitable
conscious effort to improve the access and
alternative venue available in the area, and
lighting both within and around the Polling
we have not received any complaints from
Station
electors Recommend: No Change to
current arrangements

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

48

This polling station is not ideal and it is
situated outside of the polling district,
(Brettenham) it has a number of issues
around poor lighting and access. However
there is no suitable alternative venue
available in the area, and we have not
received any complaints from electors.
Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

Although not an ideal venue as it is located
on a working farm, the owner has made a
conscious effort to improve the access and
lighting both within and around the Polling
Station

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

364

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

South West Norfolk

Forest

South West Norfolk

Forest

South West Norfolk

Forest

South West Norfolk

Forest

Brettenham (Room at Farm
FO1 - Parish of Brettenham Parish of Brettenham Office), Brettenham Manor ,
Brettenham

Brettenham (Room at Farm
FO3 - Parish of Kilverstone Parish of Brettenham Office), Brettenham Manor ,
Brettenham

FO2 - Parish of Croxton

FO4 - Parish of Lynford

Parish of Croxton

Parish of Lynford

Croxton Village Hall, The
Street, Croxton

West Tofts Camp - Building
2, Building 19, Landmark
Support Services, West Tofts

76

Although this polling station is not ideal it
is situated within the polling district, access
can be a problem on occasions as the
The Polling Station is a Nissan Hut on a
Polling Staions is based on an Army camp.
working Military Camp, there were some
However there is no suitable alternative
issues around terror attacks during the May
venue available in the area, The issues
17 elections, but no problems in the May
highlighted in 2017 were quickly rectifiecd
2019 elections.
on the day, and there were no problem at
either of the 2019 elections.: Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

Parish Councillor response: The Polling Station is easy to access and the building is suitable for voting purposes.

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Residents response: I was denied access to vote in 2017 as it was on a miltary base and I didn’t have ID. You should
not need ID to vote I had a row with the guy on the gate however I was still denied my right to vote. I understand
Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
the need for military secrecy however this conflict with the requirements to vote. I did not have time to return
home and collect my ID therefore I was unable to vote; this is unacceptable.

South West Norfolk

Forest

FO6 - Parish of Weeting
with Broomhill

Parish of Weeting
with Broomhill

Weeting Village Hall, Lynn
Road, Saxon Place, Weeting

1318

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

South West Norfolk

Guiltcross

GU1 - Parish of Blo Norton

Parish of Blo Norton

Blo Norton Village Hall,
Middle Road, Blo Norton

212

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

South West Norfolk

Guiltcross

GU2 - Parish of Kenninghall Parish of Kenninghall

Kenninghall Community
Primary School, School
Close, Kenninghall

827

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Guiltcross

Garboldisham Village Hall,
Church Road, Garboldisham

593

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

GU3 - Parish of
Garboldisham

Parish of
Garboldisham

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Parish Clerk response: the village hall at Blo Norton is used for this purpose and has suitable access for the disabled Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

60

South West Norfolk

Harling &
Heathlands

HA3- Parish of
Riddlesworth

Parish of
Garboldisham

Garboldisham Village Hall,
Church Road, Garboldisham

106

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Garboldisham) as no suitable facility within
the polling district, but convenient to
voters - Recommend: No Change to
current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Guiltcross

GU4 - Parish of North
Lopham

Parish of North
Lopham

Lopham Village Hall, Church
Road, North Lopham

525

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Parish Council response :The Polling Station serving the Lophams has excellent disabled access and we have had no
Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
complaints re access or any other issues.

South West Norfolk

Guiltcross

GU5- Parish of South
Lopham

Parish of North
Lopham

Lopham Village Hall, Church
Road, North Lopham

307

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
North Lopham) as no suitable facility
within the polling district, but convenient
to voters - Recommend: No Change to
current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Parish Council response :The Polling Station serving the Lophams has excellent disabled access and we have had no
Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
complaints re access or any other issues.

South West Norfolk

Harling &
Heathlands

HA1 - Parish of Bridgham

Paish of Bridgham

Bridgham & Roudham
Village Hall, Chapel Lane,
Bridgham

284

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Harling &
Heathlands

HA2 - Parish of Harling

Parish of Harling

Harling Old School Hall,
School Lane, Harling

1911

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Harling &
Heathlands

246

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Hermitage

496

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

None

Recommend: No Change to Polling Distict but
Polling Station to be relocated to Whissonsett
Village Hall

HA4 - Parish of Roudham & Parish of Roudham & St Georges Distillery, Harling
Larling
Larling
Road, Roudham

HE1 - Parish of Colkirk

Parish of Colkirk

Colkirk Village Hall, Church
Road, Colkirk

It is proposed to relocate the Polling
Station for HE2 to Whissonsett Village Hall.
The owner has advised she no longer wishes
Horningtoft Manor Room is no longer
available and there are no other suitable her property to be used as a Polling Station Suggest the polling station is combined with
premises within the Polling District.
Whissonsett
Whissonssett Village Hall is the closest
alternative Polling Staion within the
Hermitage Ward.

Mid Norfolk

Hermitage

HE2 - Parish of Horningtoft

Parish of
Whissonssett

Horningtoft Manor Farm
(Room), Off Gately Road,
Horningtoft

132

Mid Norfolk

Hermitage

HE3 - Parish of Mileham

Parish of Mileham

Mileham Village Hall, The
Street, Mileham

479

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Hermitage

HE4 - Parish of Tittleshall

Parish of Tittleshall

Tittleshall Village Hall, High
Street, Tittleshall

451

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Parish of Tittleshall

Tittleshall Village Hall, High
Street, Tittleshall

123

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Tittleshall) as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

318

A temporary polling station was used for
the first time at the December 2019
elections as the previous station is no
longer available, this station is far from
This is a mobile Polling Station (Hired
ideal as it is a portable building with no Caravan) and is far from ideal with no disable
disabled access. It is not situated within
access and very limited facilities - there is
the polling district. However there is no
potential to move the Polling Station to
suitable alternative venue available in the
Rougham but this would mean electors
area, and due to the poor access and lack
voting outside of their village.
of amenities , the Polling Station will be
moved to the nearest alternatice station in
the Parish of Rougham

None

Recommend: No Change to Polling Distict but
Polling Station to be relocated to Rougham
Village Hall

Mid Norfolk

Mid Norfolk

Hermitage

Hermitage

HE9 - Parish of Stanfield

HE5 - Parish of Weasenham
All Saints

Parish of Rougham

Weasenham, The Meeting
Room, 37 Lamberts Close

Mid Norfolk

Hermitage

HE6 - Parish of Weasenham
St Peter

Parish of Rougham

None

Recommend: No Change to Polling Distict but
Polling Station to be relocated to Rougham
Village Hall

Weasenham, The Meeting
Room, 37 Lamberts Close

28

A temporary polling station was used for
the first time at the December 2019
elections as the previous station is no
longer available, this station is far from
This is a mobile Polling Station (Hired
ideal as it is a portable building with no Caravan) and is far from ideal with no disable
disabled access. It is not situated within
access and very limited facilities - there is
the polling district. However there is no
potential to move the Polling Station to
suitable alternative venue available in the
Rougham but this would mean electors
area, and due to the poor access and lack
voting outside of their village.
of amenities , the Polling Station will be
moved to the nearest alternatice station in
the Parish of Rougham

None

Recommend: No Change to Polling Distict but
Polling Station to be relocated to Rougham
Village Hall

Whissonsett Village Hall,
London Street, Whissonsett

373

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Weasenham, The Meeting
Room, 37 Lamberts Close

61

Mid Norfolk

Hermitage

HE7 - Parish of Wellingham

Mid Norfolk

Hermitage

HE8 - Parish of Whissonsett Parish of Whissonsett

Mid Norfolk

Launditch

LA1 - Parish of Beeston
with Bittering

Parish of Beeston
with Bittering

Beeston Village Hall, Back
Lane, Beeston

475

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Launditch

LA2 - Parish of Fransham

Parish of Fransham

Fransham Village Hall,
Station Road, Fransham

354

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

Polling Staion currently undergoing a partial
renovation ,there were some access issues at
the May 2019 elections, but there are being
addressed as part of the refurbishment.

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Launditch

LA3 - Parish of Great
Dunham

Parish of Great
Dunham

Great Dunham Village Hall,
Litcham Road, Great
Dunham

261

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Launditch

LA4 - Parish Of Lexham

Parish of Lexham

Brick Kiln Farm (Mess
Room), Back Lane, Lexham

98

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Launditch

LA5 - Parish of Litcham

Parish of Litcham

Litcham Jubilee Hall, Church
Street ,Litcham

465

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Parish of Litcham

Litcham Jubilee Hall, Church
Street, Litcham

10

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Litcham) as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Parish of Sporle

Sporle Community Centre,
78 the Street, Sporle

32

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Sporle) as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

South West Norfolk

Launditch

LA7 - Parish of Kempstone

Launditch

LA8 - Parish of Newton by
Castle Acre

Parish of Rougham

140

A temporary polling station was used for
the first time at the December 2019
elections as the previous station is no
longer available, this station is far from
This is a mobile Polling Station (Hired
ideal as it is a portable building with no Caravan) and is far from ideal with no disable
disabled access. It is situated within the
access and very limited facilities - there is
polling district. However there is no
potential to move the Polling Station to
suitable alternative venue available in the
Rougham but this would mean electors
area, and due to the poor access and lack
voting outside of their village.
of amenities , the Polling Station will be
moved to the nearest alternatice station in
the Parish of Rougham

There are several issues with this Polling
Station and the surrounding area Extensive
alterations have been made to this polling
Work with Little Dunham Village Hall
station in order for it to be fit for purpose.
Committee to further improve the facilities
There are still issues that need to be
within the Village Hall - Recommend: No addressed such as no running water and no
Change to current arrangements
permenant toilet facilities .Therefore until
such time as these are rectified we will
continue to supply a portable toilet and
bottled water.

Mid Norfolk

Launditch

LA6 - Parish of Little
Dunham

Parish of Little
Dunham

Little Dunham Village Hall,
Necton Road, Little Dunham

216

Mid Norfolk

Launditch

LA9 - Parish of Rougham

Parish of Rougham

Rougham Village Hall,
Rougham

75

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Lincoln

LI1 - Parish of Beetley

Parish of Beetley

Beetley Village Hall, High
House Road, Beetley

1202

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on PSI & PO
information gathered over two election
periods

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Lincoln

Gressenhall Village Hall Reading Room, The Green,
Gressenhall

821

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Lincoln

Hoe Recreation Room, Hall
Road, Hoe

177

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

LI2 - Parish of Gressenhall Parish of Gressenhall

LI3 - Parish of Hoe &
Worthing

Parish of Hoe

Residents response: The Polling Station is easy to access and the building is suitable for voting purposes.

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Lincoln

LI4 - Parish of Longham

Parish of Longham

Longham Village Hall,
Chapel Road, Longham

176

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Lincoln

LI5 - Parish of Swanton
Morley

Paish of Swanton
Morley

Swanton Morley Village
Hall, Hilton Room, Manns
Lane, Swanton Morley

1368

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Lincoln

LI6 - Parish of Wendling

Parish of Wendling

Wendling Village Hall,
Swaffham Road, Wendling

222

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Mid Norfolk

Mattishall

MA1 - Parish of East
Tuddenham

Parish of East
Tuddenham

East Tuddenham Jubilee
Hall, Mattishall Road, East
Tuddenham

382

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Mattishall

Garvestone Village Hall,
Dereham Road, Garvestone

568

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Mattishall

MA3 - Parish of
Hardingham

Hardingham Memorial
Parish of Hardingham Village Hall, High Common,
Hardingham

232

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Mattishall

MA4 - Parish of Mattishall

Mattishall Church Rooms,
Dereham Road, Mattishall

2089

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

MA2 - Parish of Garvestone Parish of Garvestone

Parish of Mattishall

Parish Clerk response: Both Wendling and Billingford Village Halls are within standards for voting, they are disabled
Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
friendly and have toilets. In Stanfield there is only the Church, so I am not aware what the residents have to do with
regards to voting. They may have to go to another village, I am not sure. Obviously the Parish Council meetings in
Stanfield are held in the church, but there are no toilets there

Mid Norfolk

Mattishall

MA5 -Parish of Whinburgh
& Westfield

Parish of Yaxham

Yaxham Village Hall, Jubilee
Park, Yaxham

294

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Yaxham) as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Mattishall

MA6 - Parish of Yaxham

Parish of Yaxham

Yaxham Village Hall, Jubilee
Park, Yaxham

635

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Nar Valley

NA1 - Parish of
Beachamwell

Parish of
Beachamwell

Beachamwell Memorial Hall,
The Green, Beachamwell

282

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

There was no reserved parking facilities for
Disabled voters and a grass
pathway/external area based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments - this has now been rectified

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Parish of Narborough

Narborough Community
Centre, Chalk Lane,
Narborough

27

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Narborough) as no suitable facility within
the polling district, but convenient to
voters - Recommend: No Change to
current arrangements

There was no reserved parking facilities for
Disabled voters and a grass
pathway/external area based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments - this has now been rectified

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

NA3 - Parish of Narborough Parish of Narborough

Narborough Community
Centre, Chalk Lane,
Narborough

913

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

There was no reserved parking facilities for
Disabled voters and a grass
pathway/external area based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments - this has now been rectified

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

24

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Sporle) as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

62

South West Norfolk

Nar Valley

South West Norfolk

Nar Valley

NA2 - Parish of Narford

South West Norfolk

Nar Valley

NA4 - Parish of South Acre

Parish of Sporle

Sporle Community Centre,
78 the Street, Sporle

South West Norfolk

Nar Valley

NA5 - Parish of Sporle with
Palgrave

Parish of Sporle

Sporle Community Centre,
78 the Street, Sporle

773

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Necton

Holme Hale Pavilion, School
Road, Holme Hale

403

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Necton

Necton Rural Community
Centre, 13 Tuns Road,
Necton

1629

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Saham Toney

SA1 - Parish of Bradenham Parish of Bradenham

Bradenham Village Hall, The
Green, Bradenham

571

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Saham Toney

SA2 - Parish of Carbrooke
(East)

Carbrooke Coronation Hall,
Church Street, Carbrooke

466

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

1223

Additional Polling District created as a
result of large scale residential
development on the Carbrooke/Watton
Boundary, with a view to introducing an
additional Polling Place/Polling Station in
the Polling District should one become
available in the area

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: Creation of an additional Polling
District SA2/1, this will allow for the
introductionion of an additional Polling Station in
the west of the parish should a suitable venue
become available. (Appendix 2)

Mid Norfolk

Saham Toney

NE1 - Parish of Holme Hale Parish of Holme Hale

NE2 - Parish of Necton

Parish of Necton

Parish of Carbrooke

SA2/1 - Parish of Carbrooke
Parish of Carbrooke
(West)

Carbrooke Coronation Hall,
Church Street, Carbrooke

Mid Norfolk

Saham Toney

SA3 - Parish of Ovington

Parish of Ovington

Ovington Village Hall,
Church Road, Ovington

174

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Saham Toney

SA4 - Parish of Saham
Toney

Parish of Saham
Toney

Wells-Cole Community
Centre, Bell Lane, Saham
Toney

1250

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Saham Toney

SA5 - Parish of Scoulton

Parish of Scoulton

Scoulton Village Hall, Mere
Road, Scoulton

177

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Shipdham with
Scarning

SH1 - Parish of Cranworth

Parish of Cranworth

Cranworth Jubilee Hall,
Shipdham Road, Cranworth

365

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Shipdham with
Scarning

SH2 - Parish of Scarning

Parish of Scarning

Scarning Village Hall,
Dereham Road, Scarning

2175

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Mid Norfolk

Shipdham with
Scarning

SH3 - Parish of Shipdham

Parish of Shipdham

Community Centre - Thomas
Bullock School, Pound
Green Lane, Shipdham

1773

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

South West Norfolk

Swaffham

SW1 - Parish of Swaffham
(North)

Town of Swaffham

Swaffham Assembly Rooms,
Market Place, Swaffham

3031

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

There have been issues reported with this
There are issues regarding the lack of
Polling Station and the surrounding area
heating and kitchen facilities, but there are regarding the lack of heating, and no kitchen
no access issues, It is situated within the
facilities - we are aware of the issues but
Polling District - Recommend: No Change currently it is still the best location within the
to current arrangements
Polling District. We will continue to supply
bottled water and heaters

63

South West Norfolk

Swaffham

SW2 - Parish of Swaffham
(South)

Town of Swaffham

Swaffham Leisure Centre,
Brandon Road, Swaffham

3168

South West Norfolk

The
Buckenhams &
Banham

TB1 - Parish of Banham

Parish of Banham

Banham Community Centre,
Kenninghall Road, Banham

1140

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

The
Buckenhams &
Banham

TB2 - Parish of New
Buckenham

Parish of New
Bucklenham

New Buckenham Village
Hall, Moat Lane, New
Buckenham

376

South West Norfolk

The
Buckenhams &
Banham

TB3 - Parish of Old
Buckenham

Parish of Old
Buckenham

Old Buckenham Village Hall,
Abbey Road, Old
Buckenham

South West Norfolk

Thetford
Boudica

TBO1 - Parish of Thetford ,
Anne Bartholomew

Town of Thetford
(Boudica Ward)

South West Norfolk

Thetford
Boudica

TBO2 - Parish of Thetford ,
Boudica

Town of Thetford
(Boudica Ward)

South West Norfolk

Thetford Burrell

TBU1 - Parish of Thetford,
Burrell (North)

Town of Thetford
(Burrell Ward)

Parish Council response: With regard to the Review of Polling Stations, it is the Parish Council’s view that the
existent use of Scarning Village Hall as the Polling Station and the school as a second option should the hall not be
available fulfils all the requirements.

None

Residents response: The Polling Station is easy to access and the building is suitable for voting purposes.

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

988

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Church of the Nazarene,
Anna Gurney Close, Croxton
Road, Thetford

936

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Thetford Church on the
Way, Churchill Road,
Thetford

2628

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Thetford St Mary`s R C
Church Hall, 73 Newtown,
Thetford

913

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Residents Response: I would like to see Redcastle Community Centre used as a polling station as lots of elderly and
disabled voters and mothers with young families find it a chore to have to corss a major road from St Martins Way to
vote in the Catholic Church Hall in Newtown. I have been told that lots of residents on that estate don't get to vote
now because of the distance from where they live, which is the furthest from any polling station in our Ward.
Councillor Response: As part of the review of Polling Districts, Polling Places and Polling Stations I'd like to submit
the following observations;
1. Residents of St Martin's Way and Canon's Walk in Thetford voted for many years at Redcastle Community Centre
(now Meet Up Cafe). This was changed to St Mary's Catholic Church at Newtown - this was not a popular decision
locally and many residents of the area affected were disappointed with the move with some opting not to vote as a Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
result. They have to walk past a polling station to go down the road to Newtown. If it can be amended so that they
other than residents of St Martins Way and
could vote at the one closer to their home then I am sure that this would be welcome.
Canon Walk moving to Polling District TBU3
2. Resident's of St Michael's Close in Thetford have expressed difficulty with travelling to Fulmerston Church which is
quite some distance away for them. Newtown would be closer for them (and nearby streets, e.g. Nunnery Drive etc)
or perhaps an additional poling station in that vicinity, St Michaels Close sheltered housing common room for
example?Just two suggestions for you to take on board.
Residents Response: I writing in regards to my current polling station. My polling station was originally at the Meet
Up Cafe. I've lived at my address on Canons Walk for twenty years and I'd always vote at said station. When it was
moved to St Marys Roman Catholic Church at Newtown, I stopped voting because of the distance from my house to
the church. I'd only make the effort and vote on general elections. I don't drive so I'd have to walk and I was on the
understanding that your polling station would be of walking distance and would be the nearest one to your home.
I'd very much appreciate it if you changed it back to the Meet Up Cafe.
Residents Response: I am sending this ;etters as Breckland Council is currently seeking the views of local residents re
the above. The Polling Station for the above address used to be at the Meet-Up Cafe. This was very convienient for
the residents on this estate as was within walking distance. I would definitley prefer to go there to vote. The Polling
Station in St Mary's Catholic Church in Newtown, which I believe has been used for the last 3 years (I went there for
the Brexit Vote) is quite a walk in comparision. In fact I got soaked to the skin when going there for the last council
vote. Therefore, if there is a chance that we can revert back to voting in the Meet-Up Cafe I would be delighted, as I
believe many others would on this estate.

South West Norfolk

Thetford Burrell

TBU2 - Parish of Thetford,
Burrell (South)

Town of Thetford
(Burrell Ward)

Fulmerston Christian
Fellowship, Fulmerston
Road, Thetford

2008

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

South West Norfolk

Thetford Burrell

TBU3 - Parish of Thetford,
Burrell (West)

Town of Thetford
(Priory Ward)

Meet Up Cafe, St Martins
Way, Thetford

479

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Thetford Priory (West) as the location is
more convenient for voters - Recommend:
Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

As Above

Recommend: Creation of an additional Polling
District TBU3, this will allow for the residents of
St Martin's Way, Canon Walk, Jubilee Close and
Saxon Bank to vote at this location. (Appendix 3)

South West Norfolk

Thetford Burrell

TBU4 - Parish of Thetford,
Burrell (South)

Town of Thetford
(Burrell Ward)

St Michaels Close
Community Room, St
Michaels Close, Thetford.

786

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District -

N/A

N/A

Recommend: Creation of an additional Polling
District TBU4, this will allow for the residents of
the St Michaels Road area to vote at this location.
(Appendix 3)

South West Norfolk

Thetford Castle

TCA1 - Parish of Thetford,
Castle (East)

Town of Thetford
(Castle Ward)

Cloverfields Church and
Community Hall, Yarrow
Close, Thetford

2513

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Thetford Castle

TCA2 - Parish of Thetford,
Castle (West)

Town of Thetford
(Castle Ward)

Carnegie Rooms, Cage Lane,
Thetford

1717

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Thetford Priory

TPR1 - Parish of Thetford,
Priory (East)

Town of Thetford
(Priory Ward)

Thetford Church Jesus Christ
of Latter Day Saints, Station
Road, Thetford

869

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on PSI & PO
information gathered over two election
periods

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Thetford Priory

TPR4 - Parish of Thetford,
Vicarage Road

Town of Thetford
(Priory Ward)

Thetford Church Jesus Christ
of Latter Day Saints, Station
Road, Thetford

625

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Thetford Priory (West) as no suitable
facility within the polling district, but
convenient to voters - Recommend: No
Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Thetford Priory

TPR2 - Parish of Thetford,
Priory (West)

Town of Thetford
(Priory Ward)

Thetford Abbey
Neighbourhood Centre,
Exeter Way, Thetford

1931

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on PSI & PO
information gathered over two election
periods

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

South West Norfolk

Thetford Priory

TPR3 - Parish of Thetford,
Priory (South)

Town of Thetford
(Priory Ward)

Meet Up Cafe, St Martins
Way, Thetford

1404

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Bawdeswell Village Hall,
Reepham Road, Bawdeswell

619

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

58

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Bawdeswell) as no suitable facility within
the polling district, but convenient to
voters - Recommend: No Change to
current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum UP1 - Parish of Bawdeswell Parish of Bawdeswell

64
Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum UP10 - Parish of Hockering

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum

Mid Norfolk

Mid Norfolk

Mid Norfolk

UP5 - Parish of Bylaugh

Bawdeswell Village Hall,
Parish of Bawdeswell
Reepham Road, Bawdeswell

Residents response: The Polling Station is easy to access and the building is suitable for voting purposes.

No Polling Station issues based on PSI & PO Parish Council response: The Parish Council feel that the Village Hall is the best location for a polling station. There
information gathered over two election
is excellent access for disabilities. The Hall is large in size, there is toilet facilities. There is a large car parking area.
periods
Residents response: The Polling Station is easy to access and is suitable for voting pruposes

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
other than residents of St Michaels Road Area
moving to Polling District TBU4.

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Parish of Hockering

Hockering Village Hall, 3
Heath Road, Hockering

588

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

UP11 - Parish of Lyng

Parish of Lyng

Lyng Village Hall, Richmond
Place, Lyng

601

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

UP13 - Parish of North
Tuddenham

Parish of North
Tuddenham

North Tuddenham New
Village Hall, Fox Lane, North
Tuddenham

262

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Upper Wensum UP14 - Parish of Sparham

Parish of Sparham

Sparham Old School Room,
Well Lane, Sparham

241

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Upper Wensum UP2 - Parish of Billingford

Parish of Billingford

Billingford Village Hall,
Bintree Road, Bintree

192

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

Parish of Foxley

Foxley Village Hall, Chapel
Road East, Foxley

257

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Foxley) as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Upper Wensum

UP3 - Parish of Bintree

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum

UP15 - Parish of Twyford

Parish of Foxley

Foxley Village Hall, Chapel
Road East, Foxley

17

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
Foxley) as no suitable facility within the
polling district, but convenient to voters Recommend: No Change to current
arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum

UP7 - Parish of Foxley

Parish of Foxley

Foxley Village Hall, Chapel
Road East, Foxley

250

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

Parish Clerk response: Both Wendling and Billingford Village Halls are within standards for voting, they are disabled
Recommend: No Change to current arrangements
friendly and have toilets.

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum

UP4 - Parish of Brisley

Parish of Brisley

Brisley Village Hall, Gateley
Road, Brisley

266

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum

UP6 - Parish of Elsing

Parish of Elsing

Elsing Village Hall, Church
Street, Elsing

218

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

North Elmham Sports
Pavilion, Holt Road, North
Elmham

62

There are no access issues , however it is
located outside of the Polling District (in
North Elmham) as no suitable facility
within the polling district, but convenient
to voters - Recommend: No Change to
current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum

UP8 - Parish of Gateley

Parish of North
Elmham

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum

UP12 - Parish of North
Elmham

Parish of North
Elmham

North Elmham Sports
Pavilion, Holt Road, North
Elmham

1053

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Upper Wensum

UP9 - Parish of Guist

Parish of Guist

Guist Village Hall,
Blacksmiths Yard, Guist

164

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Watton

WA1 - Parish of Watton
(West)

Town of Watton

Watton Christian
Community Centre, 57 High
Street, Watton

2732

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

Mid Norfolk

Watton

WA2 - Parish of Watton
(East)

Town of Watton

Watton Queens
Hall,Norwich Road, Watton

3539

There are no access issues , It is situated
within the Polling District - Recommend:
No Change to current arrangements

No Polling Station issues based on Polling
Station Inspector & Presiding Officer
comments

None

Recommend: No Change to current arrangements

65

66

67

Agenda Item 14

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance & Growth and
Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

To:

Cabinet, 13 January 2020
Full Council, 23 January 2020

Author:

Adrian Mills, Strategic Manager ARP Billing and Benefits

Subject:

Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme Review

Purpose:

To review the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2020-21

Recommend to FULL COUNCIL:
1)

That the Council retain the 8.5% benefit scheme (i.e. the maximum benefit to working age
claimants is 91.5%) and

2)

That the Council introduces a tolerance rule to the treatment of Universal Credit income in the
Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Each year the Council is required to review its Local Council Tax Reduction Support
Scheme (LCTRS). This report advises Committee about the findings of the 2019 annual
review, the consultation on these findings and the resultant proposals for the LCTRS
scheme to take effect from 1 April 2020.
Councils are required to consider whether to review their LCTRS schemes annually.
Where it is determined to retain the existing scheme for the forthcoming year this must be
decided by 11 March. Where Councils seek to amend their scheme it will be necessary to
consult preceptors and stakeholders along with a consultation to inform a final scheme
design by 28 February.
Full details to the background of this scheme and the Council’s current scheme were
presented to Cabinet on the 25 June 2019 as detailed in the following paragraphs.

1.2

Claims dependent upon Universal Credit (UC) have become increasingly apparent since
the Council entered the UC full service during summer 2018, whereby the significant
majority of new claims now go through UC and are received by the ARP through the
Universal Credit Data Sharing hub (UCDS).
UC is designed to be paid monthly, calculated on the customer’s circumstances, including
Real Time Information (RTI) earnings data from HMRC every month. Given customer’s
circumstances, especially earnings, fluctuate, this leads to monthly revised UC awards
sent to the Council by the DWP.
The existing Council Tax Support scheme rules require the Council to revise awards when
a customer’s Universal Credit changes leading to reassessment of Council Tax Support.
In turn this means customers receive a revised Council Tax bill for balance due for the
year and have to amend their payment arrangements, typically direct debit instructions.
Increasingly, this can be a monthly occurrence for customers.

68

1.3

We have seen an increase in customer contact regarding these notifications because
customers are unsure as to what they have to pay due to the requirement to re-profile
their Council Tax payments on receipt of UCDS files on a monthly basis. The uncertainty
caused toward the customer also has an impact on Council Tax collection, as well as
increased administration costs and postage associated with producing additional
notification letters.
Within the Anglia Revenues Partnership, Waveney (East Suffolk) has been in the UC Full
Service the longest, since May 2016, where we have seen a 72% increase in revised UC
awards sent to the Council. Over time we expect this pattern to continue and increase for
all the partner Councils, given full service has been rolled out nationally and UC is set to
expand.

1.4

To ease the burden on the customer, we recommend a tolerance rule is introduced into
the Council’s scheme. This would have the effect of freezing a customer’s assessment
when a revised UCDS notification would otherwise trigger a reassessment. UCDS
changes notified above the tolerance level would be processed as usual, whereas
changes within the tolerance level would not be updated, no correspondence issued to the
customer, and without amendment to Council Tax repayments.
We have analysed UCDS award notifications for the past three months. The table below
shows the level of reduction in reassessments for changes in UC banded in £5 increments
were a tolerance rule to be applied.
£5
14%

Reduction in re-assessments
1.5

£10
21%

£15
32%

£20
32%

£25
36%

We recommend a weekly tolerance level of £15 (£65 monthly) to achieve a 32% reduction
in revised Council Tax adjustments. We consider a £10, 21% reduction to be less
effective, whilst there is little to gain by increasing the tolerance level. Setting the
tolerance level at £15 equates to less than two hours employment at national minimum
hourly rates.
A relatively small tolerance level will ensure smoothing of customer’s fluctuating UC
awards and will not disadvantage those customers receiving greater or occasional
beneficial changes.
It should be noted where customer’s circumstances noticeably change, for example when
employment ceases, the tolerance rule will not apply, given the change will be greater
than £15 per week. In these circumstances the customer’s Council Tax Support will be
immediately adjusted to provide extra benefit.

1.6

It is also recommended that the changes to the Council Tax Support Scheme include
discretion to reassess entitlement where a reduction in earnings occurs and it is clear that
this level of earnings have and will be likely to continue at a lower level.

1.7

In looking at how a tolerance would apply, a typical case would currently have 12 monthly
reassessments and 12 amended Council Tax bills during the year. However, with a
tolerance rule a typical customer will only have 4 monthly reassessments and the weekly
difference in support would be £0.27p per week.

1.8

We are working with our software supplier to introduce additional functionality to enable a
tolerance rule, along with automation of these assessments.

69

1.9

This paper gained approval to undertake a statutory consultation on the changes being
proposed and stated that the results of the consultation would be reported back to
Committee once complete.

1.10

Consultation Exercise
The matters consulted on were:
To introduce a tolerance rule to the treatment of some Universal Credit (UC) monthly
awards, to provide stability to customers who are having to alter their Council Tax
repayments.
The consultation commenced Monday 28 October 2019 and concluded on Sunday 8
December 2019. As the changes proposed were relatively small, a six week consultation
was considered appropriate.
The Consultation was available on the Council’s and Anglia Revenues Partnership
websites with, in addition, in an attempt to get as much interest as possible, everyone on
the Council’s Register of Consultees that had expressed an interest in ‘corporate issues’
and the consultees on a list provided by ARP being notified direct where to find the
consultation document. The consultation was further discussed at a Benefits Stakeholder
liaison meeting held by the Anglia Revenues Partnership at Thetford on the 7th October
2019 and a separate letter sent to major Preceptors.

1.11

Consultation Results
Stakeholders at the liaison meeting did not express any concerns with the proposed
change; we have not received any direct responses.
o
o
o
o
o

Twenty-one individual responses were received to the wider consultation, of whom
just two respondents receive UC.
Fifteen (71%) of the twenty-one responses supported the proposed change, with
three disagreeing and three not sure.
Eleven respondents agreed that a £15 weekly tolerance level would be right, with 10
disagreeing, suggesting changes should be implemented immediately, as now, or
based on yearly position.
The response to the Council retaining discretion not to apply the tolerance rule,
when it is discovered a single change had occurred throughout the year, was split
50/50.
Sixteen respondents live in the Breckland area.

1.12

Conclusion
The consultation exercise resulted in a positive response to the concept of a tolerance
rule, albeit some respondents suggested different monetary levels. However, given 71%
were in approval and that our proposal will smooth the customer impact of monthly UC
fluctuating awards, as detailed above, Members are asked to recommend to Full Council
at its meeting planned for the 23 January 2020, to adopt the changes detailed in the
recommendations.

2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

That the Council retain the 8.5% benefit scheme (i.e. the maximum benefit to working age
claimants is 91.5%) and that the Council introduces a tolerance rule to the treatment of
Universal Credit income in the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme.

2.2

Do not make the proposed changes to the LCTRS scheme.

70

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

As required, the Council has completed its annual review of the LCTRS scheme it
operates and has identified improvements that will both help claimants and the Council
reduce the amount of administration and improve clarity within the current scheme.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

The changes made to the current scheme have worked well – introducing a tolerance rule
for the treatment of UC awards will reduce the number of notifications customers receive
to amend their Council Tax payments, and provide stability for customer repayments
whilst reducing customer contact.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other.
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of
these headings, these are identified below.

5.1
5.1.1

Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
The existing LCTRS scheme continues the DWP’s previous Council Tax Benefit scheme
conventions established over many years, regarding protections for vulnerable groups,
including children, the disabled and the Armed Forces.

5.1.2

An Equality Impact Assessment (INRA) is not required.

5.2
5.2.1

Financial
The recommendations in this paper will not have a material impact on the Council Tax
collected by the Council, and as the recommendation is to leave the non-relief discount at
8.5% this is not considered significant.

5.3
5.3.1

Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
Information on the consultation is included within the report.

6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

All wards and communities.

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6

DWP – Department for Work & Pensions
HMRC – Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs
LCTRS - Local Council Tax Reduction Support Scheme
RTI – Real Time Information
UC – Universal Credit
UCDS - Universal Credit Data Sharing hub

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer

71

Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

Adrian Mills, Strategic Manager ARP Billing and Benefits
07984 255437
Adrian.mills@angliarevenues.gov.uk

Key Decision:

Yes / No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service
Appendices attached to this report: None

72

Agenda Item 15

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
Report of:

Cllr Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance & Growth and Christine
Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

To:

Full Council, 23 January 2020

Author:

Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

Subject:

Update of the Anglia Revenues Partnership Agreement

Purpose:

To consider the updated Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP) Agreement
following the change in ARP Membership following the abolishment of four
member authorities and the creation of two new member authorities in their
place on 1 April 2019 and to update other approved changes in the
partnership agreement.

Recommendation(s):
1)

That Full Council approves the revised ARP Partnership agreement at Appendix 1 to have
effect from 1 April 2019.

1.0

BACKGROUND

1.1

Following the exercise of powers by the Secretary of State, with effect from 1 April 2019
two new non-metropolitan districts and councils were established for East Suffolk and
West Suffolk respectively and Suffolk Coastal, Waveney District, Forest Heath District and
St Edmundsbury Borough Councils were abolished. These councils form part of the
Anglia Revenues Partnership (ARP). Provisions within the Orders and Regulations mean
that the ARP could have continued under the existing 2015 agreement, however ARP
took the opportunity to update the agreement to reflect the new councils, changes
approved since the 2015 agreement was signed and a review to ensure the agreement
remains fit for purpose moving forward.

1.2

This revised agreement at Appendix 1 has been reviewed and approved by the ARP Joint
Committee (17 December 2019) and now needs to be considered by each individual
partner authority to allow the agreement to be signed and sealed by the 5 partners.

1.3

Review of Partnership Agreement
Through consultation with the ARP Operational Improvement Board and the ARP Joint
Committee, the 2015 ARP Agreement was reviewed and updated to reflect the current
ARP operations. The overarching principals of the agreement and the decision making
provisions within the agreement have not changed, the areas of change were:
 Updated to reflect the abolishment of the four councils and the creation of the 2 new
councils.
 Updated quoracy and proxy arrangements to reflect that there are now 5 partners
rather than 7.
 Updated generally to reflect the agreement is now between 5 partners rather than 7.
 Updated to ensure the agreement reflects any delegations approved by Joint
Committee and the partner councils between 2015 & 2019.
 Administrative tidying, such as: updating the budget shares to 2019 approved
values, updating to reference GDPR, legislation updates for Joint Committee

73

services, removal of the need for all Chief Executives to agree to a review of the
ARP agreement, clarity on the provision & roles relating to the audit process and
ensuring the ARP Enforcement Agency is now included.
2.0

OPTIONS

2.1

That Full Council approves the revised ARP Partnership agreement at Appendix A to have
effect from 1 April 2019.

2.2

That Full Council does not approve the revised ARP Partnership agreement at Appendix
A to have effect from 1 April 2019.

3.0

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1

The revised agreement will meet the requirements of all partner Councils creating a new
equitable partnership and ensuring that the partnership agreement is up to date.

4.0

EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1

to ensure that the partnership agreement reflects the current ARP operations, legislation,
partner councils and is fit for purpose moving forward.

5.0

IMPLICATIONS
In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection;
Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk
Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Other.
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more of
these headings, these are identified below.

5.2
5.2.1

Constitution & Legal
A revised partnership agreement clarifies the continuation of arrangements now that the
new Councils mergers are complete.

5.5
5.5.1

Financial
The revised agreement includes the current approved budgets for the partnership.

5.6
Risk Management
5.11.1 If there is not agreement between all partners as to the proposed course of action, this
could undermine the wider performance and decision making of the partnership.
5.7
Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.14.1 This revised agreement has been considered and reviewed and approved by the ARP
Operational Improvement Board and the ARP Joint Committee.
6.0

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1

N/A

7.0

ACRONYMS

7.1

ARP – Anglia Revenues Partnership

74

Background papers:Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post:
Telephone Number:
Email:

ARP Joint Committee, 17 September 2019

Paul Corney, Head of ARP and Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
01842 756437 and 01362 656865
paul.corney@angliarevenues.gov.uk and
alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision:

No

Exempt Decision:

No

This report refers to Mandatory Service & Discretionary Services
Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix 1
Anglia Revenues Partnership Revised Agreement

75

Appendix 1
DATED

2019

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
and
EAST CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
and
FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL
and
WEST SUFFOLK COUNCIL
and
EAST SUFFOLK COUNCIL

_______________________________________________________
AGREEMENT FOR THE RECONSTITUTION
OF THE ANGLIA REVENUES PARTNERSHIP
_______________________________________________________

76

CONTENTS
Clause

Subject matter

1.
2.
3.

INTERPRETATION .............................................................................................................4
THE 2015 JOINT COMMITTEE ........................................................................................10
THE 2015 JOINT COMMITTEE, ITS ROLE, MEMBERSHIP, MEETINGS AND OFFICERS
.......................................................................................................................................... 11
HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY ......................................................................................17
ARP MANAGEMENT TEAM AND OPERATIONAL IMPROVEMENT BOARD ................17
FINANCE, BUDGETING AND AUDIT...............................................................................19
EMPLOYEES OF THE ARP..............................................................................................22
ARP PREMISES, ASSETS, CONTRACTS AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ..............25
INDEMNITIES INSURANCE AND LIABILITIES AND CONDUCT OF CLAIMS................26
COMMENCEMENT AND TERMINATION ........................................................................30
REVIEW OF AGREEMENT ..............................................................................................32
EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES................................................................................................33
CONFIDENTIALITY ..........................................................................................................33
DATA PROTECTION AND FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ............................................34
WAIVER AND SEVERABILITY .........................................................................................36
ENTIRE AGREEMENT .....................................................................................................36
EXTENT OF OBLIGATIONS AND FURTHER ASSURANCE...........................................36
NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY....................................................................................37
CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 ...............................................37
VARIATIONS.....................................................................................................................37
PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION/BRIBERY ...................................................................37
MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION.....................................................................................38
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING .......................................................................39
GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT ......................................................................39
NOTICES ..........................................................................................................................40
COSTS .............................................................................................................................. 41

4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.

Page

77

THIS AGREEMENT is made the

day of

2019

BETWEEN
(1)

BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL of Elizabeth House Walpole Loke Dereham
Norfolk NR19 1EE (“Breckland”) of the first part

(2)

EAST CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL of The Grange Nutholt Lane Ely
Cambridgeshire CB7 4EE (“East Cambridgeshire”) of the second part and

(3)

FENLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL of Fenland Hall County Road March PE15 8NQ
(“Fenland”) of the third part

(4)

WEST SUFFOLK COUNCIL of West Suffolk House Western Way Bury St Edmunds
Suffolk IP33 3YU (“West Suffolk of the fourthpart

(5)

EAST

SUFFOLK

COUNCIL

of

East

Suffolk

House,

Station

Road,

Melton,Woodbridge Suffolk IP12 1RTU (“East Suffolk”) of the fifth part
Together referred to as the ‘Five Councils’
RECITALS
(i)

The parties hereto have entered into this Agreement having recognised that
significant efficiency and financial gains can be made by working together to
deliver revenues and benefits services in partnership thereby enabling them to
secure administrative advantages and economies of scale and to provide a
robust and flexible service to their councils.

(ii)

On the 01 April 2015 Breckland District Council, Fenland District Council, East
Cambridgeshire District Council, Forest Heath District Council, St Edmundsbury
Borough Council, Suffolk Coastal District Council and Waveney District Council
(then referred to as the Seven Authorities) being duly empowered to do so under
their constitutional arrangements and by law in force at the time agreed to form
a joint committee (“the 2015 Joint Committee”) pursuant to Section 101 (5) and
Section 102 of the LGA 1972, Section 20 of the LGA 2000 and the 2000
Regulations and 2012 Regulations.

2
78

(iii)

On the 01 April 2019 Forest Heath District Council and St Edmundsbury
Borough Council were abolished and a new non-metropolitan district council,
West Suffolk Council, was created by virtue of the West Suffolk (Local
Government Changes) Order 2018.

(iv)

On the 01 April 2019 Suffolk Coastal District Council and Waveney District
Council were abolished and a new non-metropolitan district council, East Suffolk
Council, was created by virtue of the East Suffolk (Local Government Changes)
Order 2018.

(v)

On the 01 April 2019 the functions of the abolished councils referred to in recitals
(iii) and (iv) above became the functions of the new district councils by virtue of
the Local Government (Boundary Changes) Regulations 2018 and the Seven
Councils referred to in all arrangements for the creation of the 2015 Joint
Committee will mean the Five Councils referred to in this Agreement.

(vi)

The 2015 Joint Committee was created for the purpose of:
(a) Jointly managing the administration and performance of the Five Councils’
respective statutory functions relating to the collection of council tax and nondomestic rates and the payment of housing and other relevant benefits;
(b) To establish a joint operational unit known as the Anglia Revenues
Partnership (“ARP”) under the control and management of the 2015 Joint
Committee to provide the Five Councils with such services (“the JC
Services);
(c) To enter into a Reconstitution Agreement to regulate the constitution and
proceedings of the 2015 Joint Committee and the relationships between the
Five Councils and between each of the Five Councils and the 2015 Joint
Committee and the future operation and funding of the ARP and making
provision for:1.

the constitution, meetings, officers and funding of the 2015 Joint
Committee;

2.

the transfer to the control and management of the 2015 Joint
Committee the existing ARP.

79

3

.
(vii)

This Reconstitution Agreement will for all intents and purposes replace the
Reconstitution Agreement made between the Seven Councils on the 10
September 2015 subject to the 2015 Joint Committee which will continue to
remain in effect from 00.01 hours on the 01 April 2015.

(viii)

The Five Councils have pursuant to Section 95 of the LGA 2003 formed a wholly
owned company limited by shares registered under the Companies Acts (“ARP
Trading Limited”) for the purpose of them being in a position to jointly trade
commercially in their functional activities in respect of the JC Services.

(ix)

The Five Councils have mutually exchanged information concerning their
performance of their statutory functions within the definition of the JC Services
(including financial reports and audit reports in respect of the previous two
Financial Years together with other independent reports and assessments
relevant to such performance).

NOW THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES:

1.

INTERPRETATION

1.1

In this Agreement:
“Accountancy Protocol”
means the Budget Policies and Procedures at Schedule 3 of this
Agreement
“Action Plan”
means a written plan agreed by the Five Councils under Clause 10.3;
“ADR Notice”
means a notice given pursuant to Clause 22.2;
“Alternative Business Structure”

4
80

means for the purposes of this Agreement, further Joint Committee
partnership;

limited

company;

Arms

Length

Management

Organisations; or such business vehicles that may be available for
the running and management of local authority services.
“ARP”
means the operational unit entitled the Anglia Revenues Partnership
controlled and managed by the 2015 Joint Committee pursuant to this
Agreement;
“ARP Management Team”
means the working group of senior employees of the ARP established by
the 2015 Joint Committee pursuant to Clause 5.1;
“ARP Trading Limited”
means the company limited by shares of which the Five Councils are
equal shareholders pursuant to Section 95 of the LGA 2003;
“The Chair”
means the person who is the Chair of the 2015 Joint Committee from time
to time elected under Clause 3.13;
“Commencement Date”
means the 1st April 2019 when West Suffolk and East Suffolk Councils
were created;
“DPA and GDPR”
means the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection
Regulation;
“DWP”

81

5

means the Department of Works and Pensions
“Employment Costs”
means all salaries, wages, sick pay, holiday pay, pension contributions,
bonuses, commission, maternity, paternity and adoption pay, redundancy
pay, expenses (including, but not limited to travel and subsistence
allowances and disturbance pay), tribunal awards or pre dispute
resolution settlements income and other taxes, national insurance
contributions and levies of any kind for which an employer is accountable
and all other normal employment costs;
“Financial Year”
means a period of one year commencing on 1st April in any year and
ending on 31st March in the next following year;
“FOIA”
means the Freedom of Information Act 2000
“Five Councils”
means together the parties hereto;
“JC Member”
means a member of the 2015 Joint Committee appointed in accordance
with Clause 3.1;
“JC Services”
means the functions and services listed respectively in Part I and Part II
of Schedule 1 of this Agreement;
“LGA 1972”
means the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended);

6
82

“LGA 2000”
means the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended);
“LGA 2003”
means the Local Government Act 2003 (as amended);
“2015 Joint Committee”
means the joint committee formed by the Seven Councils and now the
Five Councils pursuant to the resolutions of the Five Councils to that
effect pursuant to the terms of this Agreement;
“Operational Improvement Board”
means the working group of senior employees from ARP and the Five
Councils established by the 2015 Joint Committee pursuant to Clause 5.4;
“Review Report”
means a report referred to in Clause 11.1;
“Secretary”
means the Secretary of the 2015 Joint Committee for the time being
appointed pursuant to Clause 3.21;
“Service Delivery Plan”
means the document agreed by the 2015 Joint Committee on an annual
basis regarding service standards;
“Statement of Intent”
means the Statement produced under Clause 10.4.1 setting out the
reasons of the Council producing it for intending to serve a notice of
withdrawal under Clause 10.3;
“Support Services”

83

7

means any service required to support the operations of the ARP
including but not limited to human resources finance ICT internal audit
procurement and legal;
“2000 Regulations”
means the Local Authorities (Arrangement for the Discharge of
Functions) (England) Regulations 2000 (S.I. 2000 No. 2851) as amended
by the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of Functions)
(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2001 (S.I. 2001 No.3961);
“2012 Regulations”
means the Local Authorities (Arrangements for the Discharge of
Functions (England) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012 No. 1019);
“Treasurer”
means the officer appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the 2015
Joint Committee pursuant to Clause 3.22;
“TUPE”
means the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment)
Regulations 2006 as amended;
“Value for Money Objectives”
means the responsibility incumbent upon all councils to ensure that
taxpayers’ money is spent responsibly balancing the need for high quality
service delivery with the need to reduce costs;
“Vice-Chair”
means the person who is the Vice-Chair of the 2015 Joint Committee
elected from time to time under Clause 3.13;
“Working Days”

8
84

means Monday to Friday (9am – 5pm Monday to Thursday and 9am to
4.30pm Friday), with the exception of public holidays in England.

1.2

In this Agreement (unless the context requires otherwise):

1.2.1

references to Clauses Schedules and Paragraphs are to the clauses Schedules
and paragraphs of this Agreement. Any reference to a sub-clause or a subparagraph is to the relevant sub-clause or sub-paragraph of the Clause or
Schedule in which it appears;

1.2.2

the table of contents and headings are not part of this Agreement and are not to
be taken into account in the interpretation of this Agreement;

1.2.3

the use of the masculine gender alone includes the feminine and neuter genders
and the singular includes the plural and vice versa;

1.2.4

references to legislation (including subsidiary legislation) determinations and
directions include all amendments replacements or re-enactments thereof and all
regulations determinations directions and statutory guidance made or given under
them save that the treatment under this Agreement of any such amendment or
modification that imposes any new or extended obligation or liability adversely
affecting the parties or any of them shall be determined by the 2015 Joint
Committee after consultation with the Five Councils;

1.2.5

any reference to a requirement for “consent” or “approval” shall be taken to be
the prior written consent or approval of the relevant person or body;

1.2.6

the terms “including” and “in particular” are illustrative only and are not intended
and shall not limit the meaning of the relevant words that precede them;

1.2.7

the term “persons” means individuals, companies, industrial and provident
societies, limited liability partnerships, statutory bodies, or other bodies with a
legal personality and includes H.M. Government, Government Departments, and
the European Union and its constituent parts.

1.3

The Schedules to this Agreement are to have effect as if set out in full in the body
of this Agreement and references to this Agreement include the Schedules.

85

9

2.
2.1

THE 2015 JOINT COMMITTEE
Each of the Five Councils agree that the 2015 Joint Committee shall have all the
powers of Breckland, East Cambridgeshire, Fenland, West Suffolk and East
Suffolk (with effect from the Commencement Date) over the finances made
available by Her Majesty’s Government the European Union and other sources of
finance to each of the Five Councils in relation to or in respect of the establishment,
maintenance and development of the JC Services.

2.2

Each of the Five Councils hereby warrants that it shall not do nor omit to neither
do nor permit to be done anything that prevents or inhibits or seeks to prevent or
inhibit the 2015 Joint Committee from carrying out all or any of the JC Services.

2.3

Each of the Five Councils shall at all times co-operate with each other and shall
work within the spirit of openness, honesty, trust, and with a co-operative approach
in respect of each of the others of the Five Councils and with the 2015 Joint
Committee.

2.4

Each of the Five Councils hereby agrees that it will make to the Treasurer of the
2015 Joint Committee such payments as are provided by this Agreement in full in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement and shall meet such liabilities and
carry out such obligations in respect of the establishment, maintenance and
proceedings of the 2015 Joint Committee and of the operation of the ARP as may
be provided by this Agreement or may be determined in accordance with the terms
of this Agreement.

2.5

The 2015 Joint Committee and the Five Councils shall keep under review (having
regard to each of the Five Councils’ Value for Money Objectives) whether the
performance of the JC Services should continue to be managed through the 2015
Joint Committee and may decide to consider and agree alternative mechanisms
for the performance of the JC Services.

2.6

Where any of the Five Councils considers that its Value for Money Objectives
require it to do so it shall have the right (after consultation with the others of the
Five Councils and the 2015 Joint Committee) to make other arrangements for the
performance of any of its statutory functions within the JC Services provided that
to do so shall not be inconsistent with its obligations under this Agreement.

86

10

3.

THE 2015 JOINT COMMITTEE, ITS ROLE, MEMBERSHIP, MEETINGS AND
OFFICERS
Joint Committee Members

3.1

Subject to Clause 3.2 each of the Five Councils shall appoint one of its members
for the time being to be a member of the 2015 Joint Committee. In addition each
of the Five Councils shall appoint two substitutes, who may attend meetings of the
2015 Joint Committee in the absence of their Council’s JC Members.

3.2

All such appointments (whether made under Clause 3.1 or 3.4) shall be made in
accordance with the relevant statutory provisions of Sections 101 and 102 of the
LGA 1972 and of the 2000 Regulations or 2012 Regulations, as they may from
time to time be applicable to each of the Five Councils.

3.3

Each JC Member shall remain in office until removed or replaced by his or her
appointing Council or until ceasing to be a member of his or her appointing Council
(or of the executive if Regulation 12 of the 2012 Regulations is applicable to his or
her appointment).

3.4

Each of the Five Councils may remove and replace its JC Members at any time by
giving notice of such removal or replacement to the 2015 Joint Committee by
sending such notice to the Secretary within 5 days of effecting such removal or
replacement.

3.5

The proceedings of the 2015 Joint Committee shall not be invalidated by any
vacancy or by any defect or purported defect in the appointment of any JC
Member.
Meetings of the 2015 Joint Committee

3.6

Part I of Schedule 12 of the LGA 1972 and the provisions of Clauses 3.7 to 3.17
shall apply to meetings of the 2015 Joint Committee.

3.7

Meetings of the 2015 Joint Committee shall normally be held once each quarter,
subject to the need exceptionally to call additional meetings.

87

11

The Chair shall

decide the venue, date and time of all meetings of the 2015 Joint Committee.
Wherever practicable, at least ten Working Days notice of such meetings shall be
given to each JC Member, the Secretary, the Treasurer, the Monitoring Officer and
to each of the Five Councils.
3.8

Any JC Member may requisition a meeting of the 2015 Joint Committee by giving
notice of such requisition to the Chair and to the Secretary. Immediately upon
receipt of such requisition, the Chair shall call a meeting of the 2015 Joint
Committee in accordance with Clause 3.7.

3.9

The standing orders applicable to council meetings of Breckland shall apply to
meetings of the 2015 Joint Committee except in so far as the 2015 Joint
Committee may agree amendments thereto or may adopt its own standing orders.
All recommendations taken to the 2015 Joint Committee shall be voted upon and
the majority shall prevail. Please refer to Clause 3.17 should an equality of votes
arise.

3.10

No business may be transacted at a meeting of the 2015 Joint Committee unless
a quorum is present. The quorum for a meeting of the 2015 Joint Committee shall
be four JC Members or their substitute present in person. In the unlikely event
that a JC Member or one of their substitutes is unable to attend a meeting of the
2015 Joint Committee a proxy arrangement may be agreed between the affected
party and the remaining parties to this Agreement and a named member of the
affected party may attend as such proxy. A substitute member or proxy member
will count towards a quorum but will be unable to chair the meeting nor to vote on
any issues. If the meeting is quorate but, upon considering an item brought to the
Joint Committee the Chair determines (in consultation with the other Joint
Committee members present) that it would be appropriate for all five JC Members
(or their substitute) to be present, the item shall be deferred until the next meeting
of the 2015 Joint Committee and a request shall be made for all five JC Members
to be present or represented at that meeting.

3.11

If a quorum is not present within fifteen minutes of the time set for the
commencement of a meeting of the 2015 Joint Committee (or a quorum ceases to
be present during a meeting) the meeting shall be adjourned to the same day time

88

12

and venue seven days later or to such other date time and venue as the Chair (or
other person who is chairing the meeting) shall determine.
3.12

One of the meetings of the 2015 Joint Committee referred to in Clause 3.7 shall
be held during May or June of each calendar year and shall be the annual meeting
of the 2015 Joint Committee at which the election of the Chair and Vice-Chair of
the 2015 Joint Committee shall take place together with such other business as
may be appropriate in the opinion of the outgoing Chair.
Chair and Vice-Chair

3.13

The 2015 Joint Committee shall at each annual meeting elect a new Chair and a
new Vice-Chair to hold office for the next ensuing year. The persons eligible to
be elected as Chair shall not be the appointees of a Council whose appointee held
that position in any of the four previous years. The persons eligible to be elected
as Vice-Chair shall not be the appointees of a Council whose appointee held that
position in the previous year. The Chair and Vice-Chair shall not be appointees of
the same Council.

3.14

The Chair or Vice-Chair may be removed by a majority vote of all JC Members
present at a meeting of the 2015 Joint Committee subject to the Chair or the Vice
Chair being given the opportunity to address the meeting before the vote is taken
to put his or her case why he or she should not be removed.

3.15

If the Chair or the Vice-Chair is removed by a vote of the 2015 Joint Committee or
resigns or is otherwise unable to continue as Chair or Vice Chair he or she may
be replaced by the election of a JC Member as Chair or Vice-Chair as the case
may be who is the appointee of the same Council as the outgoing Chair or ViceChair.

3.16

The Chair shall preside at all meetings of the 2015 Joint Committee. If the Chair
is not present within five minutes of the time for the commencement of a meeting,
or being present does not wish to preside, or is unable to do so then the Vice-Chair
shall preside at that meeting. If (in the event of the absence or non-availability of
the Chair) the Vice-Chair is not present within five minutes of the time for the
commencement of the meeting or does not wish to preside or is unable to do so,
the meeting shall appoint a JC Member to chair the meeting.

89

13

3.17

In the event of an equality of votes the person chairing a meeting of the 2015 Joint
Committee shall have a second or casting vote.
Responsibilities of the Chair and Vice-Chair

3.18

The responsibilities of the Chair are as follows: -

3.18.1 to act as an ambassador for the 2015 Joint Committee and to represent the views
of the 2015 Joint Committee to the general public and other organisations;
3.18.2 to seek to ensure that the meetings of the 2015 Joint Committee are conducted
efficiently;
3.18.3 to give all JC Members and/or their substitutes/proxy an opportunity to express
their views;
3.18.4 to establish a constructive working relationship with, and to provide support for,
any sub-committees or officers of the 2015 Joint Committee or of the ARP to
whom the 2015 Joint Committee have delegated any of its powers and functions;
3.18.5 to encourage the 2015 Joint Committee to delegate sufficient authority to officers
of the 2015 Joint Committee or of the ARP to enable the statutory functions within
the provision of the JC Services to be carried out efficiently between meetings of
the 2015 Joint Committee;
3.18.6 to ensure that the 2015 Joint Committee monitors and controls the use of
delegated powers.
3.19

The role of the Vice-Chair is to deputise for the Chair during any period of the
Chair’s absence and during that period his or her responsibilities shall be the same
as those of the Chair.

3.20

Except as provided by this Agreement neither the Chair nor the Vice-Chair has
any authority or powers beyond those of any other JC Member.
Officers of the 2015 Joint Committee
(i) Secretary

3.21

The Secretary of the 2015 Joint Committee shall be the officer for the time being
designated by the 2015 Joint Committee.

The Secretary shall be responsible for

the recording of the minutes of all meetings of the 2015 Joint Committee and for

90

14

the circulation of draft minutes to each JC Member within five days of each meeting
and responsible for the sending out of all notices and agendas of meetings.
Minutes and records of the meetings of the 2015 Joint Committee shall be
maintained by the Secretary in accordance with the requirements of the LGA 1972.
(ii) Treasurer
3.22

The Treasurer of the 2015 Joint Committee shall be appointed by the 2015 Joint
Committee at each annual meeting for the next ensuing year from the Five
Councils.

The Treasurer as the Chief Financial Officer of the 2015 Joint

Committee shall perform the functions of the relevant officer responsible for the
administration of the financial affairs of the 2015 Joint Committee under Section
151 of the LGA 1972, Part VIII of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 and the
Local Government (Accounts and Audit) Regulations 2003.
The Treasurer shall also perform the role of the accounting officer in respect of all
funds held on account for or paid to the Five Councils or any of them by Her
Majesty’s Government the European Union or other sources of finance for any
purposes of the JC Services and to make or provide all appropriate banking and
accounting arrangements and services required for the due and proper receipt,
holding and application of such funds in accordance with the requirements of Her
Majesty’s Government and in accordance with best practice.
(iv) Legal Advice and Services in Respect of the Constitution and
Governance of the 2015 Joint Committee
3.23

Legal advice and services as detailed in Schedule 4 of this Agreement should be
sought from the Head of Legal Services or equivalent for the time being of one of
the Five Councils or, where the ARP Management Team considers it appropriate,
and on the advice of a Head of Legal Services or equivalent of the Five Councils,
from external legal sources on specialist matters, or in the event that a conflict of
interest may arise or has arisen. Where the use of legal advice and services from
an external source is required, the 2015 Joint Committee shall be required to
approve the use of such external legal sources and their proposed fees for
providing such legal advice and services. The precise manner in which such
advice and services will be provided shall be the subject of a separate agreement
between the Five Councils.

91

15

The Role of the 2015 Joint Committee
3.24

The Role of the 2015 Joint Committee is to discharge the Five Council’s statutory
functions in respect of the JC Services including to: -

3.24.1 approve the Service Delivery Plan for each Financial Year including the approval
of staffing requirements to be met by the Five Councils;
3.24.2 approve the annual budget for the 2015 Joint Committee and the ARP;
3.24.3 approve the annual report of the 2015 Joint Committee and the ARP;
3.24.4 monitor expenditure and income of the 2015 Joint Committee and the ARP against
the agreed annual budget;
3.24.5 set progress and performance targets for the JC Services, approve the Service
Delivery Plan for the performance of such Services and monitor and review the
performance of such Services against such targets and delivery plan;
3.24.6 recommend to the Five Councils any amendment of the terms of reference of the
2015 Joint Committee or of this Agreement;
3.24.7 regularly review and update the ARP Health and Safety Policy having particular
regard to any amendments required by reason of a change of law which Policy
the Five Councils shall have developed as soon as is practicable following the
entering into of this Agreement;
3.24.8 appoint one or more sub-committees of the 2015 Joint Committee (in accordance
with Regulation 11(4) of the 2000 Regulations) as it may consider to be required
and to delegate specific functions to such sub-committees. Any sub-committee
shall comprise a majority of JC Members (one of whom shall chair the subcommittee) but may include non-JC Members (namely from the membership of
the Five Councils) and the 2015 Joint Committee shall determine terms of
reference of each sub-committee the term of office of each sub-committee
member and the quorum for meetings of each sub-committee and the financial
limits within which it shall operate;
3.24.9 delegate specific functions to officers of the 2015 Joint Committee or of the ARP
in accordance with the provisions of Section 101 of the LGA 1972 and Regulation
11(4) of the 2000 Regulations.

92

16

4.

HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY

4.1

The Five Councils shall through the 2015 Joint Committee regularly review and
update an ARP Health and Safety Policy having particular regard to any
amendments required by reason of a change of law.

5.

ARP MANAGEMENT TEAM AND OPERATIONAL IMPROVEMENT BOARD
ARP Management Team

5.1

The 2015 Joint Committee has established a working group of ARP senior
employees to be known as the ARP Management Team.

5.2

The members of the ARP Management Team shall continue to comprise the
following officers of the ARP: The Head of ARP
The Strategic Manager (Billing and Benefits)
The Strategic Manager (Revenues)
The Strategic Manager (Support)
and such other officers of ARP as the 2015 Joint Committee may decide.

5.3

The responsibilities of the ARP Management Team shall be to: -

5.3.1

manage the performance of the JC Services so as to ensure, so far as is possible
and practicable, the delivery of such Services in accordance with the Service
Delivery Plan and the progress and performance targets for the JC Services set
by the 2015 Joint Committee pursuant to Clause 3.25.5;

5.3.2

review the JC Services following a subsidy reclaim made by the DWP and in the
event of such reclaim from the DWP or equivalent body to review the matter to
which the reclaim relates and determine whether in the circumstances of the case
the payment of the reclaimed amount shall be shared in accordance with the
agreed percentages payable by the Five Councils for the period of subsidy
reclaim;

5.3.3

report to the 2015 Joint Committee meetings on the progress and performance of
the services provided by the ARP in connection with the provision of the JC

93

17

Services against the Service Delivery Plan and the progress and performance
targets set by the 2015 Joint Committee pursuant to Clause 3.25.5;
5.3.4

strive to ensure that the services provided by the ARP are delivered equitably
between the Five Councils, so far as may be practicable;

5.3.5

prepare and submit to the 2015 Joint Committee for its approval on or before 31st
December in each year an annual budget, and annual Service Delivery Plan for
the next Financial Year;

5.3.6

report to the 2015 Joint Committee on the income and expenditure of the ARP
against the approved budget;

5.3.7

seek to ensure so far as is practicable that the JC Services are provided within
the budget (to include the allocation of new burdens funding) approved by the
2015 Joint Committee and to notify the 2015 Joint Committee of any material
divergence from the annual budget and the reasons therefore;

5.3.8

recommend to the 2015 Joint Committee the resources (including staffing
resources) required to provide the JC Services to the requisite performance
standards and any changes required in such resources to maintain such
performance standards;

5.3.9

make appropriate recommendations to the 2015 Joint Committee on any matter
of relevance to the business of the 2015 Joint Committee and of the ARP.
Operational Improvement Board

5.4

The 2015 Joint Committee has established an Operational Improvement Board.

5.5

The members of the Operational Improvement Board shall continue to be a
working group of senior employees from ARP and the Five Councils as established
by the 2015 Joint Committee.

5.6

The Operational Improvement Board shall meet monthly and report to the 2015
Joint Committee.

5.7

The responsibilities of the Operational Improvement Board shall be to:-

5.7.1

clarify service standards/levels provided by the ARP on behalf of each of the Five
Councils in particular:5.7.1.1

interface with client services;

94

18

5.7.1.2

performance management requirements;

and ensure a clear relationship between the ARP and client services in terms of
areas of responsibility and fairness of cost/benefit arising;
5.7.2

shape future services both for each of the Five Councils and the ARP by
identifying issues and prioritisation of them by the ARP management;

5.7.3

provide a basis to resolve problems and improve service incrementally over time;

5.7.4

where no Support Service arrangements have been agreed, or where it is deemed
time to review the existing Support Service arrangements, decide how on going
Support Service arrangement should be provided for ARP and

5.7.5

receive reports on specific employee Employments Costs.

5.7.6

consider and agree any future spending in respect of additional funding

6.

FINANCE, BUDGETING AND AUDIT
Finance – Budgets

6.1

The budget for the provision of the JC Services on behalf of the Five Councils for
the Financial Year 2019/20 set out in Schedule 2 has been approved by the Five
Councils.

6.2

A draft budget for each Financial Year subsequent to 2019/20 shall be prepared
by the ARP Management Team in collaboration with the Heads of Finance and
Chief Finance Officers (or equivalent) of the Five Councils respectively and
submitted to the Treasurer for consideration. The draft budget shall be based upon
the budget for the previous Financial Year updated for any anticipated changes
considered necessary and shall take account of the information in Schedule 3,
paragraph 2.1

6.3

The draft budget shall also have appended to it a Schedule detailing the payments
estimated to be required to be made by each of the Five Councils during the
relevant Financial Year.

6.4

After being considered by the Treasurer, the draft budget shall be submitted to the
2015 Joint Committee for approval and thereafter submitted to each of the Five
Councils so as to be received by them by no later than 31st December in each
year.

95

19

6.5

Any comments of the Five Councils on the draft budget shall be submitted to the
ARP Management Team who shall report to the 2015 Joint Committee the
comments of each of the Five Councils and the effect thereof and the 2015 Joint
Committee shall, having taken such comments and the report of the ARP
Management Team into consideration, decide whether or not to approve the draft
budget whether in the original or an amended form.

6.6

If the 2015 Joint Committee approves the draft budget (whether or not as
amended) it shall become the approved budget for the relevant Financial Year and
a copy of the approved budget shall be submitted to each of the Five Councils.

6.7

If the 2015 Joint Committee fails to approve a budget for the relevant Financial
Year the process referred to in Clauses 6.2 to 6.6 shall be repeated in an attempt
to secure an approved budget as soon as possible and in the meantime the JC
Services shall be provided on the basis of the approved budget for the previous
Financial Year with such amendment as the 2015 Joint Committee may determine.

6.8

In the event that the budget for the current Financial Year requires amendment to
meet any overspend or increase in the costs of the provision of the JC Services
by the ARP for that year, the ARP Management Team shall report thereon to the
2015 Joint Committee.

If the 2015 Joint Committee agrees that the budget

requires amendment it shall notify the Five Councils thereof and of the proposed
amendments to the budget and of any increased payments it proposes that should
be required from the Five Councils. The 2015 Joint Committee shall consider any
comments on the proposals and determine whether or not and how the budget
shall be amended and the amount of any additional payment required to be made
by each of the Five Councils to meet the overspend or increase in the ARP’s costs.
6.9

The ARP Management Team shall report as soon as practicable to the 2015 Joint
Committee on any deficit or surplus arising during the current or immediately
preceding Financial Year as compared with the approved budget. Any such deficit
shall be met or any such surplus shall be dispersed by reference to the
Accountancy Protocol.
Payments to be made by the Five Councils

96

20

6.10

The Five Councils shall in each Financial Year each pay to the funds of the 2015
Joint Committee sums in respect of the expenses of the 2015 Joint Committee
and the costs of provision of the JC Services on behalf of each of them by the
ARP.

6.11

The budget for the Financial Year 2015/16 set out in Schedule 2 and referred to
in Schedule 3 formed the baseline position from which all further adjustments to
the budget would be calculated. For each Financial Year subsequent to 2015/16
the cost of any increases or savings from any decreases in the ARP budget are
allocated to each of the Five Councils in line with the agreed percentages set out
in Paragraph 5.1 of the Accountancy Protocol. The agreed ARP percentage
figures will be reviewed annually as set out in Paragraph 5.2 of the Accountancy
Protocol.
One-off Costs

6.12

The One-off Costs shall be paid by each of the Five Councils in accordance with
the percentages provided by Clause 6.11 upon receipt of an invoice from the
Treasurer.

6.13

Each of the Five Councils shall pay the sums and percentages provided by
Clauses 6.10 and 6.11 to the Treasurer for the credit of the funds of the 2015 Joint
Committee in each Financial Year during which this Agreement remains in force.
Accounts and Audit

6.14

The Treasurer shall maintain the accounts of the 2015 Joint Committee and the
ARP in accordance with the requirements of the Accounts and Audit (England)
Regulations 2015 and the Local Authority Accountancy Act 2014 and with the
requirements of the Department of Social Security, H.M. Treasury, H.M. Revenue
and Customs, and all other applicable requirements.

6.15

Independent and objective internal audits of the JC Services shall be undertaken
by the Five Councils either independently or in accordance with the provisions and
schedules contained within Service Level Agreements outside this Agreement.

97

21

7.
7.1

EMPLOYEES OF THE ARP
The Five Councils shall ensure that sufficient and appropriate employees shall be
made available to undertake and manage the activities necessary or expedient for
the proper and adequate provision of the JC Services as approved in the annual
staffing establishment by the 2105 Joint Committee on behalf of the Five Councils.
A draft staffing establishment for each Financial Year subsequent to the
establishment of the ARP shall be prepared by the ARP Management Team in
collaboration with the Heads of Human Resources (or equivalent) of the Five
Councils respectively and submitted to the Treasurer for consideration. The draft
establishment budget shall be based upon the establishment for the previous
Financial Year updated for any anticipated changes considered necessary.

7.2

Any employee allocated by any of the Five Councils, as the case may be, to carry
out any activities necessary or expedient for the provision of the JC Services shall
be required to report to the 2015 Joint Committee unless his or her terms of
employment require otherwise and subject to the obligations of the council as his
or her employer.

7.3

Each of the Five Councils warrant and represent that:

7.3.1

it shall (subject to Clause 7.5 and without prejudice to the indemnities in Clause
7.3.5) continue to pay all Employment Costs for each of its employees allocated
to carry out work in respect of the 2015 Joint Committee and the provision of the
JC Services (to be covered by the payment detailed in Clauses 6.10 and 6.11);

7.3.2

the allocation of such of its employees to carry out work in respect of the 2015
Joint Committee and the provision of the JC Services does not breach the terms
of their contracts of employment;

7.3.3

it shall use reasonable endeavours to ensure that its employees so allocated shall
perform their duties with the skill care and diligence to be expected of a competent
employee engaged in the performance of those duties having regard to the grade
and experience of such employees;

7.3.4

it shall use reasonable endeavours to ensure that nothing is done by it or by its
employees or agents which results in a breach of the contract of employment of

98

22

any member of the ARP employees or of any employee of another council so
allocated;
7.3.5

it shall indemnify the others of the Five Councils against all claims by or in respect
of its employees allocated to the 2015 Joint Committee or the ARP in respect of
the delivery of Support Services in the provision of the JC Services caused by the
fault negligence or omission of that Council or its employees or agents in respect
of the provision of the JC Services and take disciplinary action against such
employees, if the employing Council deems appropriate; and

7.3.6

(in respect of issues arising under 7.3.5) it shall be responsible for all claims by or
in respect of its employees allocated to the 2015 Joint Committee or the ARP in
respect of the provision of the JC Services caused by the fault negligence or
omission of that Council or its employees or agents towards those employees.

7.4

The Five Councils agree to indemnify each other against all costs in relation to
pensions

and

pensions’

contributions

in

respect

of

any

employees

transferred/working within ARP in accordance with the percentages in Paragraph
5.1 as may be amended by Paragraph 5.2 of the Accountancy Protocol (Schedule
3).
7.5

Each of the Five Councils shall where relevant cooperate and give assistance to
and act in good faith towards each other in order to enable each of the others of
these Councils to comply with their legal obligations in respect of their own
employees.

7.6

In the event that an employee of the 2015 Joint Committee is to be offered early
retirement, redundancy or termination with associated payments, then such an
offer to a specific employee will be reported to the next available Operational
Improvement Board meeting.

7.7

In the event that: -

7.7.1

the 2015 Joint Committee is dissolved pursuant to Clause 10.2 because of a
decision by any or all of the Five Councils to withdraw from the 2015 Joint
Committee; or

7.7.2

such Council no longer requires any part or element of the JC Services to be
performed on its behalf by the ARP; and

99

23

7.7.3

TUPE does not apply to transfer the contracts of employment of all or any of the
relevant employees of the others of the Five Councils carrying out work in
connection with the performance of the JC Services on behalf of that Council or
to any new contractor engaged by that Council
then that Council shall indemnify the others of the Five Councils against all
contractual and statutory redundancy payments and notice payments made to
employees dismissed by those others of the Five Councils for the reasons of
redundancy arising from such withdrawal of that Council from the 2015 Joint
Committee or the cessation of the performance of all or any of the JC Services by
ARP on its behalf.

7.8

The Employment Costs incurred by any of the Five Councils in respect of any of
its employees allocated to the 2015 Joint Committee or the ARP, other than the
costs covered by the indemnities in Clauses 7.3.5, 7.5, and 7.6, shall be a charge
against the accounts of the 2015 Joint Committee.

7.9

In the event that all Five Councils wish to consider dissolution and transfer to an
Alternative Business Structure, all Five Councils agree:

7.9.1

that all Five Councils shall jointly instruct a pensions expert to undertake an
actuarial and valuations assessment of the 2015 Joint Committee employee
pensions contributions and liability, being both current and inherited liability
(“Pensions Valuation Report”) as at an agreed date, prior to dissolution; and

7.9.2

that full disclosure of the information submitted by or on behalf of the Five Councils
in respect of Clause 7.9.1 shall be available to all Five Councils, together with any
drafts and final copies of the most recent Pensions Valuation Report; and

7.9.3

that upon receipt of the most recent Pensions Valuation Report, each Council shall
be liable for a proportion that directly relates to the caseload undertaken at the
time of the dissolution, as calculated under Paragraph 5.1 or as may be amended
by Paragraph 5.2 of the Accountancy Protocol and to the extent that it is necessary
to indemnify the others of the Five Councils of any outstanding liability; and

24
100

7.9.4

that all Five Councils must then consider whether to transfer the 2015 Joint
Committee employee pensions and liability detailed in the most recent Pensions
Valuation Report to the Alternative Business Structure.

8.

ARP PREMISES, ASSETS, CONTRACTS AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
Premises

8.

The costs of the premises at Breckland House, Thetford occupied and used by the
2015 Joint Committee or by the ARP for the provision of the JC Services shall be
charged to the accounts of the 2015 Joint Committee in accordance with Clause
2.1 of Schedule 3

Assets
8.1

Any assets allocated for use by the ARP for the provision of the JC Services shall
remain the property of the Council who owned it prior to the formation of the 2015
Joint Committee.

8.2

Any jointly used new assets procured by one of the Five Councils (as determined
by the 2015 Joint Committee) on behalf of and at the cost of the 2015 Joint
Committee (subject to the standing orders of the procuring Council and any
applicable procurement legislation) shall be owned by the Five Councils in
proportion to the percentages determined under Paragraph 5.1 or as may be
amended by Paragraph 5.2 of the Accountancy Protocol.

8.3

The 2015 Joint Committee shall be responsible for the security, maintenance and
repair of all assets used by it and the ARP for the provision of the JC Services.

8.4

A register of assets shall be maintained by the Treasurer showing the ownership,
the date of its allocation to, or purchase for, the purposes of the 2015 Joint
Committee for use by the ARP and the date of disposal of all assets allocated to
or used by the 2015 Joint Committee formerly used by the ARP.
Contracts

101 25

8.5

All contracts (whether for goods, equipment, supplies, services or use of
intellectual property rights) entered into on behalf of the 2015 Joint Committee or
its predecessor for use by the ARP shall (subject to the provision of any necessary
licence or approval of the other contracting party) be continued in effect.

8.6

Any new contracts required for the purposes of the 2015 Joint Committee for the
benefit of the ARP for the provision of the JC Services shall be procured by one of
the Five Councils (as determined by the Operational Improvement Board) on
behalf of the 2015 Joint Committee in accordance with the acquiring Council’s
standing orders and any applicable procurement legislation and the procuring
Council shall remain contractually liable for any rights obligations and liabilities
arising under the contracts and shall act in that regard in the best interests of the
Five Councils and the 2015 Joint Committee and account for any monies received
to the 2015 Joint Committee and be entitled to seek recompense from the funds
of the 2015 Joint Committee for any expenditure properly and reasonably incurred
in that respect.
Intellectual Property

8.7

Each of the Five Councils shall grant to each of the others of the Five Councils a
royalty free licence to copy and use through the 2015 Joint Committee all materials
relevant to the JC Services in which it has intellectual property rights for use by or
for the 2015 Joint Committee and the ARP only. The Council owning such
intellectual property rights shall indemnify the others of the Five Councils in respect
of any claim for infringement of the intellectual property rights of a third party and
shall notify the others of the Five Councils and the 2015 Joint Committee as soon
as it receives notice of any such claim.

9.

INDEMNITIES INSURANCE AND LIABILITIES AND CONDUCT OF CLAIMS
Indemnities

9.1

Save as provided under Clause 5.3.2 (subsidy reclaims) and Clauses 7.3.5 and
7.3.6 (employee fault negligence or omission) each of the Five Councils shall
indemnify the others of them and their employees and agents against all claims

26
102

demands actions costs and expenses (including legal expenses on an indemnity
basis) which such other of the Five Councils or its employees or agents may incur
as a result of any act omission or default of the others of the Five Councils as the
case may be or of their employees or agents in respect of this Agreement and:
9.1.1

breach of contract;

9.1.2

damage to real and personal property; or

9.1.3

injury to persons including injury resulting in death.

9.2

Save as provided by Clauses 7.3.5 and 7.3.6, (employee fault negligence or
omission) each of the Five Councils shall indemnify the others of them from and
against any damages or awards paid to any of its employees or his or her personal
representatives or payment made in settlement of any claims made by an
employee or his or her personal representative arising from a breach by that
Council of this Agreement or from negligence of that Council or its employees or
agents (including legal expenses on an indemnity basis).

9.3

Save as provided under Clause 5.3.2 (subsidy reclaims) and Clauses 7.3.5 and
7.3.6 (employee fault negligence or omission) each of the Five Councils shall
release and indemnify the others of the Five Councils and their members and
officers from and against all liability for any of the following which arise out of or in
consequence of the obligations under this Agreement, including but not limited to:

9.3.1

breach by that Council of its supply contracts for goods or materials or equipment
made or to be made available to the 2015 Joint Committee for the purposes of the
JC Services; or

9.3.2

breach by that Council of the terms of any other of the Five Councils’ supply
contracts for such goods or materials or equipment.

9.4

Where one of the Five Councils enters into such a supply contract as is referred
to in Clause 9.3.1 then the others of the Five Councils shall release and indemnify
the contracting Council in respect of any breach by those others of the Five
Councils (or of their officers or agents) of the obligations under such a supply
contract arising from or in consequence of any non-performance or part
performance acts defaults omissions breaches and negligence of any obligation
under that supply contract.

103 27

9.5

A Council shall not be responsible or obliged to indemnify any other or others of
the Five Councils for:

9.5.1

any liability under Clause 9.3 which arises as a direct result of one of the Five
Councils acting on the instructions of any other or others of the Five Councils (to
the extent that the other Council is or other Councils are entitled to give such
instructions); or

9.5.2

any injury loss damage cost and expense caused by the negligence wilful
misconduct or a breach of this Agreement by any other or others of the Five
Councils or an agent contractor or employee of any other or others of the Five
Councils.

9.6

None of the Five Councils shall be liable in tort to any other or others of the Five
Councils for any negligent act or omission of that other Council or those other
Councils relating to this Agreement and the only remedy of such other Council or
Councils is under this Agreement. Each of the Five Councils shall use reasonable
endeavours to procure that no agent, contractor or employee of it brings a claim in
tort or otherwise against any of the others of the Five Councils.

9.7

Any indemnity under any provision of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to
any indemnity by the same Council under any other provision of this Agreement.

9.8

None of the indemnities under this Agreement shall apply and there shall be no
right to claim damages for breach of this Agreement in tort or on any other basis
whatsoever to the extent that any loss claimed is for loss of profits, loss of use,
loss of production, loss of business or loss of business opportunity or is a claim for
consequential or for indirect loss of any nature allegedly suffered by any Council.
Insurance and Liabilities

9.9

Each of the Five Councils shall take out and maintain with a well established
insurance provider or underwriter of repute for so long as may be necessary the
following insurances in respect of their own employees premises and assets
allocated to the 2015 Joint Committee for the use of the ARP: -

9.9.1

public liability insurance for a value of not less than £10 million for each and every
claim;

28
104

9.9.2

employer’s liability insurance for a value of not less than £10 million for each and
every claim;

9.9.3

buildings and/or contents insurance;

9.9.4

any other insurances required by law or agreed by the 2015 Joint Committee to be
appropriate.

9.10

In respect of any assets owned by any of the Five Councils and allocated to the
2015 Joint Committee for use by the ARP, the Council nominated by the Joint
Committee shall take out and maintain the insurances referred to in Clause 9.9.

9.11

Any new assets or any accommodation or premises leased or acquired pursuant
to Clauses 8.2 or 8.3 shall be insured by the Council nominated by the 2015 Joint
Committee to acquire or lease such assets accommodation or premises on behalf
of the 2015 Joint Committee for the purposes of the ARP.

9.12

In relation to the insurances referred to in Clauses 9.9, 9.10 and 9.11: -

9.12.1 the interests of the others of the Five Councils shall be noted on the policies;
9.12.2 none of the Five Councils shall take any action or fail to take any action nor allow
anything to occur which would entitle an insurer to refuse a claim under any of the
insurance policies or which may render such a claim wholly or partially repayable;
9.12.3 each of the Five Councils shall provide to the others of the Five Councils copies
of insurance policies referred to in Clauses 9.9, 9.10 and 9.11 and evidence of the
payment of the premiums and that the insurances are in full force and effect.
9.13

In the event of a default by the responsible Council in taking out and maintaining
any requisite insurance one of the others of the Five Councils may pay the
premium or take out the requisite insurances and recover its costs from the
responsible Council as a debt.

9.14

Other than in respect of the insurances referred to in Clauses 9.9.1 and 9.9.2 a
Council responsible for taking out or maintaining insurances may (subject to the
prior agreement of the 2015 Joint Committee) decide to self insure in respect of
any risks or interest as defined and agreed by the 2015 Joint Committee and to
accept and meet liability thereof as if it were an insurer of such risks or interest.

105 29

Conduct of Claims
9.15

The conduct by one of the Five Councils of claims made by a third person against
it in relation to a matter related to this Agreement in connection with a potential
liability described in Clauses 9.1 to 9.8 shall be dealt with under the procedures
set out in Schedule 4 of this Agreement.

10.

COMMENCEMENT AND TERMINATION
Commencement of the Agreement

10.1

This Agreement shall come into at the date at the beginning of this Agreement and
shall replace the Reconstitution Agreement dated 10 September 2015 subject to
Clause 2 of that Agreement which shall continue to be in force.

Withdrawal of a Party from this Agreement
10.2

Subject to the requirements of Clause 10.3 any of the Five Councils may withdraw
from the 2015 Joint Committee on giving two years notice to the others of the Five
Councils, in accordance with Clause 25. On the effective date of any such
withdrawal, being two years after the date of service of the notice set out in Clause
25, this Agreement shall terminate and the 2015 Joint Committee shall be
dissolved (save that any of the remaining Councils may enter into a new joint
arrangement on such terms as the remaining Councils may agree).

10.3

Before serving a notice under Clause 10.2 the Council wishing to withdraw from
the 2015 Joint Committee must have:-

10.3.1 served a Statement of Intent on the others of the Five Councils setting out the
reasons underlying their intention to leave the 2015 Joint Committee and
10.3.2 discussed the Statement of Intent with the others of the Five Councils with a view
to agreeing an Action Plan at a meeting of the 2015 Joint Committee that shall be
convened to take place within 28 days of the date of service deemed under Clause
25 but
10.4

failed to agree an Action Plan to address the concerns expressed or improved
outcomes cited following discussion to deal with these.
30
106

10.5

Where an Action Plan is agreed the Five Councils will ensure that it is carried out.

10.6

Where an Action Plan is not agreed, then the Treasurer shall agree the
appointment of an independent actuary to value assets, for the purposes of
redistribution/sale or repayment to the Council leaving the 2015 Joint Committee,
in accordance with the percentages set out in Paragraph 5.1 or as may be
amended by Paragraph 5.2 of the Accountancy Protocol, and the Provisions on
Termination set out under Clause 10.7 shall be applied.
New Member

10.7

If at any time it is agreed by the Five Councils that one or more other local
authorities shall join in or benefit from the activities of the 2015 Joint Committee
this Agreement shall be terminated and the 2015 Joint Committee shall be
dissolved on such date as may be agreed by the Five Councils and a new joint
committee arrangement entered into on such terms as the Five Councils and such
one or more other local authorities may agree.
Provisions on Termination

10.8

From receipt of a notice of withdrawal given under the provisions of Clause 10.2
until the date of termination of this Agreement and without prejudice to any other
rights or remedies that the Five Councils have against each other under the terms
of this Agreement:

10.8.1 each of the Five Councils shall continue to make the payments provided for in this
Agreement in respect of the maintenance of the ARP and the costs of the ARP’s
provision of the JC Services in respect of that Council until date of termination.
This shall be subject to any redistribution/sale or repayment to the Council in
relation to the ARP assets, in the agreed proportions set out under Paragraph 5.1
as may be amended by Paragraph 5.2 of the Accountancy Protocol, such assets
to be valued in accordance with Clause 10.5;
10.8.2 each of the Five Councils shall co-operate with each other to ensure a smooth
and timely handover of the JC Services to each of those Councils or to any
contractor or contractors appointed by them or any of them or to any successor to
the ARP and

107 31

10.8.3 each of the Five Councils shall act in good faith and use reasonable endeavours
to minimise loss or harm to the others of the Five Councils arising from such a
termination of this Agreement.
Provisions when dissolving ARP and transferring to an Alternative Business
Structure
10.9

In the event that the Five Councils resolve that they wish to dissolve ARP and
move to an Alternative Business Structure, the Treasurer shall agree the
appointment of an independent actuary and pensions expert, for the purposes of
valuing assets and liabilities, including, although not limited to those detailed
under Clause 7.11 and that, subject to Clause 8.5 shall be apportioned in
accordance with the percentages calculated under Paragraph 5.2 of the
Accountancy Protocol.

11.

REVIEW OF AGREEMENT

11.1

At any time any one or more of the Five Councils may seek a review of this
Agreement and the operation of the ARP and its performance of the JC Services
by submitting a report detailing the reason for the review (Review Report) to each
of the other of the Five Councils and the 2015 Joint Committee.

11.2

Upon receiving the Review Report the 2015 Joint Committee shall advise the OIB
and task it with conducting the review.

11.3

On production of the Review Report the Five Councils will have 8 weeks in which
to submit their comments to the OIB in order to allow time for committee/member
briefing cycles.

11.4

On receipt of comments from each of the Five Councils within the timescale
referred to in Clause 11.3 (or any extension thereof agreed by the OIB) the OIB
shall meet to consider the content and recommendations of the Review Report in
the light of the comments received from the Five Councils and submit to the Five
Councils and the 2015 Joint Committee the revisions and amendments (if any) it
proposes be made to this Agreement and this Agreement shall be amended (or if
not amended shall be deemed to have been amended) to accord with the
proposals of the Review Report (as revised and amended by the OIB) with effect
32
108

from such date as determined by the OIB. The outcome of the review shall be
reported to the next meeting of the 2015 Joint Committee.

12. EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES
12.1

The Five Councils shall work together through the 2015 Joint Committee to deliver
the provision of the JC Services to a high standard of quality in a manner which is
fair and equitable to all sectors of the communities of the Five Councils and their
employees allocated to ARP and to this end each of the Five Councils shall agree:
-

12.1.1 to adopt policies to comply with their statutory obligations under the Equality Act
2010 and any modification or re-enactment thereof and will not treat any person
less favourably than any others because of that person’s gender, sex or sexual
orientation, marital or other status, race, nationality, ethnic origin, disability or age
and will comply with all relevant codes of practice;
12.1.2 if found guilty of unlawful discrimination which relates to the ARP, to take steps to
avoid a repetition of such unlawful discrimination and provide details of such steps
to the others of the Five Councils; and
12.1.3 as far as possible to observe all relevant codes of practice for equal opportunities
in employment especially in relation to the employees allocated to the ARP.

13. CONFIDENTIALITY
13.1

Each of the Five Councils agrees that (except as required by law) it will:

13.1.1 keep confidential and not divulge to any person any agreed confidential, technical
or commercial information concerning the business accounts finance technology
expertise contractual arrangements or other dealings transactions or affairs of the
others of the Five Councils; and
13.1.2 not use any such information for its own purposes (except as contemplated in this
Agreement).
13.2

Each of the Five Councils agrees to use its reasonable endeavours to prevent the
publication or disclosure of any such confidential information.

109 33

13.3

Clauses 13.1 and 13.2 do not apply to any confidential information (as agreed by
the Five Councils) used, divulged or communicated:

13.3.1 pursuant to a contract for the supply of goods or services;
13.3.2 pursuant to the procurement of goods and services in accordance with Clauses
8.2 and 8.6;
13.3.3 pursuant to this Agreement;
13.3.4 on the instructions of any other or others of the Five Councils;
13.3.5 to its employees and professional advisers on terms that this information is
confidential to them; or
13.3.6 under any Court order or where there is statutory obligation to disclose it.
13.4

Each of the Five Councils undertake that they will not without the consent of the
others of the Five Councils make any press or other announcement concerning
any aspect of this Agreement or make any use of the names of the others of the
Five Councils in consequence of this Agreement.

14. DATA PROTECTION AND FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
14.1

Each of the Five Councils agrees that in relation to any personal data (as defined
in the DPA and GDPR) it holds in relation to this Agreement it will comply as a data
controller if necessary with the DPA and GDPR including:

14.1.1 the seven data protection principles listed in Article 7 to the GDPR;
14.1.2 (subject to any exemptions) requests from data subjects for access to data held
by it; and
14.1.3 the requirements relating to notification to the Information Commissioner by data
controllers under Article 33 of the GDPR.
14.2

Each of the Five Councils agrees that if it acquires personal data from any other
party in connection with this Agreement it will:

14.2.1 maintain a valid and up to date registration or notification under the DPA which
covers all processing of such data which it undertakes;

34
110

14.2.2 only undertake processing of such personal data where it is reasonably required
in connection with the performance of its obligations under this Agreement;
14.2.3 not disclose such personal data to any third party other than:
14.2.3.1 disclosure on terms substantially the same as and no less stringent than those
required by this Clause, to its employees agents and contractors to whom such
disclosure is reasonably necessary in connection with the performance of its
obligations under this Agreement; or
14.2.3.2 as required by court order; or
14.2.3.3 as may be required under relevant exemption under the DPA & GDPR.
14.2.4 bring into effect and maintain all technical and organisational measures to prevent
unauthorised or unlawful processing of personal data and accidental loss or
destruction of or damage to personal data including taking reasonable steps to
ensure the reliability of employees having access to the personal data; and
14.2.5 (save as under any relevant exemption, where exemptions under the DPA &
GDPR apply to obtaining consent) obtain the consent of data subjects to the
disclosure of any personal data disclosed under this Agreement.
14.3

Nothing in this Agreement requires any of the Five Councils to disclose any
information to another party if that Council considers that to do so would be in
breach of the DPA and GDPR.

14.4

In the event that any of the Five Councils receives a request for information under
the FOIA (relating to the JC Services provided by the ARP to the Council) then the
Five Councils agree that the ARP shall provide all the necessary assistance as
reasonably requested by the Council to enable the Council to respond to the
request for information within the time for compliance set out in Section 10 of the
FOIA.

14.5

The Council in receipt of the request for information shall be responsible for
determining at its absolute discretion whether the information requested is exempt
from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the FOIA or may be disclosed.

111 35

15. WAIVER AND SEVERABILITY
15.1

A failure or delay by any of the Five Councils in exercising any rights, powers or
privileges under this Agreement will not operate as a waiver of them. The single
or partial exercise of any right power or privilege does not prevent any other
exercise of it or the exercise of any other right power or privilege (whether arising
out of the same factual situation or otherwise). Any waiver of a breach of this
Agreement is not to be effective unless given in writing signed by the Council
waiving its entitlement. No waiver is to be deemed a waiver of any subsequent
breach or default nor is it to affect the other terms of this Agreement.

15.2

The receipt of money does not prevent the Council receiving it questioning the
correctness of the amount or any other statement in respect of money.

15.3

If any term of this Agreement is illegal void or unenforceable the remainder of this
Agreement will continue in force as though that term had not been included in it.

16. ENTIRE AGREEMENT
16.1

This Agreement sets out the whole agreement between the Five Councils in
relation to the transaction it provides for.

16.2

Each of the Five Councils warrants that it has not entered into this Agreement on
the basis of any representation made by any one or more of the others of the Five
Councils except to the extent that such representation is expressly included in it
(but

nothing

in

this

Clause

16

excludes

any

liability

for

fraudulent

misrepresentation).

17. EXTENT OF OBLIGATIONS AND FURTHER ASSURANCE
17.1

Nothing in this Agreement is to require any of the Five Councils to act in any way
that is inconsistent with its obligations or duties as a local authority.

17.2

Each of the Five Councils undertakes (subject to Clause 17.1) to do all things and
execute all further documents that may reasonably be required by one or all of the
others of the Five Councils to give effect to this Agreement.

36
112

18. NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY
18.1

Nothing in this Agreement is to constitute or be deemed a partnership within the
meaning of the Partnership Act 1890 the Limited Partnerships Act 1907 the Limited
Liability Partnerships Act 2000 or any other legislation concerning partnerships or
limited liability partnerships.

18.2

None of the Five Councils shall hold itself out as the agent of any one or more of
the others of the Five Councils or to have any authority to bind any one or more of
the others of the Five Councils except to the extent that this Agreement expressly
provides otherwise.

19. CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999
No term of this Agreement is enforceable under the Contracts (Rights of Third
Parties) Act 1999 by any person who is not a party to this Agreement.

20. VARIATIONS
20.1

Except as provided by Clause 11.4 no person has authority on behalf of any of the
Five Councils to agree to any variation to this Agreement except where the
amendment is agreed to in writing by each of the Five Councils.

20.2

No consents to any variation to this Agreement are required from any person other
than the 2015 Joint Committee (acting pursuant to Clause 11.4) or all of the Five
Councils as detailed under Clause 20.1.

21. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION/BRIBERY
21.1

Where any of the Five Councils or any person employed by or acting on behalf of
any of the Five Councils (whether with or without that Council’s knowledge) has
offered or given or agreed to give to any person or received or agreed to receive
from any person any gift or consideration of any kind as an inducement or reward
for:

113 37

21.1.1 doing or not doing or having done or not having done any action in relation to the
obtaining or execution of this Agreement or any other contract with that Council;
or
21.1.2 showing or not showing favour or disfavour to any person in relation to this
Agreement or any other contract with that Council; or
21.1.3 where in relation to any contract with such a Council the Council or any person
employed by that Council or acting on that Council’s behalf has:
21.1.3.1 committed any offence under the Bribery Act 2010 or legislation revoking or
amending the same; or
21.1.3.2 given any fee or reward the receipt of which is an offence under the LGA 1972 or
Bribery Act 2010;
then the others of the Five Councils, if they all agree in writing so to do, may
withdraw from this Agreement pursuant to Clauses 10.3. to 10.6 and recover from
the aforesaid Council the amount of any loss they may suffer as a result of such
termination of this Agreement.

22. MEDIATION AND ARBITRATION
22.1

If any dispute arises out of this Agreement the Five Councils shall attempt to settle
it by mediation in accordance with the Centre for Effective Dispute Resolution
(“CEDR”) Model Mediation Procedure (“the Model Procedure”).

22.2

To initiate mediation, the Chief Executive of any of the Five Councils seeking such
mediation shall give notice in writing (“ADR Notice”) to the others of the Five
Councils requesting mediation in accordance with Clause 22.1 and shall notify
CEDR of the dispute.

22.3

If the Five Councils cannot agree the identity of the mediator within 10 Working
Days of the date of the ADR Notice the mediator is to be appointed by CEDR.

22.4

The mediation will start not later than 20 Working Days after the date of the ADR
Notice.

38
114

22.5

None of the Five Councils may commence any court proceedings or arbitration in
relation to any dispute arising out of this Agreement until they have attempted to
settle it by mediation and that mediation has terminated.

22.6

If the dispute has not been settled by the mediation within 35 Working Days from
the date of the ADR Notice the dispute shall be referred to arbitration under the
Arbitration Acts 1950 to 1996 by a single arbitrator appointed by agreement
between the Five Councils. If the Five Councils cannot agree the identity of the
arbitrator within 10 Working Days of one or more of the Five Councils proposing
at least two possible appropriate arbitrators to the others of the Five Councils the
arbitrator is to be appointed by the President or next most senior officer available
of the Law Society on the application of one or more of the Five Councils.

23. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING
23.1

None of the Five Councils may transfer assign mortgage or pledge its rights or
obligations under this Agreement.

23.2

None of the Five Councils may subcontract any of its obligations under this
Agreement except with the consent of the others of the Five Councils (such
consent not unreasonably to be withheld or delayed) but any Council who so
subcontracts is to be liable for the performance of its subcontractors.

23.3

No rights under this Agreement are to devolve by operation of the law or otherwise
on any receiver administrative receiver liquidator or assignee.

24. GOVERNING LAW AND ENFORCEMENT
24.1

The formation construction performance validity and all aspects of this Agreement
are to be governed by English law and subject to Clause 22.6 each of the Five
Councils agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and
Wales.

24.2

The rights and remedies given by this Agreement are cumulative and do not
exclude any other rights or remedies given by law under this Agreement.

115 39

25. NOTICES
25.1

Notices or other communications under this Agreement will be duly served if given
in writing and sent to the nominated representative of the Five Councils or to JC
Members or to officers of the 2015 Joint Committee and shall be deemed to have
been served in accordance with the following table with the date of service and
method of proof being as set out therein.
Method of service

Date of service

Proof of service

Personal delivery to the

Day of delivery.

Proof of handing to the

nominated representative.

nominated
representative.

Personal delivery of a

Day of delivery if

letter addressed to the

before 16.00 on a

nominated representative

Working Day

at the address for

otherwise 10.00 on

service.

the next Working

Proof of delivery.

Day thereafter.
First class letter

48 hours after

Proof of posting unless

addressed to the

posting if that is a

returned through the

nominated representative

Working Day

Post Office undelivered

at the address for

otherwise 10.00 on

service within 21 days

service.

the next Working Day

of posting.

thereafter.
Facsimile addressed to

Day of transmission if

Transmission report

the nominated

before 16.00 on a

showing a successful

representative at the

Working Day

transmission to the

address for service.

otherwise 10.00 on

correct number plus

the next Working Day

proof of posting of a

thereafter.

hard copy.

Electronic mail

Date of transmission

addressed to the

if before 16.00 on a

40
116

Delivery receipt

nominated

Working Day

representative’s

otherwise 10.00 on

electronic mail address

the next Working day
thereafter

25.2

Each of the Five Council’s address for service is the address set out at the start of
this Agreement or such other address as it may notify to the other of the Five
Councils and the Secretary in writing.

25.3

The nominated representative for the receipt of notices under this Agreement is
the Chief Executive of each of the Five Councils or such other person as the
relevant Council may nominate by written notice to the others of the Five Councils
and to the Secretary.

26. COSTS
Except in so far as the costs of the preparation negotiation and completion of this
Agreement shall be within the One-off Costs each of the Five Councils shall bear
their own costs in relation to the negotiation and completion of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS whereof each of the Five Councils have executed and delivered this
Agreement as a Deed on the above date.

117 41

SCHEDULE 1
PART I
JC Services
The JC Services shall comprise the statutory functions of each of the Five Councils
under each of the following enactments: (a) Local Government Finance Act 1988 Part III sections 43 to 51 and 62 to 67;
(b)

Local Government Finance Act 1992 Part I Chapter I sections 43 to 51,
sections 62 to 67, section 103 and Schedule IX;

(c)

Social Services Contributions and Benefits Act 1992 Part VII section 123
and sections 130 to 137;

(d)

Social Services Administration Act 1992 sections 5, 6, 7, 7A, 16, 75, 76,
110A, 110AA, 111, 112, 113, 139E, 139F, 139G, 139H, 140, 140A, 140B,
140C, 140D, 140E, 140EE, 140F and 140G and Regulations made under
sections 7A and 76;

(e)

Local Government Act 1972 section 111(1) (in so far as it relates to anything
done thereunder that is calculated to facilitate or is incidental or conducive to
the discharge of any statutory function or functions referred to in subparagraphs (a) to (d) above);

(f)

Tribunals, Courts & Enforcement Act 2007 in so far as it relates to
enforcement of debts for Council Tax, Non Domestic Rates and other debts
collected by the ARP

(g)

Any other statutory functions of the Five Councils which relate directly or
indirectly to the collection of council tax and non-domestic rates and/or the
administration of housing benefit council tax benefit and other relevant benefits.

(h)

The collection and/or enforcement of any other debt as agreed in writing by
each of the Five Councils.

42
118

SCHEDULE 1
PART II
JC Services

The JC Services of the Five Councils in respect of the collection and
administration of council tax and non-domestic rates (business rates) and the
payment of housing and other benefits shall comprise the following services:
1.

Council Tax including calculation of tax base

1.1

Billing

1.2

Recovery including enforcement

2.

Business Rates including granting rate relief

2.1

Billing

2.2

Recovery including enforcement

3.

Benefits Administration including recovery of overpayments

4.

Anti-Fraud measures

119 43

SCHEDULE 2

Baseline Budget – 2015/16

Breckland Council
East Cambridgeshire Council
Fenland Council
Forest Heath Council
St Edmundsbury Council
Suffolk Coastal
Waveney Council

7(5)Partners
2015-16
£
1,590,842
923,914
1,151,977
785,400
1,121,313
1,185,218
1,643,273
8,401,937

4 (3) Partners
2015-16
£
281,525
167,441
0
136,689
224,491
0
0
810,146

Total
2015-16
£
1,872,367
1,091,355
1,151,977
922,089
1,345,804
1,185,218
1,643,273
9,212,083

Agreed ARP Budget for the provision of the JC Services on behalf of the Five
Councils for the 2019/2020 Financial Year

2019-20 Budget

Breckland Council
East Cambridgeshire Council
East Suffolk Council
Fenland Council
West Suffolk Council

5 Partners
2019-20
Budget
£
1,624,756
926,615
2,985,568
1,235,369
1,957,656
8,729,965

44
120

3 Partners
2019-20
Budget
£
218,377
130,174
0
0
280,673
629,224

Total
2019-20
Budget
£
1,843,134
1,056,789
2,985,568
1,235,369
2,238,330
9,359,189

SCHEDULE 3
ANGLIA REVENUES PARTNERSHIP
Accountancy Protocol
1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The formulation of these budget polices and procedures has been written with
reference to details contained within this Agreement.
1.2

Any issues resulting from any of the Five Councils not approving the budget
approved by the 2015 Joint Committee should be pursued in accordance with the
arrangements detailed within this Agreement.

2.0

RECAP OF MAIN BUDGET ISSUES FROM THIS AGREEMENT

2.1

The baseline budget was set in 2015/16 and was split between all seven (now Five)
Councils for the majority of agreed costs and income, however a small part of the
baseline budget was split between Breckland, East Cambridgeshire and West
Suffolk Councils only (Three Councils). The agreed items which are charged only
to these Three Councils are:





2.2

Rent & Rates at the Thetford Offices
Magistrates Court Costs
Fax Machines
Support service recharges from Breckland & West Suffolk agreed in advance

A draft budget for each Financial Year subsequent to the 2015/16 baseline split is
prepared by the ARP Management Team in collaboration with the Heads of Finance
and Chief Finance Officers of the Five Councils respectively and submitted to the
Treasurer for consideration and thereafter submitted to the Section 151 Officers of
each of the Five Councils, by 30th October in each year. The draft budget for the
next Financial Year shall be based upon the budget for the previous Financial Year
with the agreed Three Councils and Five Councils baseline split, updated for any
anticipated changes considered necessary and shall take account of:








The cost of employees required to perform the JC Services during the relevant
Financial Year
The agreed goods, services, plant etc. required to be procured during the
Financial Year
The share of cost of the accommodation occupied by the employees of the ARP
for the Three Councils split only
The cost of implementing any change in the legal or other requirements affecting
the performance of the JC Services
Any capital requirements
Any agreed changes to the JC services to be provided in connection with the
performance of the JC Services
Indexation
Support services agreed in advance

121 45




Any projected under spend or over spend for the current Financial Year that may
be required to be taken into account in the budget for the next Financial Year.
Income receivable in respect of costs that are charged to the partnership

2.3

The draft budget shall also have appended to it a Schedule detailing the payments
estimated to be required by each of the Five Councils during the relevant Financial
Year.

2.4

After being considered by the Section 151 Officers the draft budget shall be
submitted to the Treasurer for consideration and then to the 2015 Joint Committee
for approval and thereafter submitted to each of the Five Councils so as to be
received by them no later than 31st December in each year.

2.5

In the event that the budget for the current Financial Year requires amendment to
meet any over spend or increase in the costs of the performance of the JC Services
by the ARP for that year the ARP Management Team shall report thereon to the
2015 Joint Committee.

2.6

The ARP Management Team shall report as soon as practicable on any deficit or
surplus arising during the current or immediately preceding Financial Year as
compared with the approved budget, first to the Section 151 Officers and
subsequently to the 2015 Joint Committee. Any such deficit shall be met, or any
such surplus shall be dispersed, by reference to this Accountancy Protocol.

3.0

THE BUDGET

3.1

Introduction
The budget must be set in line with the arrangements and timetable detailed in this
Agreement.

3.2

The process


The Five Councils will hold a “Client” account and a “Partnership” account



Costs chargeable to the “Partnership” account (taking into account the three &
Five partner splits detailed in 2.1 above) are:
o Employee related expenses
o Transport related expenses
o Premises related expenses
o Supplies and services
o Any Support Service costs agreed in advance by the Five Councils as
chargeable to the “Partnership” account because of the obvious
service/benefit provided
o Any income that is received in respect of costs that are chargeable to the
“Partnership” account.



Costs chargeable to the “Client” account are:
o Support Services not specifically agreed as chargeable to the “Partnership”
account

46
122

o Income not received in respect of costs that are chargeable to the
“Partnership” account
o Corporate costs not directly attributable to the work of the 2015 Joint
Committee and the ARP.
3.3

Once all of the costs are identified the Council who will be making the various
payments should be clearly identified. This will form the basis of future budget
monitoring and control.

3.4

It will be necessary for the OIB to review each budget line each Financial Year to
confirm the following:


the basis of calculation is acceptable to each of the Five Councils and



the reasonableness of the cost and the benefits to the 2015 Joint Committee
and the ARP.

4.0

TREATMENT OF COSTS

4.1

“Partnership” account costs must adhere to the following principles:




Costs must be based on actual usage/cost
Costs must be directly attributable to the work of the 2015 Joint Committee and
the ARP
Costs are assessed on an annual basis in accordance with Value for Money
Objectives

4.2

The annual budget of the 2015 Joint Committee must not include any corporate or
client costs or previously un-agreed costs from any of the Five Councils.

4.3

The annual budget of the 2015 Joint Committee will include the costs chargeable to
the “Partnership” account as set out under Paragraph 3.2 of this Accountancy
Protocol.

5.0

APPORTIONING THE PARTNERSHIP BUDGET

5.1

The “Partnership” account will be apportioned to each of the Five Councils: by taking
the agreed baseline (detailed in Schedule 2) & apportioning any increase or
decrease in costs between the councils, in accordance with paragraph 2.1, in the
following proportions:
2019-20 Budget apportionment (based on 1 August 2019)
5 Partners
5 Partners
3 Partners
(Excl Bailiff)
Bailiff Only
Breckland Council
17.89%
34.90%
20.60%
East Cambridgeshire Council
10.55%
20.60%
9.81%
East Suffolk Council
35.23%
0.00%
33.22%
Fenland Council
13.53%
0.00%
10.99%
West Suffolk Council
22.80%
44.50%
25.38%

123 47

Costs and income from Enforcement Agent activity (Tribunals, Court and
Enforcement Act 2007) will be shared in relation to the percentage of liability orders
passed, in respect of each of the Five Councils, to an Enforcement Agency Service
5.2

These percentages are based on a combination of caseload data, which include the
number of hereditaments, the number of businesses chargeable to business rates
and the number of benefits claimants (and in the case of the Enforcement Agency
liability orders passed for enforcement). This data will be reviewed annually on 1
August, and the new percentage data used with respect to the budget for the
following Financial Year.

5.3

The Treasurer shall prepare a Schedule setting out the payments due from each of
the Five Councils, taking into account each Council’s share of the ARP budget and
the costs incurred by each Council. This Schedule shall be agreed by the OIB.
Amounts due shall be payable in equal instalments on the first Working Day of each
month.

5.4

Any new capital acquisitions shall be jointly funded by the Five Councils in
accordance with the percentages set out in Paragraph 5.1 of this Accountancy
Protocol, or amended in accordance with Paragraph 5.2 of this Accountancy
Protocol.

6.0

BUDGET MONITORING AND CONTROL

6.1

The Treasurer will act as the lead for monitoring and control of the budget which will
be undertaken as follows:






The budget will be set as detailed in Paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Accountancy
Protocol.
Payments will be made by the relevant Council as identified when setting the budget
(as provided in Paragraph 3.3 of this Accountancy Protocol).
Within 7 Working Days of the end of the quarter, each of the Five Councils will
provide the Treasurer with a Schedule of payments made against the annual budget
of the 2015 Joint Committee.
The Treasurer will compile an overall position against budget and raise any queries
with the each of the other Councils.
The Treasurer will compile a quarterly monitoring report to the OIB and the 2015
Joint Committee, showing actual against budget and a forecast position for the year
end.

7.0

BUDGET CHANGES AND AMENDMENTS

7.1

Budget changes may result from:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

New initiatives
Additional expenditure not previously identified
Over spends
Additional Government funding received during the year
Under spends

48
124

7.2

Budget changes a)-d) above should be dealt with as detailed in Paragraphs 2.4
and 2.5 of this Accountancy Protocol.

7.3

In these cases each of the Five Councils will share this cost in addition to the fixed
fees in the ratio as detailed in Paragraph 5.1 of this Accountancy Protocol.

7.4

Budget changes resulting from Paragraph 8.1d) of this Accountancy Protocol
should be reported to the 2015 Joint Committee once confirmation of the under
spend is confirmed.

7.5

In all cases variations to the budget involving changes to or additions to a
previously agreed budget will need reporting to the 2015 Joint Committee for
approval and thereafter to each of the Five Councils for approval in line with each
of the relevant Council’s Standing Orders and Terms of Reference regarding
budgets.

8.0 ASSETS
8.1

Any new assets shall be procured by one of the Five Councils (as determined by
the 2015 Joint Committee) on behalf of and at the cost of the 2015 Joint Committee
(subject to the standing orders of the procuring Council and any applicable
procurement legislation) and shall be owned by the Five Councils jointly in
proportion to the percentages set out in Paragraph 5.1 of this Accountancy Protocol
for the purposes of the 2015 Joint Committee.

8.2 A register of assets shall be maintained by the Treasurer showing the ownership, the
date of their allocation to or purchase for the purposes of the 2015 Joint Committee
for use by the ARP and the date of disposal of all assets allocated to or used by the
2015 Joint Committee formerly used by the previous Joint Committee.

125 49

SCHEDULE 4
General Legal Advice and Services
Subject to the 2015 Joint Committee deciding otherwise the Legal Advice and Services
will include and be provided by the following of the Five Councils:West Suffolk
1.1

Securing outstanding liability orders for unpaid council tax and business rates by
obtaining a charging order on the property and registering the same;

1.2

Where a charging order has been made by the court, applying for an order for sale
when instructed to do so;

1.3

Investigating the possibility of collecting outstanding liability orders for both council
tax and business rates by way of insolvency proceedings and commencing such
proceedings when instructed to do so;

1.4

Advising generally on alternative methods of enforcement; and

1.5

Advising in connection with the recovery of overpaid housing benefit and other
benefits and commencing proceedings when instructed to do so.

Any of the Five Councils
2.1 General Constitutional Advice to be the Council whose Monitoring Officer has been
appointed
2.2 Commencing and conducting fraud prosecutions, although at the Commencement
Date this is provided by external Solicitors, as previously arranged through ARP, or
in respect of West Suffolk Council - by their Council, and may change at the request
of one of the Five Councils to undertake their own prosecutions/or all of the
prosecutions on behalf of the Five Councils.

50
126

Conduct of Claims
3.1 If one of the Five Councils (“the Notifying Council”) receives a notice demand letter
or other document concerning such a claim for which the Notifying Council may be
entitled to be indemnified under this Agreement the Notifying Council shall notify the
others of the Five Councils in writing as soon as reasonably practicable and in any
event within twenty (20) Working Days of its receipt.
3.2 The Notifying Council shall be free at any time to give notice to the others of the Five
Councils that it is retaining or taking over conduct of any defence dispute compromise
or appeal of any claim made by a third party in connection with any matter described
in Paragraph 3.1 or any incidental negotiations. On receipt of such notice the others
of the Five Councils shall promptly take all reasonable steps necessary to transfer
the conduct of such claim to the Notifying Council and shall provide to the Notifying
Council all reasonable co-operation access and assistance for the purposes of
considering and resisting such claim.

If the Notifying Council gives any notice

pursuant to this Clause then the others of the Five Councils shall be released from
any future liability under its indemnity in respect of such claim.
3.3

If one or more of the others of the Five Councils pays to the Notifying Council an
amount in respect of an indemnity and the Notifying Council subsequently recovers
(whether by payment discount credit saving relief or other benefit or otherwise) a sum
which is directly referable to the fact matter event or circumstances giving rise to the
claim under the indemnity the Notifying Council shall immediately repay to the other
or others of the Five Councils the lesser of:3.3.1 the sum recovered (or the value of the saving or benefit obtained) less any out
of pocket expenses and costs properly incurred by the Notifying Council in
recovering it; and
3.3.2 the amount paid to the Notifying Council by the others of the Five Councils in
respect of the claim under the relevant indemnity.

3.4

There is no obligation on the Notifying Council to pursue a recovery under Paragraph
3.3. The other or others of the Five Councils is to be repaid only to the extent that
the amount of recovery aggregated with the amount paid by the other or others of
the Five Councils exceeds the Notifying Council’s losses.

127 51

3.5

Each of the Five Councils shall comply with the requirements of any insurer who may
have an obligation to consider any claim made in respect of any liability arising under
this Agreement.

52
128

The Common Seal of BRECKLAND
DISTRICT COUNCIL was affixed hereto in
in the presence of

)

The Common Seal of EAST
CAMBRIDGESHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
was hereto affixed in the presence of

)
)
)

)
)

Head of Legal and Democratic Services

The Common Seal of FENLAND DISTRICT
COUNCIL was hereunto affixed in the
presence of

)
)
)

Authorised Signatory

The Common Seal of WEST SUFFOLK
COUNCIL was affixed hereto in
the presence of

)
)
)

Authorised Signatory

The Common Seal of EAST SUFFOLK
COUNCIL was hereunto affixed
in the presence of

Authorised Signatory

129 53

)
)
)

